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Guide to this report

T

his report presents the statutory compliance, performance and
operational reporting for the financial year ending 30 June 2012.
It covers four principal sections:

Overview – outlines who we are and what we do, the industries and
communities we support, and how we go about our business. It also outlines
our performance highlights and the significant changes we have made to our
outcomes, services and key performance indicators.
Agency performance – outlines our key achievements along with details of
how we performed against targets for the year.
Significant issues – provides a description of current and emerging issues
and trends impacting on our operations.
Disclosures – this section provides the audited reports of our key
performance indicators and financial statements along with our disclosures.
This demonstrates how we ensure our operations are ethically, socially and
environmentally responsible.
Appendix – a statement by the Commissioner of Soil and Land
Conservation (as required under the Soil and Land Conservation Act 1945)
In this report we refer to the Department of Agriculture and Food, Western
Australia as ‘the department’ or ‘DAFWA’.
A list of acronyms used in this report is provided on the following page.
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ABARES

Australian Bureau of Agricultural and Resource Economics and Sciences

ACIAR

Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research

AEGIC

Australian Export Grains Innovation Centre

ASEAN

Association of South-East Asian Nations

BYG

Bridging the Yield Gap (project)

CRC

Co-operative Research Centre

DAFWA

Department of Agriculture and Food, Western Australia

DAIP

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan

DEC

Department of Environment and Conservation

DoW

Department of Water

EEO

Equal Employment Opportunity

EHB

European house borer

FESA

Fire and Emergency Services Authority

FOI

Freedom of Information

FTE

Full-time equivalent (staff hours)

GM

Genetically modified

GVAP

Gross Value of Agricultural Production

ILS

Indigenous Landholder Service

KPIs

Key performance indicators

LCDC

Land Conservation District Committee

NEAR

North-Eastern Agricultural Region

NGNE

New Genes for New Environments (project)

NRM

Natural resource management

OSH

Occupational safety and health

P2R

Pathways to Resilience (project)

PID

Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003

Qfly

Queensland fruit fly

QoL

Quality of Life initiative

RSPCA

Royal Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals

WARMS

Western Australian Rangeland Monitoring System

WATO

Western Australian Trade Office
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Executive summary

In November 2011, we helped the Australian lupin industry remain
internationally competitive well into the future after a team of our scientists
cracked the lupin genetic code. Their efforts provided the world’s
most detailed genetic map which will help breeders locate and select
commercially important genes for future lupin varieties with disease
resistance, better yields and greater tolerance to drought stress.

The Western Australian agriculture and food sector can provide a
tumultuous ride for its participants. From the lows of 2010–11, where both
droughts and floods led to one of the worst-ever seasons, we witnessed
a strong recovery in 2011–12 where some industries even reached new
heights. Top of the list was the grains industry achieving a record harvest.

These were just three examples of our department’s diverse projects that
underpin our resolute focus on our vision of ‘a progressive, innovative and
profitable agriculture and food sector that benefits Western Australia’. In
our role as an economic development department, we aim to create value
for the businesses in the sector in the short, medium and longer term.

The reality is the sector is affected by many external factors outside its
control, from weather and climate variability to uncertain global financial
conditions and volatile markets. One of the department’s roles is to engage
and work with businesses, industry representatives and other stakeholders
to help steady the ride and help ensure that businesses can withstand the
tough times and reap the economic rewards of the good times.

Economic development

In our role as an economic development
department, we aim to create value for the
businesses in the sector in the short, medium
and longer term

During our organisational transformation program, I have been asked many
times about what it means to be an economic development department.
Put simply, it is about positively influencing businesses within the sector
to be successful, sustainably creating wealth and jobs across WA. While
we have always done this, the sector has evolved; the challenges facing
it are more complex, the global competition more demanding and global
solutions more accessible. Our ongoing challenge is to direct our efforts to
those areas where they will have the most impact on businesses — and
that translates into economic development for the sector and WA as a
whole.

This financial year saw the successful conclusion of the WA Pilot of Drought
Reform Measures to help prepare producers for the road ahead, including
management of risks associated with variable seasons, biosecurity threats,
regulation changes and market instability. It involved us delivering Farm
Planning workshops to 620 businesses and 1100 people in various regions.

We have adopted a much more hard-nosed approach to evaluating our
performance, including more regularly and comprehensively asking our
clients for their candid feedback. We also devised a new outcomes based
management structure and set of key performance indicators in 2011–12
to help us better measure our influence in economic development. The
new KPIs will apply to this year’s annual report while our new services and
outcomes will be reported against in 2012–13. These new KPIs are aligned
with our Strategic Plan 2011–2015 and our four investment priorities.

We also responded rapidly when the federal government suspended
live cattle exports to Indonesia in June 2011, threatening the economic
viability of WA’s pastoral cattle industry. We worked with industry and
governments to develop new animal welfare standards that allowed the
Indonesian market to reopen August 2011, and minimise adverse effects
on businesses.
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Achievements
Some highlights of 2011–12 under each of our investment priorities included:

Improving long-term profitability
•

Established the New Genes for New Environments crop breeding
facility at Merredin and began work on a similar facility at Katanning.

•

Produced a comprehensive analysis of the drivers of profitability for
25 of WA’s top grain growing businesses, enabling grain growers to
compare their management practices to those of industry leaders.

•

Developed a National Wool Research, Development and Extension
Strategy, in partnership with Australian Wool Innovation, to give clear
direction on the long-term priorities and resource requirements to
deliver value to the Australian sheep industry.

Building a sustainable sector
•

Established state and regional first response teams to enhance our
emergency response capacity to pest and disease outbreaks.

•

Evaluated the sustainability of pastoral lease-based businesses as
part of the government’s Rangelands Reform Program.

•

Made substantial progress on the finalisation of the Biosecurity and
Agriculture Management Act 2007 regulations.

Building industry capacity
•

Developed and released Agrifood 2025+: the Future WAy – a
consultative, scenarios-based initiative to examine future opportunities
for a globally competitive agriculture and food industry in WA.

•

Completed a major land use planning strategy in the south west
which identified a 20-year supply of future industrial land, including
land suitable for agrifood processing.

•

Undertook planning for a number of major new Royalties for Regions
projects, including the Gascoyne Irrigation Pipeline project.

Lupin breeding research team Chengdao Li, Bevan Buirchell and Hua’an
Yang cracked the lupin genetic code, enabling the Australian lupin industry
will remain internationally competitive well into the future.
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Improving markets and trade
•

Facilitated two-year agreements for two WA companies to supply
carrots to Singapore’s largest supermarket group.

•

Held workshops with Japanese government officials and WA
exporters to ensure an ongoing, quality supply of noodle wheat to the
premium Japanese udon noodle market.

•

Worked with industry and research partners to improve the
competitiveness of Australian wheat in a range of export markets.

In October 2011, our Indigenous Landholder
Service (ILS) won Economic Development
Australia’s top national award for Indigenous
Economic Development
This included introducing a One DAFWA initiative to develop and introduce
common values-based behaviours for all our employees; and implementing
a People Leadership Program to create better leadership and accountability
at all levels. We also increased our focus on project management training,
with close to 200 staff undertaking a Diploma of Project Management.

Recognition
We were pleased to receive state and national recognition for some of
our outstanding work during the year. In October 2011, our Indigenous
Landholder Service (ILS) won Economic Development Australia’s top
national award for Indigenous Economic Development. The ILS has
involved partnering with the Indigenous Land Corporation to empower
Indigenous landholders to manage their properties more efficiently and
effectively.

Through our joint commitment to engaging with, and delivering value to
businesses across the agrifood industry and developing our staff to be
better equipped to do so, 2011–12 was a rewarding year overall. There
are ongoing and emerging challenges in our sector; however, we are
continually becoming better placed to create value for businesses in the
agriculture and food sector, landholders and the WA community generally.
I look forward to leading and supporting our great team across WA and
reporting our achievements in 2012–13 and beyond.

We were also named a finalist in two categories of the 2011 Premier’s
Awards. The first was in the Developing the Economy category for the
support we have provided the state’s grains industry and secondly, in the
Managing the Environment category for our Greener Pastures dairy project.

Our people
The above achievements and awards have been possible thanks to
the continued dedication of our staff across the state. To this end, we
strengthened our commitment to improve the skills, knowledge and general
wellbeing of our staff by continuing to focus on four organisational priorities:
clarity of direction and priorities, brand development, developing our staff
and innovation.

Rob Delane
Director General
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Operational structure

Delivering our value by the numbers
Protected $170 million industry and 800 jobs by working to reopen live export
market to Indonesia
Eradicated Queensland fruit fly, saving WA industry about $65 million per year
Took lead role in about $30 million worth of major new Royalties for Regions
projects

Enabling legislation
The Department of Agriculture and Food, Western
Australia was established in 1894 and operates
under the Public Sector Management Act 1994.

Worked with grains industry to achieve a record harvest, passing the
15 million tonne mark

Responsible Minister

Conducted almost $2 million worth of AGWEST overseas training and capacity
building projects

Minister for Agriculture and Food; Forestry; Housing

Inspected 177 170 imported plant lines
Carried out 70 337 tests to certify health status of 231 shipments of livestock
Developed WA Organism List containing 58 000 declared organisms
Seized 46 239 kg of quarantine risk material
Responded to about 10 000 Pest and Disease Information Service enquiries
Inspected 6331 livestock from interstate
Delivered farm planning workshops to 620 businesses and 1100 people around WA
Enrolled almost 200 staff in project management training
Ensured 95 per cent of staff had completed Occupational Safety and Health
training
Intercepted 55 plant pests and diseases
Established 42 new weather stations and a statistical seasonal forecast website
Destroyed 32 European wasp nests
Employed 7 trainees of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander descent
Employed 6 new animal welfare inspectors
Received 1 national Economic Development Award for our Indigenous Landholder
Service
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Department profile

Our Role
Our department assists the state’s $6 billion agriculture and food sector to be sustainable and profitable, with a clear focus on
export-led growth. We enhance the international competitiveness of agribusiness by working with industries and businesses to
meet ever-higher standards for safety and quality of food and fibre products produced in a sustainable way.
We also seek to work with business, landholders and the community to protect and enhance our state’s valuable natural resource
assets and our enviable biosecurity status.
For more information, see our Strategic Plan 2011–15 available at agric.wa.gov.au

Our Vision
A progressive, innovative and profitable agriculture and food sector that benefits Western Australia

Our Mission
To work with our partners to develop the agriculture and food sector; and to effectively manage risks to the natural and biological
resources on which it relies

Our Approach
We are a dynamic organisation that collaborates with a diverse range of partners throughout the world to generate innovation,
knowledge and excellence. We work professionally, responsibly and with integrity to deliver meaningful results to industry,
government and the community.

Our Partners
We build and maintain strong local, national and international strategic links with the public and private sectors to deliver value
throughout the agriculture and food supply chains. Effective partnerships are essential to our success.

Our Capability
We have a statewide network of dedicated and talented staff able to address the economic, scientific, technological, environmental,
managerial and social drivers that shape our sector. Our professionalism enables us to collaborate with a range of partners to
develop and share expertise, knowledge and technology.
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Senior officers
Rob Delane
(Director General)

Greg Paust
(Executive Director)

John Ruprecht
(Executive Director)

Mike Bowley
(A/Executive Director)

Terry Hill
(Executive Director)

Peter Metcalfe
(Executive Director)

Kevin Chennell
(Executive Director)

Before his appointment
as Director General in
November 2009, Rob
held high-level roles in
agricultural agencies,
most recently deputy
secretary and executive
director positions with
the Commonwealth
Department of
Agriculture, Fisheries
and Forestry. Rob has
extensive knowledge
and understanding of
WA agriculture and the
role of the department.
He received a Public
Service Medal in 2007 for
outstanding service.

Greg has more than
30 years’ experience in
industry development
and natural resource
management, including
as Director of Regional
Services with the
Department of Fisheries.
Greg holds an agricultural
science degree and
MBA from UWA and is a
graduate of the Australian
Institute of Company
Directors.

John has more than
27 years’ experience
in natural resource
management spanning
a range of senior
management and policy
positions. His expertise
covers water resource
assessment, engineering
and remediation;
urban development;
sustainable agriculture;
and biosecurity. John is a
member of the National
Groundwater Research
Training Advisory Board.

Mike’s commitment and
passion for the agrifood
sector has seen him
working in rural services
for more than 30 years.
He held senior leadership
and management
positions before joining
the department in 2007.
Managing change and
delivering innovation with
a clear client focus are
skills Mike brings to the
department. Mike is a
member of the Australian
Institute of Company
Directors.

Terry has extensive
experience in the
horticultural industry and
has held a number of
senior positions within
the department. He has
a particular knowledge
of the highly diverse and
complex horticultural
industry in WA and is a
board member of the
Grape and Wine Research
and Development
Corporation.

Peter’s farming
background and more
than 25 years of working
in various roles in
the department have
provided him with a solid
understanding of needs
and opportunities within
the grains industry. He is
committed to ensuring
work undertaken by the
department continually
provides value to growers
and enables vital industry
development.

A veterinarian with
qualifications in education
and management, Kevin
worked in private practice
and in a range of senior
government and industry
roles before joining the
department in 2008.
Kevin is passionate
about leading change,
innovation, and building
relationships with industry.

Corporate Strategy &
Operations
The directorate is
committed to ensuring the
department continually
tests and refines its
business model and
capacity to meet the
evolving needs of
government, industry
and the community. With
key functions including
the development of
our people, facilities,
finances and information
capabilities, the directorate
provides the full suite of
resources needed for the
department to achieve its
mission.

Agricultural Resource
Risk Management
The directorate is
committed to ensuring
land and water resources
are available to meet future
industry needs. It also
manages biosecurity risks
to protect the sector from
exotic plant and animal
pests and diseases. The
focus is on coordinating
policy, training, legislation
and emergency response
capabilities for the
agricultural sector;
providing leadership for
sustainable management;
and targeting investment
in the productive and
sustainable stewardship
of natural resources and
biodiversity.

Regional Operations &
Development
The directorate supports
regionally located ‘multiproject’ offices servicing
the development needs
of the agrifood sector.
Functions include
client-focused delivery
of integrated services
and leadership and
support of incident
management. Crosssectoral functions include
industry productivity and
performance, and market
and trade development
— key activities supporting
industry economic
development.
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Irrigated Agriculture &
Diversification
This directorate spans
research, development,
extension and regulation
activities in the irrigated
agriculture (horticulture),
food and forestry
industries, linked
with maintaining our
state’s enviable plant
biosecurity status. It has
a strong focus on driving
agribusiness opportunities
and working to reduce
barriers; encouraging
and supporting profitable
local food production;
and identifying risks and
promoting practices to
manage plant biosecurity.

Grains Industries
Development
The directorate is
dedicated to meeting
the needs of the grains
industry value chain and
maximising opportunities
in an ever-changing
environment. Work across
the grains value chain
includes crop genetics,
increasing on-farm
productivity and equipping
industry with capacity to
manage climate impacts.
The directorate also looks
at new ways of doing
business to improve
market access and
the economics of grain
production.

Livestock Industries
Development
The directorate supports
sustainable economic
development and
growth in value through
biosecurity surveillance
and assurance; and
industry innovation,
consultation, planning and
leadership. The focus is on
developing partnerships
across supply chains,
achieving measurable
productivity improvements,
developing appropriate
infrastructure, increasing
market penetration and
promoting excellence.
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Administered legislation
The Minister for Agriculture and Food is responsible for the administration of a large number of related Acts. Responsibility for most of these is delegated
to the Department of Agriculture and Food, Western Australia (the Western Australian Agriculture Authority):
Aerial Spraying Control Act 1966

Industrial Hemp Act 2004

Agricultural and Veterinary Chemicals (Taxing) Act 1995

Loans (Co-operative Companies) Act 2004

Agricultural and Veterinary Chemicals (Western Australia) Act 1995

Marketing of Potatoes Act 1946

Agricultural Produce (Chemical Residues) Act 1983*

Ord River Dam Catchment Area (Straying Cattle) Act 1967

Agricultural Produce Commission Act 1988

Perth Market Act 1926

Agricultural Products Act 1929*

Plant Diseases Act 1914*

Agriculture and Related Resources Protection Act 1976*

Royal Agricultural Society Act 1926

Animal Welfare Act 2002

Royal Agricultural Society Act Amendment Act 1929

Argentine Ant Act 1968*

Rural Business Development Corporation Act 2000

Beekeepers Act 1963*

Seeds Act 1981*

Biological Control Act 1986

Soil and Land Conservation Act 1945

Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Act 2007

Stock (Identification and Movement) Act 1970*

Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Rates and Charges Act 2007

Stock Diseases (Regulations) Act 1968*

Biosecurity and Agriculture Management (Repeal and Consequential Provisions) Act
2007

Tree Plantation Agreements Act 2003
Veterinary Chemical Control and Animal Feeding Stuffs Act 1976*

Bulk Handling Act 1967

Veterinary Surgeons Act 1960

Exotic Diseases of Animals Act 1993

Western Australian Meat Industry Authority Act 1976

Fertilizers Act 1977*

Western Australian Meat Marketing Co-operative Limited (Shares) Act 2003

Gene Technology Act 2006

* Legislation to be repealed once Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Act
2007 is fully proclaimed

Genetically Modified Crops Free Areas Act 2003
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Other key legislation impacting on activities
In the performance of its functions, the department complies with a number
of relevant written laws and specialised legislation that impact upon
operations:
Auditor General Act 2006
Conservation and Land Management Act 1984
Contaminated Sites Act 2003
Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003
Disability Services Act 1993
Electoral Act 1907
Electronics Transactions Act 2011
Emergency Management Act 2005
Environmental Protection Act 1986
Equal Opportunity Act 1984
Financial Management Act 2006
Firearms Act 1973
Forest Products Act 2000
Freedom of Information Act 1992
Government Employees Housing Act 1964
Health Act 1911
Industrial Relations Act 1979
Land Administration Act 1997
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Library Board of Western Australia Act 1951
Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993
Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984
Occupiers Liability Act 1985
Parliamentary Commissioner Act 1971
Poisons Act 1964
Public and Bank Holidays Act 1972
Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003
Public Sector Management Act 1994
Salaries and Allowances Act 1975
State Administrative Tribunal Act 2004
State Records Act 2000
State Superannuation Act 2000
State Supply Commission Act 1991
Transfer of Land Act 1893
Waterways Conservation Act 1976
Wildlife Conservation Act 1950
Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981
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Performance management framework
Outcome-based management framework

Our new framework—with new outcomes, services and KPIs—is more
clearly aligned to government goals. The new KPIs directly relate to our
vision for the agriculture and food sector, with three of the four effectiveness
indicators based on industry’s view of our influence on their profitability,
innovativeness and sustainability. These KPIs form the basis of our
performance reporting for 2011–12, although the new outcomes and
services cannot be introduced until next year. While this hybrid arrangement
does not align well with our existing outcomes, assessment of performance
will be more meaningful in future years. Table 2 highlights the changes to
this year’s reporting and Table 3 shows the outcomes based management
framework we are implementing in 2012–13.

Our department contributes to the achievement of the government’s
high-level goals by delivering a range of services with specific, desired
outcomes. The linkages between these goals, services and outcomes
are shown in Table 1. Our effectiveness in achieving outcomes and the
efficiency of the services we deliver are detailed under ‘Detailed information
in support of key performance indicators’ on page 111.

Changes to outcome-based management framework
In April 2012 the Department of Treasury endorsed a new outcomes-based
management framework for the department. Our focus on economic
development meant that the previous framework no longer reflected our
business direction. The previous key performance indicators (KPIs) had
ceased to provide us with the information we needed to measure or assess
our performance, and a number of them had been qualified by the Auditor
General as not relevant or not attributable to our activities.

Table 2 shows each of our new effectiveness KPIs aligned with the most
relevant existing outcome, and they are discussed under these outcomes in
the ‘Summary of outcomes, services and performance indicators’ section
on page 25.

Table 1 Relationship between government goals and our existing outcomes and services

Government goal

Our outcome

Our service

Social and environmental responsibility—ensuring
that economic activity is managed in a socially and
environmentally responsible manner for the long-term
benefit of the state

1. Land managers and producers using best
management practices

1. Land management

5. Reduced incidence and impact of environmental and
community-based risks

5. Community and environmental risk management

Stronger focus on the regions—greater focus on
service delivery, infrastructure investment and economic
development to improve the overall quality of life in
remote and regional areas

2. An innovative and adaptive production sector which
effectively manages risk

2. Production systems solutions

3. Competitive food and agriculture industries

3. Industry and regional support

Outcome-based service delivery—greater focus on
achieving results in key service delivery areas for the
benefit of all Western Australians

4. Increased value of domestic and international trade

4. Market development

15
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Table 2 Relationship between our outcomes and services, KPIs reported for 2010–11 and those reported this year (1)
Desired outcome

Service

Key indicators 2010–11

Key indicators 2011–12

1. Land managers
and producers
using best
management
practices

1. Land
management

Effectiveness
• Impact of department activity on the adoption of management practices that address off-site
environmental impact or contribute to the long-term sustainability of the natural resource base.
• Impact of department activity on improving the capacity of primary producers to sustainably
and profitably manage the agricultural resource base.
Efficiency
• Average cost per unit of research and development aimed at sustainable resource systems.
• Average cost per activity focused on best management practices.

Effectiveness
Proportion of businesses and key stakeholders that consider
DAFWA has positively influenced the sustainability of the sector.
Efficiency:
• Net service cost as a factor of Gross Value of Agricultural
Production (GVAP).
• Public and private sector co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives
related to this Service as a factor of the net cost of the Service.

2. An innovative
and adaptive
production
sector which
effectively
manages risk

2. Production
systems
solutions

Effectiveness
• Uptake of crop varieties developed by the department.
• Extent to which the outcomes of research, development and extension projects improve the
profitability or potential profitability of rural industries.
Efficiency
• Average cost per unit of research and development aimed at production system solutions.
• Average cost per activity focused on innovation and adaption.
• Average cost per regulatory activity.

Effectiveness
Proportion of businesses that consider DAFWA has fostered
innovation.
Efficiency
• Net service cost as a factor of GVAP.
• Public and private sector co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives
related to this Service as a factor of the net cost of the Service.

3. Competitive
food and
agricultural
industries

3. Industry
and regional
support

Effectiveness
• Benefit-cost ratio and net present value of the agency’s research and development activity.
• The impact of department activity on the capacity of agrifood industry to manage change and
respond to opportunities.
Efficiency
• Average cost per activity focused on food industry needs, issues and policy development.
• Average cost per activity focused on industry supply chain issues.
• Average cost per activity focused on regional industry needs and issues.

Effectiveness
Proportion of businesses that consider DAFWA has positively
influenced profitability.
Efficiency:
• Net service cost as a factor of GVAP.
• Public and private sector co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives
related to this Service as a factor of the net cost of the Service.

4. Increased value
of domestic and
international
trade

4. Market
development

Effectiveness
• Extent to which new market opportunities are developed or maintained for Western Australian
agricultural produce.
• Interceptions of significant pests, diseases and weeds by interstate and international barrier
quarantine activities.
Efficiency
• Average cost per unit of research and development aimed at market development.
• Average cost per activity focused on market development, policy and advice.
• Average cost per activity focused on legislation, regulation and policy development.
• Average cost per regulatory activity processed.
• Cost per freight consignment inspected (not all consignments inspected).
• Cost per diagnostic sample.

Effectiveness
Proportion of co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives.
Efficiency
• Net service cost as a factor of GVAP.
• Public and private sector co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives
related to this Service as a factor of the net cost of the Service.

5. Reduced
incidence
and impact of
environmental
and
communitybased risks

5. Community
and
environmental
risk
management

Effectiveness
• Activity on the management of community and environmental risks.
Efficiency
• Average cost per activity focused on community and environmental risk management services.
• Cost per diagnostic sample related to non-agricultural pests and diseases.

Effectiveness
Proportion of businesses and key stakeholders that consider
DAFWA has influenced the sustainability of the sector.
Efficiency
• Net service cost as a factor of GVAP.
• Public and private sector co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives
related to this Service as a factor of the net cost of the Service.

(1)

The KPIs reported in 2010–11 are not used this year because the effectiveness KPIs had earlier been qualified by the Auditor General, with the use of the new KPIs being approved by the Under Treasurer
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Table 3 Outcomes Based Management Framework commencing 2012–13 (based on new outcomes, services and KPIs)
Government goals

Desired outcome

1. Proportion of co-investment in
DAFWA-led initiatives.

Stronger focus on the regions
Greater focus on service delivery,
infrastructure investment and
economic development to improve
the overall quality of life in remote
and regional areas

2. Proportion of businesses that
consider DAFWA has positively
influenced the profitability of the
sector.
A profitable, innovative and
sustainable agrifood sector that
benefits Western Australia

Social and environmental
responsibility
Ensuring that economic activity
is managed in a socially and
environmentally responsible
manner for the long-term benefit of
the state

Effectiveness indicators

3. Proportion of businesses that
consider DAFWA has fostered
innovation in the sector.
4. Proportion of businesses
and key stakeholders that
consider DAFWA has positively
influenced the sustainability of
the sector.
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Services

Efficiency indicators

Business and supply chain
development:
Leadership and provision
of specialist expertise that
further develops the economic
performance of the state’s agrifood
sector in the short to medium term.

1.1. Net service cost as a factor
of Gross Value of agricultural
production (GVAP).
1.2. Public and private sector coinvestment in DAFWA-led business
and supply chain initiatives as a
factor of the net cost of this service.

Transformational development:
Leadership and provision of
specialist expertise that aids
in transforming the long-term
economic growth of the state’s
agrifood sector.

2.1. Net service cost as a factor of
GVAP.
2.2: Public and private sector
co-investment in DAFWA-led
transformational development
initiatives as a factor of the net cost
of this service.

Resource risk management:
Leadership and provision of
specialist expertise for the
assessment and promotion of
best practice for managing risks to
natural resources, biological assets
and product integrity such that the
state’s agrifood sector can grow
and its competitive advantages
can be maintained.

3.1. Net service cost as a factor of
GVAP.
3.2. Public and private sector
co-investment in DAFWA-led
resource risk management initiatives
as a factor of the net cost of this
service.
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Shared responsibilities with other agencies
The department works closely with a range of national, state and local
agencies to serve the agriculture and food industries, related communities
and the state as a whole. This collaboration is formally recognised part of
our overall strategy. Our major shared responsibilities are:

Area

Shared responsibility

Detail

Animal welfare

RSPCA; national agencies; state agencies

National animal welfare policies, standards and guidelines;
promoting livestock stewardship; inspectorial duties

Beef

Queensland; Northern Territory; national agencies

Northern Beef Strategy

European house borer (EHB)

Forest Products Commission

European House Borer Program

Fertiliser use

Department of Water; Department of Planning; Swan River Trust

Fertiliser Action Plan

Foot-and-mouth disease

National agencies

Livestock Export Supply Chain Assurance Scheme; preparedness
in event of foot-and-mouth disease outbreak

Land information

Fire and Emergency Services (FESA); Landgate; Department of
Environment and Conservation (DEC); Department of Water (DoW)

Shared Land Information Platform (SLIP)

Land inventories

Department of Regional Development and Lands (DRDL); DEC;
Department of Planning; local governments

Kimberley and Nullarbor land inventories

Natural disaster

FESA; WA Police

Natural disaster relief and recovery

Natural resource management

Forest Products Commission; DEC; Department of Indigenous
Affairs, Department of Planning; DoW; Department of Fisheries

State Natural Resource Management Program

Royalties for Regions

FESA; Bureau of Meteorology; DoW, DRDL; DEC

Water, natural resource and wild dog management; sustainable
and economically diverse rangeland communities; SuperTowns,
Pilbara Cities and Men’s Health initiatives

Transport

Department of Transport

Regional Freight Transport Network Plan

Women’s interests

DRDL

Rural, Remote and Regional Women’s Network
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Part of the government’s Regional Livestock Saleyards Strategy, the
redevelopment of the Katanning saleyards will help ensure WA’s livestock trading
systems remain viable and comply with animal health and welfare standards

New saleyards strengthen regional community
The Great Southern region has received a boost with the $25 million
redevelopment of Katanning’s ageing sheep saleyards.
The project has created jobs and increased local trade.
Part of the government’s Regional Livestock Saleyards Strategy, the
redevelopment will help ensure WA’s livestock trading systems remain viable
and comply with animal health and welfare standards.
Under the plan, the new saleyards will have superior environmental
performance with a focus on effluent management, odour control and
efficient use of water and power.
DAFWA’s Director of Livestock Industries Development Andy Paterson is
on the project’s steering committee and staff have been involved in site
identification, negotiation with local councils, developing the business case,
and providing economic data.
Funding has been provided by the state government and the federal
government’s Regional Development Australia Fund. The Shire of Katanning
is building the saleyards and will own and operate them on completion.
In February 2012, four tenders for concrete, steel and piping were awarded
to Great Southern businesses and more than 20 local people are employed in
on-site manufacturing and construction.
The project is also forging links with the local high school and TAFE to create
opportunities for traineeships and apprenticeships.
As well as improved amenities for people working at the saleyards, another
benefit of the project is that rain from the saleyard roof will be captured onsite, pumped into a local dam and used to irrigate public open space.
The redevelopment is scheduled for completion in September 2013.
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Andy Paterson (second from right) inspects the Katanning
saleyards redevelopment with (l-r) project manager Dean Taylor,
Agricultural region MLC Jim Chown, Wagin MLA Terry Waldron,
Katanning Shire President Richard Kowald, Agricultural Region
MLC Brian Ellis and deputy shire president Alan McFarland.
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Report on operations
Key achievements
Key achievements for 2011–12 are reported under the four investment priorities in the department’s Strategic Plan 2011–15.

Building industry capacity
• In 2011–12 we successfully concluded the pilot of drought reform measures, with Building Farm Business grants being fully allocated and resulting in 1100
individuals being better equipped to prepare their businesses for seasonal and market variability, biosecurity threats and regulatory changes. (see case study,
page 135).
• With the Grains Research and Development Corporation, we established the Australian Export Grains Innovation Centre (AEGIC), which is rapidly becoming a vibrant
hub of science, economic analysis and innovation focusing on increasing the competitiveness and profitability of the $5 billion Australian export grains industry.
• We established a dedicated off-site data centre to ensure business continuity and help in disaster recovery of our public and corporate information.
• We redefined our outcomes-based management framework to ensure our outcomes, services and key performance measures better reflect our role as an
economic development department.
• We received the Economic Development Australia Award for Indigenous Economic Development for the work of our Indigenous Landholder Service. The service
has now helped more than 5000 participants to establish economically and environmentally sustainable businesses and communities throughout WA.

Improving markets and trade
• We worked with the Japanese government to resolve price signal and quality requirements that arose from the 2010 drought in order to preserve the
$250 million market for udon noodles in Japan. Similar work is now under way with South Korea (see case study, page 37).
• The United Nations Committee on Sanitary and Phytosanitary Measures adopted the pest diagnostic protocols we developed for khapra beetle. This is only the
second protocol to be internationally adopted.
• We were instrumental in facilitating the signing of the first long-term export agreement to supply fresh carrots to Singapore’s largest supermarket chain. This was
the first agreement of this type in Australia (see case study, page 35).

Improving long-term profitability
• We developed pest disinfestation technology and protocols that allowed WA to resume export of apples and carrots to Taiwan. The Taiwanese market had been
shut to WA exporters since 2009 because of eucalyptus weevil.
• We worked with Australian Wool Innovation to develop the National Wool Research Development and Extension (RD&E) Strategy, successfully establishing the
long-term priorities and resources needed to deliver value to the Australian sheep industry.
• We used financial and production benchmarking to identify the key profit drivers for agricultural and pastoral beef production systems and delivered business
analysis training to more than 750 producers.
• In partnership with grower groups and agribusiness, we established 32 Yield Prophet sites in the wheatbelt to foster improved decision making.
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Key achievements (continued)

Building a sustainable sector
• We enhanced WA’s ability to respond to emergency agricultural incidents by establishing state and regional first-response teams. (see case study, page 40).
• We successfully transitioned the administration of the Animal Welfare Act 2002 from the Department of Local Government to DAFWA. This included the
transfer of staff, assets and intellectual property (see case study, page 42).
• We increased capacity for industry to manage the impact of wild dogs by employing additional doggers in pastoral and agricultural areas and by managing
the upgrade and extension of the State Barrier Fence.
• We successfully eradicated Queensland fruit fly in suburban Perth. The cost to the state should this pest be allowed to establish itself is about $65 million
per year in lost export revenue (see case study below).
• We successfully demonstrated ways for producers to save about 40 per cent of water without loss of production using drip irrigation on sandy soils (see
case study, page 29).

Bye-bye to Queensland fruit fly
WA was declared free of Queensland fruit fly (Qfly) in July 2011 following a major eradication program.
Qfly, which is prevalent in the eastern states, is a serious pest of many fruits and some vegetables.
Analysts estimate that if the insect pest became established in WA it could cost the horticultural
industry up to $65 million a year in lost production and pest control costs.
Plant Biosecurity staff responded rapidly after a female Qfly was discovered in the Perth suburb of
Highgate in February 2011.
Bill Trend, Bill Woods, Marc Poole and Darryl Hardie were in charge of the eradication program, which
included surveillance, fly trapping and spraying of host plants such as fruit and street trees with an
organic bait. Our officers inspected more than 20 000 Qfly traps and surveyed about 330 properties
within the outbreak zone.
The program ran between February and May last year. The eradication program was declared a
success in July, two months after the last Qfly was found.
The department remains vigilant against incursions of Qfly and maintains an extensive trapping
network as an early warning system against infestation.
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DAFWA entomologists Darryl Hardie and
Richard Johnston inspect a Qfly trap in the
Perth suburb of Highgate, where a Qfly was
detected.
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2011–12 Target(1)
$000

2011–12 Actual
$000

Variation(2)

Explanation of variation

$000

Total cost of services (expense limit)
(details from Statement of Comprehensive Income)

231 417

216,664

(14,753)

Net cost of services
(details from Statement of Comprehensive Income)

159,609

152,865

(6,744)

Total equity
(details from Statement of Financial Position)

278,767

297,428

18,661

The 6.7% increase is due to the transfer of the assets
of the Agriculture Protection Board to the department.

(7,687)

22,453

30,140

The variation is due to the accounting policy changes
applied to Natural Resource Management funding
(transferred from controlled to administered).

1275

1191

(84)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held
(details from Statement of Cash Flows)
Approved full-time equivalent (FTE) staff level

The 6.4% decrease in expenditure is largely the
result of the department driving efficiency measures
in the second half of the financial year and reducing
expenditure on services as less than anticipated income
from research grants was received.
A 4.2% decrease.

1. The 2011–12 budget was restated during the year to account for the amalgamation of DAFWA and the Agriculture Protection Board and transfer of Natural Resource Management (NRM) from
controlled to administered.
2. Further explanations are contained in Note 36 of the financial statements.

Financial performance

Equity: what we’re worth

Operating result

Equity is net worth, which is calculated by what we ‘own’ (total assets of
$355 million) less what we ‘owe’ (total liabilities of $58 million). At 30 June
2012, our equity was $297 million.

The operating surplus for the year was $2.4 million ($15.2 million surplus
for 2010–11). The end of year position is considered to be a good overall
result in view of the department’s ongoing transformation activities,
including the implementation of a new people-leadership model, brand
development, a major business systems improvement program, and key
training programs in project management and innovation.

Assets: what we own
At 30 June 2012, we had total assets of $355 million—a 5% increase on
2010–11. Property, plant and equipment account for 60% of our assets.
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Revenue: where the dollars came from
Our operating revenues for 2012 totalled $219 million. The increase of 4.8% ($10 million) over the previous year is largely the result of changes to accounting
procedures in relation to Australian government grant programs administered by DAFWA. While the state government remains our major source of funding,
other sources are the Australian government, a range of industry sources (including various industry research and development corporations) and fees for
services rendered.
Total revenue and expenses 2008–2012
350

Sources of funding
Total actual revenue

300

Interest 0.5%

Commonwealth grants
and contributions 1.5%

Fees and charges 4%

Total actual expenses

250
$ million

Non-government
grants and subsidies 12%

Revenue from
state government 71%

200

Other revenue 11%

150
100
500
0

2006–07

2007–08

2008–09

2009–10

2010–11

2011–12

Expenses: how the dollars were spent
Our total operating expenses for 2012 were $216.7 million across our services. The increase of 12% ($23 million) over the previous year is largely the result
of changes to accounting procedures in relation to Australian government grant programs administered by DAFWA. Our main areas of expenditure were
our people, contracts and grants.
Expenditure by service

Main areas of expenditure 2012
Land management 18%

Community and
environmental
risk management 8%

Market
development 14%

Other 4%
Depreciation 4%

Grants and
subsidies 7%

Production system
solutions 37%

Supplies and
services 28%

Industry and regional
support 23%
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Employees 57%
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Leave liability 2007–2012

Liabilities: what we owe

10
Average weeks per employee

At 30 June 2012, we had total liabilities of $58 million—an increase of
24% over the previous year. Payables and provisions (largely associated
with accrued salaries and annual and long service leave liabilities) are our
main liabilities. Our long service and annual leave liability at 30 June 2012
equates to an average of 9.2 weeks per employee. Management initiatives
commenced in January 2010 should see this reduced significantly by the
end of 2012–13.

Key financial ratios
Financial ratios provide a useful snapshot of the department’s financial
status and trends, and measure our performance in achieving financial
management objectives.
Ratio and formula

Measure description

Working capital
Current assets v. current liabilities

8
6
4
2
0

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2011–12

2010–11

Our ability to meet current
commitments

1.34
times

1.35
times

Although the ratio has declined in general terms, the
department is able to meet current commitments as
and when they fall due.

Government contribution
Income other than state government v. income from state
government

Our dependence on state
government revenue

41%

35%

The department’s reliance on the state government for
revenue remains fairly consistent.

Labour ratio
Labour expenses v. total expenses

Our commitment to staff

57%

64%

This ratio has returned to a more normal level following
last year’s expenditure on severance payouts.

Net worth movement
Current year equity v. prior year equity

Growth in net assets

1.02
times

1.17
times

The movement is largely due to property, plant and
equipment depreciation and disposals.

Current asset movement
Current year current assets v. prior year current assets

Growth in current assets

128%

146%

The department’s current assets have remained fairly
consistent over the past three years.

Current liabilities movement
Current year current liabilities v. prior year current liabilities

Growth in current liabilities

128%

93%

Provisions for annual leave and long service leave are
the main cause of the movement, largely the result of
the General Agreement 5 that was endorsed on 28
June 2011.
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Summary of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)
DAFWA has implemented a new suite of outcomes, services and KPIs for the 2012–13 year, with the new KPIs also being applied in this report as the basis
for assessing our performance in 2011–12. While the new efficiency KPIs align with our existing services, the new effectiveness KPIs do not align directly
with our existing outcomes. As such, effectiveness is reported collectively across all five outcomes. Targets, actuals and their variations are summarised
below. It was not possible to establish budget targets for three of the four new effectiveness KPIs for the 2011–12 year.
2011–12
Target (1)
Outcomes
1. Land managers and producers using best management practices
2. An innovative and adaptive production sector which effectively manages risk
3. Competitive food and agriculture industries
4. Increased value of domestic and international trade
5. Reduced incidence and impact of environmental and community-based risks
Effectiveness
Proportion of businesses that consider DAFWA has positively influenced profitability (%)
Proportion of businesses and key stakeholders that consider DAFWA has positively influenced the sustainability of the sector (%)
Proportion of businesses that consider DAFWA has fostered innovation (%)
Proportion of co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives (%)
SERVICE 1 Land management
Efficiency
Net service cost as a factor of gross value of agricultural production (GVAP) (%)
Public and private sector co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives related to this service as a factor of the net cost of this service (%)
SERVICE 2 Production system solutions
Efficiency
Net service cost as a factor of GVAP (%)
Public and private sector co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives related to this service as a factor of the net cost of this service (%)
SERVICE 3 Industry and regional support
Efficiency
Net service cost as a factor of GVAP (%)
Public and private sector co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives related to this service as a factor of the net cost of this service (%)
SERVICE 4 Market development
Efficiency
Net service cost as a factor of GVAP (%)
Public and private sector co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives related to this service as a factor of the net cost of this service (%)
SERVICE 5 Community and environmental risk management
Efficiency
Net service cost as a factor of GVAP (%)
Public and private sector co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives related to this service as a factor of the net cost of this service (%)
KPIs reported in 2010–11 are not used this year because the effectiveness KPIs had earlier been qualified by the Auditor General.
1. No targets were set for these (new) effectiveness KPIs at the beginning of the 2011–12 financial year.
2. Explanations for the variations between target and actual results are presented in Note 41 ‘Explanatory statement’ to the financial statements.
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2011–2
Actual

Variation
(2)

—
—
—
34.0

30
34
30
38.6

—
—
—
4.6

1.00
11.0

0.55
20.1

(0.45)
9.1

1.02
43.7

0.89
51.4

(0.13)
7.7

0.41
40.7

0.53
36.9

0.12
(3.8)

0.27
60.0

0.40
37.1

0.13
(22.9)

0.17
54.1

0.22
39.2

0.05
(14.9)
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Summary of outcomes, services and performance
indicators

This approach proved both complex and unpredictable because of the
irregular delivery of such products over the life of any one project; difficulties
in differentiating between ‘new’ and ‘variant’ products and in accounting
for their varying complexity; delays caused by external events such as dry
seasons and pest outbreaks; and variations in industry’s ability to embrace
change under varying economic conditions.

Our mission is to work with our partners to develop the agrifood sector and
manage the risks to the natural and biological resources on which it relies.
We do this by collaborating to generate new products and knowledge that
enable our agriculture and food industries to make appropriate and timely
decisions about their future.

Our new indicators are intended to minimise this complexity and
unpredictability—with two identical measures being applied across each
service. Such measures demonstrate the net cost of each service as a
factor of gross value of agricultural production (GVAP) and the extent of
co-investment in initiatives as a factor of the net cost of each service.

Changes since the last reporting period
Part of our own transformation in preparing to undertake this mission
has been to improve the way we assess our performance, both by better
describing what we hope to achieve (our outcomes) and the mechanisms
by which we achieve it (our services); and by having a better understanding
of our successes and failures (our performance indicators of KPIs). To this
end, we have developed a new suite of outcomes, services and indicators
that were formally endorsed by Treasury in April 2012.

The first of these offers a good indication of our efficiency by comparing the
net cost to the state of providing each service with the economic activity
generated by the sector—indicating, in effect, the return on the state
government’s investment in its agrifood sector. The second is an expression
of our ability to further leverage that investment by gaining a financial
commitment by other parties towards achieving the same goals sought by
government. The results of both of these indicators are discussed under
each of our five services.

Structure of this performance report
Our new outcomes and services have been applied as the basis of our
2012–13 budget and will be reported in our 2012–13 annual report. As this
year’s budget was based on the former outcomes and services, this current
report reflects those statements. However, it is more meaningful to assess
our performance against our new indicators.

New effectiveness indicators
Our new effectiveness indicators apply against the new outcome: a
profitable, innovative and sustainable agrifood sector that benefits Western
Australia.
Three of the four new indicators relate directly to this statement, as they
are expressions of stakeholders’ views of our impact on the profitability,
innovativeness and sustainability of their industry. The fourth indicator is
an expression of our ability to bring other stakeholders along with us in
achieving this outcome, with this being indicated by the extent to which
they are prepared to co-invest in activities we lead.

New efficiency indicators
We established new indicators this year which better reflect our
performance as an economic development department. Our job is to drive
economic development in the agrifood sector and we do this by helping
agrifood industries adopt practices and technologies that better enable
them to seize opportunities and manage risks. Many of the products we
deliver take the form of new knowledge and information and historically we
have used the average cost of these as the primary gauge of our efficiency.
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Given that we seek to achieve most of our impact by influence rather
than by legislation and that our influence in the sector is not exclusive,
it is difficult to establish indicators that prove (in an auditable sense) that
changes observed in the sector result from our work. Our new approach
to performance reporting accounts for this by supplementing these formal
indicators with additional evidence and observations that support and
illustrate our arguments.

Our effectiveness in bringing about this outcome is best gauged by our new
indicator—the extent to which businesses and stakeholders consider we
have positively influenced the sustainability of the sector page 112. Some
of the key capabilities and deliverables by which we contributed to this
outcome follow.

This additional evidence is discussed under each of our five outcomes.
Detailed results of each indicator are discussed in under ‘Detailed
information in support of key performance indicators’ on page 111.

We are able to create significant influence through our unique position
within industry, rural communities and wider government and through our
particular range of skills and facilities.

Outcome 1

Having the ability to influence

As WA’s lead NRM agency and convenor of the State NRM Office, we play
a pivotal role in developing and implementing regional NRM strategies and
promoting the adoption of best management practices. We also provide
expert support to regional NRM groups, land conservation committees
and local governments. Working with other governmental and research
agencies—such as the Department of Environment and Conservation and
the Future Farm Industries CRC—we have a strong involvement in building
NRM capabilities.

Land managers and producers using
best management practice

WA’s diverse landscape and climatic conditions support a wide range
of agricultural industries. However, with increasing restrictions on land
and water resources in the face of global demands for increased food
production, WA farmers are being asked to do more with less.
During the year, we worked to ensure the sector employed best
management practices to sustain our resource base (land, soil, native
vegetation, biodiversity and water) while improving long-term economic
development. We increased our role in assisting land managers to meet the
challenges of a changing and variable climate. We also strengthened our
links with industry, community groups and other government agencies to
better promote sustainable management and to ensure that sufficient land
and water resources are available to meet future agricultural needs.

We make extensive use of private sector consultants as ‘retailers’ of our
information and we expect this ‘wholesaler/retailer’ relationship to grow.
Our links across government at local, state and national levels also enable
us to bring together programs that would otherwise not be effective. For
example, the success of the two grower group applications under the
National Carbon Farming Initiative was in part due to us providing a link
between the grower groups and the federal government.
Our project-based operating system means we can link all skills areas
within the department. For example, the web-based decision support tools
established under the Bridging the Yield Gap and Pathways to Resilience
initiatives were designed with contributions from our Grains, Livestock,
Irrigated Agriculture, Regional Operations and Agricultural Resource Risk
Management directorates.

The service we delivered in support of this outcome is Service 1: Land
Management. Our strategies focused on:
•

ensuring land and water resources meet future industry needs

•

ensuring sustainable management of land and water resources in a
changing climate

•

managing biosecurity risks of importance to industry

•

enhancing natural resource management (NRM) partnerships.
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We made significant progress in modernising our use of legislative
tools—for example, increasing industry’s ownership of biosecurity risk
management through Industry Funding Schemes. These self-funded
schemes rely on independent management committees determining which
pest and disease threats require action and what contributions are needed
from industry to tackle the situation.

Assessing and managing the biggest risks
We undertook a number of biosecurity risk assessments; developed
management procedures for dealing with significant pests, weeds and
diseases; and progressed major programs to build the state’s biosecurity
capability.
Key deliverables included reports to industry on marketing implications
of fruit fly in the Kimberley and on methods for identifying beetles in grain
and managing thrips in horticultural crops. In terms of animal pests, we
increased our commitment to wild dog management and gained planning
approval to upgrade the State Barrier Fence—both with funding under the
Royalties for Regions program.

Building industry’s ability to address risks
The majority of decisions faced by land managers need to be made at the
individual enterprise level: very few of these are prescribed by legislation.
Therefore, it is just as important that land managers have good analytical
and decision-making skills as it is for them to have good information.
We are in a position to establish and underpin formal regional, industry
and catchment-based groups that are best placed to guide land
managers in selecting solutions at the local level. This is exemplified by our
establishment in 2011–12 of five Recognised Biosecurity Groups (RBGs)
across the pastoral region, with the chairperson of each RBG then working
with us to establish their strategic frameworks for the next five years.

Accommodating a changing and more variable climate
We recognise that variable climate represents a significant threat to the
sector and—more broadly—to the state as a whole. To address this issue
we work with a number of partners at the local, state and national level.
For example, by establishing 42 new weather stations in the wheatbelt,
we increased the ability of industry and the community to respond to
immediate and seasonal conditions. The data ensures cross-government
coordination of weather information and we plan to release an online
seasonal forecasting tool for easier access to the data. The weather
stations allow land managers to assess their immediate and seasonal
outlooks at a far more localised level than was previously possible.

Major products and services delivered included the establishment of local
Innovation Partnership Groups and web-based decision support tools, both
products of our Pathways to Resilience initiative.

Understanding and making best use of our land and water
capability

We released a number of publications on climate change adaptation,
including case studies of growers’ responses to climate challenges, results
from the National Adaptation and Mitigation Initiative, and guidance to land
managers on the investment and tax implications of carbon farming.

We undertook significant land and water capability assessments during
the year, each of which will help ensure the best overall use of WA’s land
and water resources. These assessments included the identification of
high-quality agricultural land for irrigated and dryland agriculture; land-use
planning criteria for the State Planning Strategy and related programs; and
resource reports for the Gascoyne, Kimberley and Nullarbor regions.

We also increased the ability of industry and rural communities to make
well-informed decisions through the Stronger Rural Communities drought
policy reform measure, which we extended to about 230 non-farming small
businesses.
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We undertook significant land and water capability assessments during the
year, each of which will help ensure the best overall use of WA’s land and
water resources

Drip drip hooray!
Perth’s tomato industry is set to save up to $4.3 million from a successful research
project on drip irrigation.
The two-year project demonstrated that growers might reduce water usage by 40 per
cent without sacrificing yield.
The results are from trials on a property in the Wanneroo area near the main commercial
industry.
Initiated by DAFWA Development Officer Rohan Prince, the project involved gearing drip
irrigation of tomato plants to evaporation levels, soil type and other factors.
Rohan gained the support and funding of industry for the project after he witnessed high
levels of drainage and water use from a tomato crop in a previous project.
Following a trial of different irrigation volumes and timings at Medina Research Station in
2010–11, the project moved to Carabooda this year. This phase compared DAFWA’s new
‘best practice’ treatment with conventional grower practice.
More efficient drip irrigation is expected to save the average-sized tomato growing
property about 50 megalitres of water a season, worth about $20 000, from lower
pumping costs and more efficient fertiliser use.
If all tomato growers on the Swan Coastal Plain applied water-use rates similar to that
observed from the trials, local industry could save $3 million to $4.3 million.
Using less fertiliser also results in less nutrients being leached into the groundwater—a
bonus for the environment.
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Development Officer Rohan Prince displays the
fruits of his labour from the drip irrigation research
project.
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Gathering and analysing industry and market intelligence

An innovative and adaptive production
sector which effectively manages risk

The success of any industry’s development depends in large part on
good-quality information and analysis. We work with industry and other
stakeholders to identify and assess the underlying drivers, constraints
and opportunities that will dictate the development pathways of our major
production industries.

Profitable production systems are essential to the sector’s long-term
viability and economic contribution to the state. As with any modern
industry, success relies upon adaptability and innovativeness. This outcome
is about us working collaboratively with industry, research organisations
and government agencies to fulfil our role in building that adaptability and
innovativeness.

A key example this year included working with the CSIRO and Australian
Bureau of Agricultural and Resource Economics and Sciences (ABARES) to
assess development opportunities for the northern beef industry. This study
assisted the re-commissioning of the small ruminant abattoir at Gingin and
plans to establish a beef abattoir in the Kimberley.

We define innovation as ‘change that creates value’, and we see our role
as a catalyst for industry in stimulating its own innovation and adaptive
change, targeted to areas of greatest opportunities and risks. Major
opportunities available to the sector include growing global demand for
animal and plant protein, foreign investment interest and potential to
increase output from our water and land resources. Major risks faced
include variable levels of biosecurity and animal welfare preparedness, high
farm debt levels and limited capacity to respond to dry seasons.

We also studied the profitability of different lamb production systems
and the profitability of grain production in various shires under differing
productivity gain and loss scenarios. The grains study is expected to lead
to a development strategy to be implemented in 2012–13.
Studies such as these allow us and the sector to identify which industries
have potential to develop further in their current form, and those which
need to ‘transform’ by adopting a new mix of products, markets or
business models.

The service we delivered in achieving this outcome was Service 2:
Production Systems Solutions. Our strategies focused on:
•

improving the profitability of major industries

•

improving grain industry profitability

•

expanding and diversifying businesses

•

managing biosecurity risks of importance to industry.

Establishing key development programs for the production
industry
This year saw the introduction of the More Sheep initiative, a DAFWAindustry partnership aimed at reversing the decline in the state’s sheep
numbers. The program was developed with the Sheep Industry Leadership
Council, which was established in 2011 by the Minister for Agriculture and
Food. It seeks to enact the council’s vision of a profitable sheep industry
working under a common banner to increase flock size through capacity
building, awareness and creative financial incentives.

Our effectiveness in bringing about this outcome is best gauged by our new
KPI—the extent to which businesses consider we have fostered innovation
in the sector (page 113). Some of the key capabilities and deliverables by
which we contributed to this outcome follow.
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Under the Bridging the Yield Gap (BYG) program, a three-year investment
plan was endorsed to increase grain yields in high rainfall areas. The BYG
and related Pathways to Resilience (P2R) program delivered key products
such as decision tools for growers, including the MyCrop and MySoil
diagnostic tools, Farm Gross Margin analysis tool, Weedseed Wizard and
the Constraints and Crop Sequence decision tools available online. More
online tools are in development.

Modernising our research, development and extension (RD&E)
strategies
We work with industry, innovation providers and government agencies
across Australia in support of a national approach to industry development,
particularly as it relates to production and risk management.
The National RD&E Framework coordinates our efforts. This framework
enables us to strengthen our overall national capability, better address
cross-sector issues and reduce capability gaps, fragmentation and
duplication. It enhances best-practice approaches in developing mature
industries that focus on larger-scale and systems-oriented innovations that
put them ahead of the competition.
We strongly support this approach and in 2011–12 delivered major
strategies for wool and grain—both fields in which we take a national lead.

Taking a new approach to research and development facilities
Our ability to influence is partly due to our regional presence and local
facilities and we work continuously to make these as relevant and
progressive as possible. We seek to extend access to our facilities to other
innovation providers such as breeding companies, universities and the
CSIRO. During the past year, we commissioned two major new grains and
pasture research facilities in the wheatbelt—each of which is available to
our private and public sector partners.
More Sheep initiative promotional material

The New Genes for New Environments (NGNE) facility at Merredin started
the first trials of genetically modified wheat, commissioned by the CSIRO.
Construction at Katanning should be complete by the end of the 2012
growing season.
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Building skills within industry and the department

Similarly, our new Managed Environment Facility—also at Merredin—is
being used by private and public sector breeders to identify cereal crop
traits suited to low, irregular or unpredictable rainfall. The first trials were
completed in 2012, with results being used by both industry and the
department. In addition, a roaded catchment and dam constructed in early
2012 will enable us to undertake out-of-season production trials (see case
study below).

We continue to deliver and support a range of development courses
and aids for producers. Key examples this year were Planning for Profit
workshops for grain growers, the Climate Scenario Planning Farm Game
(P2R) and farm planning workshops run under the National Adaptation
and Mitigation Initiative. Our annual Crop Update series was expanded to
include a record 16 regional events.

Centre sustains future of grains industry
A test site established in Merredin has advanced WA’s grains research.
Built in partnership with the GRDC (Grains Research and Development Corporation), the
managed environment facility (MEF) is one of only three in Australia.
It supports national research on water-limited grain under climate-controlled conditions.
Low rainfall, seasonal variability and climate change have the potential to cost grain
growers $600 million a year. To help sustain the industry, the MEF aims to identify
adaptive traits to maximise production of cereal crops in drought-prone environments.
Experimental wheat crossbreeds and varieties were grown in 2500 trial plots on the
5-ha site under different treatments, including natural rainfall conditions and tactically
timed irrigation. Rain-out shelters are used at specific growth stages to reproduce low
rainfall conditions representative of production areas.
Under the management of Tim Setter, Alan Harrod and Michelle Murfit, the facility
hosted a number of national and regional projects in 2011–12 in collaboration with
research and plant breeding organisations. These included DAFWA, CSIRO Plant
Industry, Murdoch University, the University of Sydney, Industry and Investment NSW,
Australian Grain Technologies, InterGrain, Longreach Plant Breeding and HRZ Wheats.
Information gained from the trials is of practical use to wheat breeders. Through the
development of new varieties with improved productivity in water-limited environments,
breeders are improving the long-term performance of wheat under dryland production.
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Grains Industries Senior Research Officer Darshan Sharma
shows off some of the test crop grown under a rain-out
shelter at the Managed Environment Facility.
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Outcome 3

Competitive food and agricultural
industries

Efficient and effective supply chains are critical to WA’s future economy,
and we play a lead role in helping industry to maximise its opportunities to
build profitable, innovative and sustainable supply chains. This outcome is
about ensuring that our agrifood sector continues to develop as competent,
forward-looking and productive businesses with the skills and knowledge
needed to make sound decisions.
We support the growth of responsive and productive industries by promoting
efficient use of natural resources, ensuring high biosecurity standards and
building the sector’s competitive advantage throughout the supply chain.
The service we delivered in pursuit of this outcome was Service 3: Industry
and Regional Support. Our strategies focused on:
Agrifood 2025+: the Future WAy promotional material.

We also put considerable importance on building our own skills, both in
terms of being better able to help industry and in terms of improving our
own business model and processes. For example, this year we sought
guidance from some of the world’s leading innovators, such as David
Albury, former principal adviser to the Prime Minister’s Strategy Unit (UK)
and Christian Bason, Director of MindLab in Copenhagen.

•

developing private–public partnerships

•

understanding industry development needs and priorities

•

enhancing business adaptability and resilience

•

equipping industry groups to provide leadership

•

strengthening agricultural skills development.

Our effectiveness in bringing about this outcome is best gauged by our
new KPI—the extent to which businesses considered we increased the
profitability of their industry (page 111). Some of the key capabilities and
deliverables by which we contributed to this outcome follow.

Looking to the future
It is difficult for an industry to progress effectively if it has little feel for what
the future might hold. In March 2012, the Minister for Agriculture and Food
launched the Agrifood 2025+: the Future WAy program to help industry
think more strategically about the future and the opportunities it presents
from the perspective of ‘how can we shape our own future—and what do
we need to do to get there?’

Supporting Farm Business Planning
WA is a key partner in a national initiative aimed at strengthening farm
businesses, sustaining farming families and building resilient rural
communities—shifting the farming sector from a crisis-management
approach to drought to a risk-management approach. A key element of this
approach has been the Farm Business Planning workshops, which help
farmers assess their financial situation and prospects, with a particular focus
on how best they can accommodate a changing and more variable climate.

We embarked on an engagement program with industry and other
stakeholders with the goal of enabling better decision making by industry,
government and the department.
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Addressing technical issues impacting on trade

More than 600 farm businesses have reaped business and lifestyle benefits
from these Prepare, Plan and Prosper workshops. Delivered by a range
of experienced consultants over the past two years, the workshops
encourage growers to look 10 years ahead and think where they want to
be and how they can best get there. The workshops were attended by
producers from across the state. Sessions covered four main industries—
dairy, irrigated agriculture, broadacre and pastoral. (see case study, page
135).

We continued to address key issues that limit or threaten Australia’s access
to key markets. For example, this year we developed, market tested and
promoted optimal harvest times and pre-export treatments for new hybrid
mangoes. Our work enabled this high-return product to arrive in overseas
markets in top condition. We also developed science-based surveillance
and export certification protocols for the international marketing of carrots,
apples and citrus fruits.

Understanding our supply and value chains

Ensuring effective processing facilities

The success of any production system requires that all elements of
the supply chain—from producer to consumer—gain value from (and
contribute value to) that chain. We have steadily increased our focus on
ensuring that the agrifood sector understands the issues facing the supply
chains for each of our major agricultural industries. This year we delivered
or made significant progress on a number of such analyses, ranging from
overarching studies of the beef and lupin industries through to a productspecific analysis of the production, handling and marketing of bananas.

Production systems can best succeed if they have access to high-quality
handling, storage and processing facilities. Governments play a key role in
ensuring that such facilities meet industry, community and environmental
needs. Maintaining a balance between the expectations of each of these
groups is particularly demanding for animal-based industries due to animal
welfare, waste and odour issues.
Governments also play a key role in attracting international investment in
the development of new facilities. We did considerable work in this area this
year, including the development of modernisation strategies for the beef,
dairy and chicken processing industries.

Building strategic value chain alliances
Consistent with our approach of working with partners, we are building
a number of strategic alliances with industry, regulatory and innovation
groups at the local, national and, increasingly, international level. In
2011–12 we formally established the Australian Export Grains Innovation
Centre (AEGIC) as a not-for-profit company, appointing directors and
commencing research programs. Owned by the WA government and the
Grains Research Development Commission (GRDC), AEGIC is our flagship
contribution to the Primary Industries National RD&E Framework. The
GRDC and CSIRO are contributing funding over five years for programs
within AEGIC focusing on economic analysis, strategic market intelligence,
grain quality, biosecurity and processing technology.

We also progressed the State Saleyard Strategy, with construction of the
Katanning yards starting in March 2012 (see case study, page 19). The
strategy forms part of the government’s commitment to ensuring that key
livestock saleyards at Katanning, Muchea and Mt Barker remain viable,
provide consistent animal welfare, meet or exceed safety and environmental
standards, and support regional economic development.

We also worked with industry partners to establish the WA Pork Innovation
Hub—another component of the national framework—with business plans
being agreed at a national industry research forum in February 2012.
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Increased value of domestic and
international trade

We work closely with industry in promoting investment opportunities,
improving market access and building industry’s capacity to grow and
adapt. The service we provided in support of this outcome was Service 4:
Market Development. Our strategies focused on:

The ability to expand markets and create new and diversified opportunities
at the domestic and international level is fundamental to economic growth,
and governments play a key role in identifying and expanding markets and
optimising transport and trade. This is particularly important for WA, given
that more than 70 per cent of our agricultural product is exported. This
outcome is about ensuring our agrifood sector has the skills, information
and support needed to access and develop new markets and strengthen
its position in those that already exist.

•

extracting more value from target markets

•

expanding market opportunities

•

enhancing the profile of the state’s agriculture and food sector

•

maintaining effective biosecurity measures.

WA secures long-term carrot export deal with Singapore
Two WA companies are supplying carrots to Singapore’s largest supermarket group after
DAFWA successfully facilitated a two-year agreement in October 2011.
Singapore’s NTUC FairPrice Cooperative Ltd, which has 230 stores, signed agreements
with Sumich and Center West Exports to supply weekly container-loads of carrots to
Singapore.
The agreements were the first of their kind in Australia.
The department strongly promoted WA’s capacity to supply fresh produce to Singapore
after the island country introduced new food security policies in 2009.
Our Trade Development and Irrigated Agriculture teams identified opportunities and
strategic partners and ensured any agreement would be beneficial to all parties.
FairPrice management visited WA on several occasions to study WA’s capability and
competiveness. The management found that WA farmers could offer the quality of
vegetables and high food safety standards they required with stabilised prices and supply.
Negotiations are under way for further agreements to supply other products to Singapore,
such as broccoli, cauliflower, sweet corn, tomatoes and beans.
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Trade Development Manager Moddang Boonlai (left) with
Center West Exports’ Peter Wauchope at the Center West
facility. Moddang was one of the DAFWA staff who helped
secure the two carrot export deals with Singapore.
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Building strategic linkages with our trading partners

Our effectiveness in bringing about this outcome is best gauged by our
new KPI—the extent of co-investment developmental initiatives that we
led (page 113). Some of the key capabilities and deliverables by which we
contributed to this outcome follow.

We provide a range of international training and capacity-building services
through our AGWEST International group (renamed AGWEST Food
Security during 2011–12). As well as generating revenue, these activities
help us build the inter-governmental and trade partnerships that underpin
strategic and resilient market alliances and build WA’s profile as a supplierof-choice of safe, high-quality food and fibre products.

Identifying and developing new market opportunities
We followed up our 2010 success in helping Saudi Arabia’s flour millers use
wheat from WA—leading to the first shipments in 20 years—by initiating
a valuable new market opportunity for lupins in that country. The Saudi
government has now added lupins to the list of high-protein, energy-rich
animal feeds subsidised under its National Animal Feed Strategic Plan. The
market potential is estimated at up to 100 000 tonnes per annum.

An important element of our strategy was the development of integrated
biosecurity plans for a number of our Asian and African trading partner
countries. Improving food security within these countries offers strategic
advantage to WA, both as a potentially significant export industry in its
own right and in reducing the risk of damaging weeds, seeds and diseases
coming into Australia.

We continued to develop our fresh food links with our northern neighbours
under the ASEAN Fresh program. This year, Singapore’s largest
supermarket group signed agreements with two WA companies to supply
carrots on a weekly basis, the first such contracts signed in Australia (see
case study, page 35).

Attracting and enabling investment
We worked with Austrade and a range of government agencies to develop
an investment document highlighting opportunities for overseas investors,
and with Landgate and industry to further develop the Find Your Farm
website. This site enables potential investors to assess the services,
infrastructure and socioeconomic features (such as community facilities and
comparable land values) available at locations of interest.

We coordinated WA’s participation in targeted, national and international
trade exhibitions, the primary vehicles by which companies promote their
products. We also facilitated introductions and provided briefing materials
and logistic packages to help companies promote their products. For
example, we hosted the Malaysian Federal Land Development Authority in
Perth to promote trade and investment opportunities in the beef, dairy and
fodder industries. This led to the Malaysian government deciding to source
10 000 Dorper sheep from WA. More than half were purchased in 2011.

Developing industry’s marketing knowledge and skills
We provided a range of training and information, directly and through
third parties, that helped producers and others better align their business
and product mix with what the market wants. For example, our Small
Landholder Information Service delivered tailored marketing workshops
for small rural businesses as part of the Fresh Food Link initiative. These
workshops were well received and will be expanded into a new business
planning and marketing series run with Small Business Centres in the South
West Agricultural Region.
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Eradicating weeds, pests and diseases that limit market
access
We undertake programs to eradicate weeds, pests and diseases where
there is the prospect of success. A recent example was the successful
eradication of the Queensland Fruit Fly (QFly) (see case study, page 21).

Shoring up overseas markets
WA’s export-dependent economy relies heavily on our strong relationships with
trading partners.
In November 2011, DAFWA worked with the Grain Industry Association of WA to host
an inaugural noodle wheat technical workshop with delegates from Japan to ensure
our wheat producers could meet the requirements of Japan’s lucrative noodle market.
WA produces about one million tonnes of noodle wheat annually, primarily for the soft
white noodle markets in Japan and South Korea at an export value of about $250
million a year.
Low production due to the 2010 drought created supply and quality issues in both
markets and sparked concern that future supplies might be either inconsistent or
below specifications.
Following initial negotiations with Japan in 2010, DAFWA’s Director of Grains Genetic
and Product Innovation, Rob Loughman and Trade Development staff organised the
workshop to improve information flow along the supply chain.
Representatives of the Japanese Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries and
the Flour Millers Association of Japan, were reassured of the WA grains industry’s
commitment to ongoing high-quality noodle wheat supply to Japan.
The workshop enabled parties in WA to meet the representatives from Japan and
to better understand noodle manufacturing, quality requirements and future import
needs.
Similar technical exchanges are being investigated for representatives of the noodle
market in South Korea.
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DAFWA personnel, Grains Industry Association of WA
representatives and Japanese delegates from the Flour
Millers Association of Japan and Ministry of Forestry and
Fisheries tasting Ramen noodles at the DAFWA noodle
laboratory
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Reduced incidence and impact of
environmental and community-based
risks

Managing community and environmental risks
Starlings are invasive pests that could infest the entire South West Land
Division if they are allowed to progress beyond their current foothold near
the South Australian border. More than 1000 starlings have been captured
around Esperance since 2005. However, no juveniles have been seen or
caught for several years. The downward trend in the infested area over the
period indicates that our work has been effective in reducing this threat.
This suggests that the population may be collapsing but their continued
presence further east in the Eucla region means the risk of reinfestation
remains high.

Pests such as European house borers, European wasps, starlings, red
imported fire ants and rainbow lorikeets have the potential to reduce
public amenity; and diseases such as Hendra virus can represent a
significant threat to public health. DAFWA is the lead government agency
for preventing such threats from establishing in WA. We have the skills
and resources needed to respond rapidly to incursions and outbreaks of
high-priority, community-based risks. This outcome relates to ensuring that
Western Australians are appropriately protected against natural resources
risks that threaten our environment, health or amenity.

8

The service we delivered that directly supports the achievement of this
outcome was Service 5: Community and Environment Risk Management.
Our strategies focused on:
assessing and prioritising risks of importance to the community or
environment

•

managing biosecurity risks

•

extending management strategies and tools

•

ensuring appropriate community and regional engagement and
investment.
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As with our work on land management, the most applicable KPI to this
outcome is that concerning the extent to which businesses consider
DAFWA has increased the sustainability of the sector (page 112). The key
capabilities and deliverables by which we contributed to this outcome
follow.

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012
Source: DAFWA

Area infested by starlings as a percentage of the area of the SW Land Division,
2007–12

We have been less successful in our efforts to eradicate European house
borer—a pest of untreated pine first discovered in Perth in 2004. While
the government response was immediate, a review in 2009 found that
eradication was no longer feasible due to the pest’s widespread presence
in pine plantations. This has necessitated a change in strategy based on
containment (rather than eradication) and the development of interstate
regulatory frameworks and a national awareness program.
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Establishing and supporting industry biosecurity groups

Ensuring sound and effective land-use planning

The introduction of the Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Act in
2007 allowed designated biosecurity groups to raise money for the control
of established animal and plant pests affecting their area, with the funds
matched dollar-for-dollar by the government. These Recognised Biosecurity
Groups allow communities to identify locally important risks and to then
plan and coordinate their efforts to address them. DAFWA provides advice
on governance, planning and technical issues. Highlights of the year were
the establishment of five groups in the pastoral region and the development
of their strategic framework for the next five years.

The sometimes-conflicting interests of community expectations, sound
environmental management and the needs of industry must all be
considered in land-use planning. A significant part of our work aims to
ensure information is available for an appropriate balance between these
interests to be reached. For example, this year we developed a state
planning strategy for sustainable agriculture and produced resource
condition reports on the Gascoyne, Kimberley and Nullarbor regions.

Taking the sting out of European wasps
DAFWA eradication programs have stalled the advance of European wasps in WA, protecting
community amenity and our agriculture industry.
A small team of border biosecurity and pest surveillance staff, led by Senior Technical Officer
Marc Widmer, destroyed 32 nests this year, mostly found through the monitoring of 350 traps
around Perth. Seventy nests were found and destroyed in 2010–11, down from a high of 122
nests in 2004–05.
Since 1977, we have found and destroyed 752 nests and stopped the European wasp from
becoming established in WA.
European wasps are very aggressive and, unlike bees, sting repeatedly. Common in the eastern
states, the wasps can ruin enjoyment of outdoor events and can inflict fatal multiple stings. They
cause significant damage to horticulture by damaging ripening fruit. They are also a threat to the
honey bee industry because they kill bees and rob hives.
Our team records trap and nest locations from the field using GPS smartphones, with the data
managed by an Urban Surveillance Database developed by DAFWA.
This year most nests were found near the interstate railway terminal at Kewdale–Welshpool,
where it is expected wasp queens had been accidently transported from interstate.
Engaging with the community, Marc chaired a local government working group and we promoted
the ‘adopt-a-trap’ scheme, which involves recruiting local councils, interest groups and
community members to set and regularly check and rebait traps between Christmas and Easter.
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Marc Widmer gets ready to spray near the interstate
railway terminal at Kewdale–Welshpool, where many
European wasps nests have been discovered.
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Weather forecasts

to prepare for, recognise and respond in the event of a local outbreak and
to fulfil their commitments under the national Emergency Animal Disease
Response Agreement. The establishment of such a disease would cause
huge financial loss and disruption to the racing industry. The cost of the
2007 equine influenza outbreak alone has been estimated at $363 million.

Over the past year, we established a network of automated weather
stations in the wheatbelt and launched a Statistical Seasonal Forecasts
website. Both initiatives offer significant value to the community and
industry. Funded under the government’s Royalties for Regions program,
the 42 new weather stations link to the national Bureau of Meteorology
network and provide far more detailed weather information than was
previously available.

Building our emergency response capabilities
We worked closely with the federal government and other states to ensure
that (collectively) we have the ability to address emergency events. For
instance, this year we established the first emergency response team that
meets national standards (see case study below). The Statewide First
Response Team will run scenario training programs throughout the state in
the year ahead.

Fostering economic development in other sectors
Our work on community and environmental risks can improve the economic
performance of other sectors, such as with the 2011 outbreak of Hendra
virus in horses in the eastern states. We published an information package
that enabled the racing, sporting and recreational sectors of the industry

Boosting our emergency response capabilities
Any significant outbreak of animal or plant disease presents a threat to WA’s $6 billion agricultural production
sector.
To help meet our obligations to protect the sector, we established a ‘first response team’ to handle emergencies.
The formation of the team coincided with the release of the Mathews review into Australia’s preparedness for the
threat of foot-and-mouth disease, which highlighted the need for an improved emergency response.
Between June and November in 2011, more than 190 staff in Albany, Bunbury, Geraldton and Northam attended
four 2-day workshops where they were briefed on current emergency arrangements at national, state and local
levels and shown the operations of local control centres. They also took part in an emergency training exercise.
Individuals were selected from the workshops to make up the first response team. This team, which comprises
more than 20 staff, will run the local control centres in each of the state’s four agricultural regions and a state
control centre at our South Perth headquarters. Each member has been allocated a specific role should an
emergency arise.
Next financial year, staff will be encouraged to undertake further training to obtain national accreditation and to
increase their emergency preparedness.
District Veterinary Officer Anna Erickson takes charge at an
emergency plant disease exercise in Northam in November 2011.
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Current and emerging issues and trends

We worked with the Grains Research and Development Corporation to
establish the Australian Export Grains Innovation Centre (AEGIC), which will
develop new infrastructure and capacity to deliver science, technology and
innovation focused on increasing the competitiveness of the Australian grains
industry through improved productivity and product value in export markets.

The increasingly complex issues around animal welfare and livestock came
to a head in 2011–12, with our department taking a leadership role when
the federal government suspended live cattle exports to Indonesia, our
largest market for live cattle. This meant it was a hectic start to the year
as we fulfilled our economic development role in ensuring our livestock
industry could continue to have access to important markets. An extended
ban could have caused losses of around $170 million and 800 jobs across
the state.

Global financial uncertainty continued through 2011–12, meaning the sector
as a whole has had to be smarter and more agile in how it does business. We
worked with industry and research organisations to tackle competitiveness
of Australian wheat in export markets, with the aim of making Australia a
preferred supplier of wheat for baking. We were also involved in the formation
of the Sheep Industry Leadership Council in 2011, bringing together industry
leaders capable of creating a shared vision and identifying key supply chain
issues to support a strong, united and profitable WA sheep industry.

Our staff provided economic analysis and identified alternative markets as
well as running a help-line for cattle producers and counselling and financial
support services. We helped develop new animal welfare standards based
on international guidelines that allowed the Indonesian market to reopen in
August 2011.

The world marketplace has become increasingly sophisticated, forcing the
development of a more knowledge-intensive industry. Producers, processors
and marketers are now focusing more on what the market wants rather than
on what they have traditionally delivered. We too are adopting a market-pull
focus to our activities rather than the more-traditional supply-push approach.
It has required us to work more closely with the private sector and other
government agencies to identify and capture new market opportunities
(see carrot export case study, page 35), improve the business skills of rural
enterprises and explore innovative business solutions (see Vasse Research
Dairy case study, page 121).

At about the same time, we took up administrative responsibility for the
Animal Welfare Act 2002. We are well placed to take on the role and have
achieved some pleasing results with our partners (see case study page 42).

Economic, social and environmental trends
Our department also worked closely with the sector to address a range
of global and local economic, social and environmental issues that are
continuing to have an impact on the sector and our department.

Additionally, we are working closely with industry and the community to
manage biosecurity risks to WA industries from exotic pests, weeds and
diseases. Increasing global transit and climate change means we have to
be ever vigilant against these threats. We focused on enhancing border
surveillance and information sharing with other states, including during the
Hendra virus outbreak in eastern Australia in July 2011.

The consistent high value of the Australian dollar against foreign currencies
means our sector’s commodities are not as cheap as they once were on
the world market, losing a traditional comparative advantage Western
Australia once had. As a result we are now engaging with industry to focus
on the quality of our products to continue to attract premium prices in
overseas markets.
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Finally, we are continuing to investigate ways to ensure the sustainability of
the sector under a more variable climate in the state’s south west, which
has experienced a trend of less inland rainfall since 2000. To address this,
we significantly expanded research at our Managed Environment Facility in
Merredin (see case study, page 32) to support national research on waterlimited grain production. Our staff also worked with Perth tomato growers
to improve water efficiency through better drip irrigation systems (see case
study, page 29) and we began a major expansion of the state’s weather
station network.

Labour scarcity was an ongoing issue due to workers being attracted
to the high wages offered by the state’s strong mining and construction
sectors. We worked to address this by promoting careers in agriculture via
a range of strategies and at a number of events.

In safe hands
DAFWA took over regulatory responsibility for the Animal Welfare Act 2002 on 1 July in the
midst of media and community scrutiny of livestock management practices.
We were considered the agency best placed to ensure animal welfare in general. Our
policies and education programs were in place and we had previously worked with business
and animal welfare groups to develop and implement standards for the industry.
The transfer of responsibility brought with it extra funding, including support for the RSPCA.
Using the extra funds, our Regulation and Response Unit, led by Director Sarah Wylie,
employed six new inspectors to focus on livestock congregation points such as saleyards,
feedlots and abattoirs. The inspectors worked with facility owners and producers to help
them understand their responsibilities and put necessary procedures in place.
Our increased presence resulted in good outcomes, including at Fremantle Wharf where
improved processes for managing animals and escaped animals were introduced.
During the first year, our focus was on education and working cooperatively with industry.
However, enforcement was required on occasion. We conducted more than 60 investigations
into complaints of cruelty in commercial livestock and a number of prosecutions have been
instigated.

Animal welfare inspector Donna Pead inspects
livestock at the Muchea saleyards.

Overall, our statewide network of inspectors and veterinarians, existing surveillance
services and expertise in animal health, combined with RSPCA resources, contributed to a
successful statewide delivery of the Act.
In 2012–13, our focus will be on revising the legislation and preparing industry for the
changes.
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Financial statements
Certification of financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2012
The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Agriculture and Food, Western Australia have been prepared in compliance with the provisions
of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 June
2012 and the financial position as at 30 June 2012.
At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in the financial statements misleading or
inaccurate.

Narmit Singh
A/Chief Finance Officer

Rob Delane
Accountable Authority

21 September 2012

21 September 2012
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Auditor General
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Parliament of Western Australia
DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE AND FOOD
Report on the Financial Statements
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Department of Agriculture and Food.
The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2012, the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement
of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service, Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service,
and Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, including Administered transactions and balances.
Director General’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Director General is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Director General
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on my audit. The audit
was conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical requirements relating
to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Department’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Director General, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
Page 1 of 4
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I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.
Opinion
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Department of Agriculture and Food at 30 June 2012 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions.
Matter of Significance
The Western Australian Agricultural Authority (WAAA) was established by the Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Act 2007 (the BAM Act) as
a body corporate that is governed by the Minister for Agriculture and Food. Although WAAA has financial transactions and assets and liabilities the
BAM Act does not require it to report these separately. However, for financial accountability purposes, the BAM Act requires WAAA’s activities to
be regarded as services under the control of the Department. Consequently, the Department has included WAAA’s income, expenses, assets and
liabilities in its financial statements as though they relate to the Department. The Department does not separately account for these transactions or
disclose them in its financial statements. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
Report on Controls
I have audited the controls exercised by the Department of Agriculture and Food during the year ended 30 June 2012.
Controls exercised by the Department of Agriculture and Food are those policies and procedures established by the Director General to ensure
that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in
accordance with legislative provisions.
Director General’s Responsibility for Controls
The Director General is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment
of money, the acquisition and disposal of public and other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial
Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law.
Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the controls exercised by the Department of Agriculture
and Food based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of controls to ensure that the Department complies with the
legislative provisions. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement and include an evaluation of the design and implementation of
relevant controls.
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Page 2 of 4
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Opinion
In my opinion, the controls exercised by the Department of Agriculture and Food are sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that
the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance
with legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2012.
Report on the Key Performance Indicators
I have audited the key performance indicators of the Department of Agriculture and Food for the year ended 30 June 2012.
The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency indicators that provide information on outcome
achievement and service provision.
Director General’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators
The Director General is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in accordance with the Financial
Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions and for such controls as the Director General determines necessary to ensure that the
key performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance.
Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the key performance indicators based on my audit
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance indicators. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making these risk
assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Director General’s preparation and fair presentation of the key performance
indicators in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the relevance and
appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the extent of outcome achievement and service provision.
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.
Opinion
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the Department of Agriculture and Food are relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess
the Department’s performance and fairly represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2012.
Independence
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and
Assurance Standards, and other relevant ethical requirements.

Page 3 of 4
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Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the Department of Agriculture and Food for the year
ended 30 June 2012 included on the Department’s website. The Department’s management is responsible for the integrity of the Department’s
website. This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the Department’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial
statements and key performance indicators described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been
hyperlinked to/from these financial statements or key performance indicators. If users of the financial statements and key performance indicators
are concerned with the inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial
statements and key performance indicators to confirm the information contained in this website version of the financial statements and key
performance indicators.

COLIN MURPHY
AUDITOR GENERAL
FOR WESTERN AUSTRALIA
Perth, Western Australia
25 September 2012
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2012

Note

2012
$000

Restated
2011
$000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Supplies and services
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Share of loss in joint venture entity using the equity method
Other expenses
Grants and subsidies
Cost of sales
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Total cost of services
Income
Revenue
Sales
User charges and fees
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Grants from subsidies and non-Government sources
Interest revenue
Share of profit in joint venture entity using the equity method
Other revenue
Total Revenue

7
8
9

124,378
60,306
8,187
8,190
15,337
67
199
216,664

123,724
44,363
8,305
933
4,570
11,695
226
193,816

12
13(a)
13(b)
13(c)
13(d)
13(e)
13(f)

63
8,783
2,748
26,130
922
687
24,468
63,800

78
9,320
1,630
23,066
1,251
18,613
53,958

14
14

63,800
152,865

39
23
62
54,020
139,797

15
15
15

143,322
4,447
7,511
155,280

152,209
1,269
1,537
155,015

10
11
12
14

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets
Other gains
Total Gains
Total income other than income from State Government
NET COST OF SERVICES
Income from State Government
Service appropriation
Resources received free of charge
Royalties for Regions Fund
Total income from State Government
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Changes in asset revaluation surplus
Post acquisition reserve
Gains/losses recognised directly in equity
Total other comprehensive income

2,415

15,219

(4,941)
(447)
(48)
(5,436)

6,894
5,162
(32)
12,024

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD

(3,021)

27,243

See also the ‘Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service’.
The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
Restatement see Note 48
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2012

Restated
2011
$000

Restated
1/07/2010
$000

16,457
36,093
1,663
214
1,272
10,224
4,300
674
70,897

7,389
22,990
2,072
195
1,498
16,644
3,900
807
55,495

12,341
6,338
2,436
269
1,778
10,120
3,900
861
38,043

17, 31
20
21
22
23
24
25
26

2,352
48,399
590
808
9,545
218,311
4,805
284,810
355,707

2,070
45,159
638
8,857
226,668
283,392
338,887

1,933
166
38,627
669
3,280
218,275
262,950
300,993

28
29

18,828
33,932
52,760

13,063
28,124
41,187

11,770
32,437
44,207

29

5,519
5,519

5,900
5,900

6,777
6,777

58,279

47,087

50,984

297,428

291,800

250,009

52,754
216,285
28,389
297,428

44,104
221,673
26,023
291,800

29,557
209,617
10,835
250,009

Note

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Biological assets
Agricultural produce
Inventories
Receivables
Amounts receivable for services
Other current assets
Total Current Assets

16, 31
17, 31
18
19
20
21
22

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Amounts receivable for services
Other non-current assets
Non-current assets classified as held for distribution to owners
Investment accounted for using equity method
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total Non-Current Assets
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables
Provisions
Total Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions
Total Non-Current Liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS

30

EQUITY
Contributed equity
Reserves
Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
TOTAL EQUITY
See also the ‘Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service’.
The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
Restatement see Note 48
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2012

Balance at 1 July 2010
Correction of prior period error
Restated balance at 1 July 2010

Note

30
48

Contributed equity
$000

Reserves
$000

29,557

209,617

29,557

Accumulated
surplus/(deficit)
$000

Total equity
$000

209,617

49,019
(38,184)
10,835

288,193
(38,184)
250,009

Surplus/(deficit)
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the period
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations
Transfer of net assets from other agency
Total
Balance at 30 June 2011

-

12,056
12,056

15,219
(32)
15,187

15,219
12,024
27,243

6,154
8,393
14,547
44,104

221,673

26,022

6,154
8,393
14,547
291,800

Balance at 1 July 2011
Surplus/(deficit) for the period
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the period

44,104
-

221,673
(5,388)
(5,388)

26,022
2,415
(48)
2,367

291,800
2,415
(5,436)
(3,021)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations
Other contributions by owners
Post-acquisition reserve
Distributions to owners
Total
Balance at 30 June 2012

8,650
8,650
52,754

216,285

28,389

8,650
8,650
297,428

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows
Restated
For the year ended 30 June 2012

Note

2012
$000

2011
$000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriations
Capital appropriations
Holding account drawdowns
Contribution from other agency
Royalties for Regions Fund
Net cash provided by State Government

135,502
8,650
4,200
7,511
155,863

144,789
6,155
3,900
5,013
1,537
161,394

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits
Supplies and services
GST payments on purchases
GST payments to taxation authority
Other payments
Grants and subsidies

(123,180)
(46,536)
1,056
(260)
(3,533)
(15,122)

(131,414)
(44,363)
(12,319)
(3,413)
(11,921)

Receipts
User charges and fees
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Interest received
GST receipts on sales
GST receipts from taxation authority
Other receipts
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities

31

62,680
2,748
1,040
(871)
(121,979)

49,511
1,630
1,252
3,948
8,370
62
(138,657)

31

(11,431)
(11,431)
22,453
32,448
54,901

(256)
(10,645)
(10,901)
11,836
20,612
32,448

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment in joint venture partnership
Purchase of non-current physical assets
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD
The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
Restatement see Note 48
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Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service
For the year ended 30 June 2012

Land Management

Production System
Solutions

Industry & Regional
Support

Market Development

Community &
Environmental Risk
Management

Total

2012
$000

2011
$000

2012
$000

2011
$000

2012
$000

2011
$000

2012
$000

2011
$000

2012
$000

2011
$000

2012
$000

2011
$000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Supplies and services
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Share of loss in joint venture entity using equity method
Other expenses
Grants, subsidies and transfer payments
Cost of sales
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Total cost of services

19,708
13,442
1,486
1,582
3,243
13
51
39,525

26,955
10,369
1,839
257
1,069
7,736
45
48,271

48,528
20,694
3,101
3,013
5,322
40
89
80,787

43,928
13,774
3,070
285
1,443
1,300
90
63,890

27,858
12,658
2,090
1,664
4,363
21
48,655

24,387
8,819
1,868
176
850
1,584
37,684

18,941
8,227
929
961
1,015
6
30,080

18,815
7,840
971
138
847
678
29,290

9,342
5,286
582
969
1,393
13
31
17,616

9,639
3,561
558
77
361
396
90
14,681

124,378
60,306
8,187
8,190
15,337
67
199
216,664

123,724
44,363
8,305
933
4,570
11,695
226
193,816

Income
Revenue
Sales
User charges and fees
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Grants and subsidies from non-Government sources
Interest revenue
Share of profit in joint venture entity using equity method
Other revenue
Total revenue

(8)
(1,300)
(2,748)
(1,030)
(93)
(75)
(1,730)
(6,984)

206
(569)
(1,630)
(2,226)
(578)
(2,169)
(6,967)

(13)
(3,706)
(13,814)
(422)
(302)
(9,764)
(28,020)

(288)
(5,885)
(10,897)
(294)
(3,424)
(20,788)

(8)
(2,016)
(6,115)
(295)
(187)
(8,782)
(17,404)

(220)
(1,255)
(4,858)
(236)
(5,989)
(12,558)

(5)
(1,207)
(3,532)
(95)
(70)
(1,605)
(6,514)

76
(1,203)
(2,978)
(125)
(7,566)
(11,797)

(28)
(554)
(1,640)
(17)
(53)
(2,586)
(4,878)

149
(409)
(2,107)
(17)
535
(1,849)

(63)
(8,783)
(2,748)
(26,130)
(922)
(687)
(24,468)
(63,800)

(78)
(9,320)
(1,630)
(23,066)
(1,251)
(18,613)
(53,958)

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets
Other gains
Total gains
Total income other than income from State Government
NET COST OF SERVICES

(6,984)
32,541

(5)
(7)
(12)
(6,979)
41,293

(28,020)
52,767

(34)
(6)
(39)
(20,828)
43,063

(17,404)
31,252

7
(5)
2
(12,556)
25,128

(6,514)
23,566

5
(4)
2
(11,796)
17,494

(4,878)
12,738

(12)
(2)
(14)
(1,863)
12,819

(63,800)
152,864

(39)
(23)
(62)
(54,020)
139,796

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriations
Resources received free of charge
Royalties for Regions
Assets Assumed/Transferred
Total Income from State Government
Surplus/(deficit) for the period

(31,259)
(963)
(2,211)
(34,433)
(1,892)

(25,792)
(387)
(226)
(26,405)
14,888

(49,968)
(1,545)
(1,856)
(53,369)
(602)

(53,181)
(429)
(226)
(53,837)
(10,774)

(31,416)
(983)
(2,456)
(34,855)
(3,603)

(32,865)
(265)
(798)
(33,928)
(8,800)

(18,452)
(577)
(654)
(19,683)
3,882

(25,790)
(208)
(226)
(26,224)
(8,730)

(12,227)
(379)
(334)
(12,940)
(202)

(14,281)
(115)
(226)
(14,622)
(1,803)

(143,322)
(4,447)
(7,511)
(155,280)
(2,416)

(152,210)
(1,268)
(1,537)
(155,015)
(15,219)

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service
For the year ended 30 June 2012

Land Management

Production System
Solutions

Industry & Regional
Support

Market Development

Community &
Environmental Risk
Management

Total

2012
$000

2011
$000

2012
$000

2011
$000

2012
$000

2011
$000

2012
$000

2011
$000

2012
$000

2011
$000

2012
$000

2011
$000

Assets
Current assets
Non-current assets
Total assets

21,847
57,582
79,429

18,585
75,608
94,193

31,042
111,359
142,401

23,241
92,742
115,982

8,392
58,732
67,123

5,701
51,838
57,539

5,400
34,496
39,896

4,758
40,679
45,437

4,215
22,643
26,859

3,210
22,526
25,736

70,897
284,810
355,707

55,495
283,392
338,887

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

11,430
1,196
12,626

11,343
1,625
12,968

18,330
1,917
20,247

12,585
1,803
14,388

11,658
1,220
12,878

7,777
1,114
8,891

6,847
716
7,564

6,103
874
6,977

4,495
470
4,965

3,379
484
3,863

52,760
5,519
58,279

41,187
5,900
47,087

Net Assets

66,803

81,225

122,154

101,595

54,245

48,648

32,332

38,459

21,894

21,873

297,428

291,800

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations and Income Estimates
For the year ended 30 June 2012

Note

DELIVERY OF SERVICES
Item 97 - Net amount appropriated to deliver service
Amount authorised by other statutes
Agricultural and Related Resources Protection Act 1976
Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Act 2007
Salaries & Allowances Act 1975
Total appropriations provided to deliver services
DETAILS OF EXPENSES BY SERVICE
Land Management
Production System Solutions
Industry and Regional Support
Market Development
Community and Environmental Risk Management
Total Cost of Services
Less total income
Net cost of services
Adjustments (i)
Total appropriations provided to deliver services
CAPITAL
Item 156 - Capital Contribution
Capital Expenditure
Purchase of non-current physical assets
Adjustment for other funding sources
Capital Appropriations

36.01
36.02
36.03
36.04
36.05

36.06

ADMINISTERED TRANSACTIONS
Amount provided for Administered Grants, Subsidies & Transfer Payments
Administered capital appropriations
Administered grants and transfer payments
DETAIL OF INCOME ESTIMATES
Less income disclosed as Administered Income (refer note 46)
Adjustments (i)
Total appropriations provided for Administered Grants, Subsidies & Transfer Payments
GRAND TOTAL OF APPROPRIATIONS
(i)

2012
Estimate
$000

2012
Actual
$000

Variation
$000

Note

2012
Actual
$000

2011
Actual
$000

Variation
$000

153,473

141,852

11,621

141,852

150,817

(8,965)

1,144
326
154,943

1,144
326
143,322

11,621

1,144
326
143,322

1,080
312
152,209

(1,080)
1,144
14
(8,887)

83,750
76,546
38,426
30,067
12,628
241,417
71,808
169,609
(14,666)
154,943

39,525
80,787
48,655
30,080
17,616
216,664
63,800
152,864
(9,542)
143,322

44,225
(4,241)
(10,229)
(13)
(4,988)
24,754
8,008
16,746
(5,125)
11,621

39,525
80,787
48,655
30,080
17,616
216,664
63,800
152,864
(9,542)
143,322

48,271
63,890
37,684
29,290
14,681
193,816
53,958
139,858
12,351
152,209

(8,746)
16,897
10,971
790
2,935
22,847
9,842
13,005
(21,892)
(8,887)

18,200
(4,200)
14,000

11,931
11,931

6,269
(4,200)
2,069

36.13

11,931
11,931

10,869
(4,714)
6,155

1,062
4,714
5,776

24,713

47,581

(22,868)

36.14

47,581

400
56,036

(400)
(8,455)

24,913
200
168,943

31,491
(16,090)
155,253

(6,578)
16,290
13,689

31,491
(16,090)
155,253

54,156
(1,880)
158,364

(22,665)
(14,210)
(3,110)

36.07
36.09
36.08
36.10
36.11
36.12

Adjustments are related to movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation. Includes an adjustment to remove Royalties for Regions funding of
$1.537m (2011) and $7.511m (2012) and Free of Charge of $4.447m (2012).
The Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations, Variances to Budget and Actual should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the financial statements
Note 1.

Australian accounting standards
General
The department’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2012 have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. The term
‘Australian Accounting Standards’ includes Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB).
The department has adopted any applicable, new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their operative dates.
Early adoption of standards
The department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards
and Other Pronouncements. There has been no early adoption of Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended (but not operative) by the
department for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2012.

Note 2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(a)

General statement

The department is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the
Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s instructions. Several of these
are modified by the Treasurer’s Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.
The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s Instructions impose legislative provisions that govern the preparation of financial statements and take
precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.
Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial
effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
(b)

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention, except for land, buildings and infrastructure
which have been measured at fair value.
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise
stated.
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($000).
Note 4 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements that have been made in the process of applying the
department’s accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial statements.
Note 5 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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(c)

Reporting entity

The reporting entity comprises the department and bodies listed at note 39 ‘Related bodies’.
Mission
The department’s mission is to work with our partners to develop the WA agriculture and food sector; and to effectively manage risks to the natural and biological
resources on which it relies.
The department is predominantly funded by Parliamentary appropriations. It provides some services on a fee-for-service basis. The fees charged are determined
by prevailing market forces. The financial statements encompass all funds through which the department controls resources to carry on its functions.
Services
The department provides the following services:
Service 1: Land Management
Service 2: Production System Solutions
Service 3: Industry and Regional Support
Service 4: Market Development
Service 5: Community and Environmental Risk Management
The department administers assets, liabilities, income and expenses on behalf of Government which are not controlled by, nor integral to, the function of the
department. These administered balances and transactions are not recognised in the principal financial statements of the department but schedules are prepared
using the same basis as the financial statements and are presented at note 46 ‘Disclosure of administered expenses and income by service’ and Note 47
‘Disclosure of administered assets and liabilities by service’.
(d)

Contributed equity

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other
than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or
prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI
955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.
The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are designated as contributions by
owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal. See note 30 ‘Equity’.
(e)

Income

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:
Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of ownership transfer to the purchaser and can
be measured reliably.

57

Disclosures and legal compliance

Department of Agriculture and Food | ANNUAL REPORT 2012

Notes to the financial statements
Provision of services
Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.
Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.
Service Appropriations
Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the department gains control of the appropriated funds. The department
gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited to the department’s bank account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for services’
(holding account) held at Treasury. See note 15 ‘Income from State Government’ for further information.
Net Appropriation Determination
The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed receipts to be retained for services under the control of the department. In accordance with the
determination specified in the 2011–12 Budget Statements, the department retained $82.6 million in 2012 ($81.0 million in 2011) from the following:
•

proceeds from fees and charges;

•

Commonwealth specific purpose grants and contributions;

•

one-off revenues with a sale of less than $10,000 derived from the sale of property other than real property;

•

revenues from services provided though the establishment of Memorandum of Understandings; and

•

other departmental revenue.

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the department obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions, usually when cash is received.
Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are only recognised when a
fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not donated.
Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the department obtains control over the funds. The department obtains
control of the funds at the time the funds are deposited into the department’s bank account.
Gains
Realised or unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of non-current assets and some revaluations of
non-current assets.
(f)

Property, plant, equipment and infrastructure

Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed
(depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the
Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total).
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Initial recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure are initially recognised at cost.
For items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land, buildings and infrastructure, and historical cost for
all other property, plant and equipment. Land, buildings and infrastructure are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation (buildings and infrastructure
only) and accumulated impairment losses. All other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.
Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of current market buying values determined by reference
to recent market transactions. In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of existing use. This normally
applies where buildings are specialised or where land use is restricted. Fair value for existing use assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the
remaining future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost.
When buildings are revalued, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the
revalued amount.
Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) and recognised annually to
ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the end of the reporting period.
Fair value of infrastructure has been determined by reference to the depreciated replacement cost (existing use basis) as the assets are specialised and no
market-based evidence of value is available. Land under infrastructure is included in land reported under note 25 ‘Property, plant and equipment’. Independent
valuations are obtained every 3 to 5 years for infrastructure.
When infrastructure is revalued, the accumulated depreciation is restated proportionately with the change in the gross carrying amount of the asset so that the
carrying amount of the asset after revaluation equals its revalued amount.
The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the existing use basis to assets and in determining estimated
useful life. Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and existing use
assets.
Derecognition
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure, any revaluation surplus relating to that asset is retained in the asset
revaluation surplus.
Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets as described in note 25 ‘Property, plant and
equipment’.
Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their
future economic benefits.
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Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are:
Buildings
Computer & communications equipment
Furniture, fixtures & fittings
Office equipment
Plant & machinery
Vehicles & buses
Infrastructure
Other equipment

20-40 years
3-5 years
10 years
5-10 years
5-20 years
5-10 years
20-40 years
10 years

Works of art controlled by the department are classified as property, plant and equipment. These are anticipated to have indefinite useful lives. Their service
potential has not, in any material sense, been consumed during the reporting period and consequently no depreciation has been recognised. Land is not
depreciated.
(g)

Intangible assets

Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible assets costing $50,000 or more are capitalised. The cost of
utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful lives. Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.
All acquired and internally developed intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value
at the date of acquisition.
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated useful life which is reviewed annually) on the
straight line basis. All intangible assets controlled by the department have a finite useful life and zero residual value.
The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:
Licences
up to 10 years
Development Costs
3-5 years
Software (a)
3-5 years
Website costs
3-5 years
(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware.
Licences
Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
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Development costs
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs incurred for an individual project are carried forward when the future economic benefits can
reasonably be regarded as assured and the total project costs are likely to exceed $50,000. Other development costs are expensed as incurred.
Computer software
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as property, plant and equipment. Software that is not an integral part of the related hardware is
treated as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition.
Website costs
Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or development of an asset when they may be capitalised
and amortised. Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during the planning phase of a website, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the operating
phase are expensed. Costs incurred in building or enhancing a website, to the extent that they represent probable future economic benefits that can be reliably
measured, are capitalised.
(h)

Impairment of Assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Where there is an indication
of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is
written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. As the department is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been identified as
a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.
The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where
there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the
level of consumption or expiration of asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at the end of each reporting period
irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment.
The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present value of future cash flows expected to
be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-based
evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is
measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
(i)

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale are recognised at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell, and are disclosed separately
from other assets in the Statement of Financial Position. Assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised.
All Crown land holdings are vested in the department by the Government. The Department of Regional Development and Land (DRDL) is the only agency with the
power to sell Crown land. The department transfers the Crown land and any attached buildings to DRDL when the land becomes available for sale.
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(j)

Leases

Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased properties.
(k)

Financial instruments

In addition to cash the department has two categories of financial instrument:
•

Loans and receivables

•

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:
•

Financial assets
–
–
–
–
–

•

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Amounts receivable for services
Available for sale financial assets

Financial liabilities
–
–
–
–

Payables
Borrowings
Finance lease liabilities
Amounts due to the Treasurer

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent
measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent
measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material.
(l)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and
short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to insignificant risk of
changes in value.
(m) Accrued salaries
Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year
end. The department considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its value.
The accrued salaries suspense account (see note 17 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) consists of amounts paid annually into a suspense account over
a period of 10 financial years to largely meet the additional cash outflow in each eleventh year when 27 pay days occur instead of the normal 26. No interest is
received on this account.
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(n)

Amounts receivable for services (holding account)

The department receives funding on an accrual basis. The appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset (holding account receivable). The accrued
amount receivable is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover leave entitlements and asset replacement.
(o)

Inventories and biological assets

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned by the method most appropriate for each particular class of inventory,
with the majority being measured on a first in first out basis. Biological assets comprising of livestock and field crops are valued at fair value less estimated point
of sale costs and costs necessary to get them to market. A gain or loss on valuation is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. See note 18
‘Biological assets’.
Inventories not held for resale are measured at cost unless they are no longer required, in which case they are valued at net realisable value. See note 19
‘Inventories’.
(p)

Receivables

Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The collectability of receivables is
reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are written off against the allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible
amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the department will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to
fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.
(q)

Payables

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the department becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services.
The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as they are generally settled within 30 days.
(r)

Borrowings

All loans payable are initially recognised at fair value, being the net proceeds received. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
(s)

Amounts due to the Treasurer

The amount due to the Treasurer is in respect of a Treasurer’s Advance. Initial recognition and measurement, and subsequent measurement, is at the amount
repayable. Although there is no interest charged, the amount repayable is equivalent to fair value as the period of the borrowing is for less than 12 months with
the effect of discounting not being material.
(t)

Provisions

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event
and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period.
Provisions – employee benefits
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period.
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Annual leave
The liability for annual leave that is expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting period is recognised and measured at the undiscounted
amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled.
Annual leave that is not expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting period is recognised and measured at the present value of
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary components such as employer
superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using
market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future
cash outflows.
The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the department does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the end of the reporting period.
Long service leave
A liability for long service leave is recognised after an employee has completed four years of service based on remuneration rates current at the end of the
reporting period. An actuarial assessment of long service leave undertaken by PricewaterhouseCoopers Actuaries in 2012 determined that the liability measured
using the short-hand measurement technique was not materially different from the liability determined using the present value of expected future payments. This
calculation is consistent with the department’s experience of employee retention and leave taken.
The liability for long service leave that is expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting period is recognised and measured at the
undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled.
Long service leave that is not expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting period is recognised and measured at the present value of
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary component such as employer
superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using
market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future
cash outflows.
Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the department does not have an unconditional right to defer the settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current
liabilities because the department has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.
Sick leave
Liabilities for sick leave are recognised when it is probable that sick leave paid in the future will be greater than the entitlement that will accrue in the future.
Past history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each reporting period is less than the entitlement accrued. This is expected to continue in future periods.
Accordingly, it is unlikely that existing accumulated entitlements will be used by employees and no liability for unused sick leave entitlements is recognised. As
sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income for this leave as it is taken.
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Deferred leave
The provision for deferred leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an agreement to self-fund an additional 12 months’ leave in the fifth
year of the agreement. The provision recognises the value of salary set aside for employees to be used in the fifth year. This liability is measured on the same basis
as annual leave. Deferred leave is reported as a current provision as employees can leave the scheme at their discretion at any time.
Purchased leave
The provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an agreement to self-fund up to an additional 10 weeks’ leave
per calendar year. The provision recognises the value of salary set aside for employees and is measured at the nominal amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled. This liability is measured on the same basis as annual leave.
Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other funds administer public sector superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in
accordance with legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes for public sector employees varies according to commencement
and implementation dates.
Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new members since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation
Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to new members since 1995.
The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting. However, it is a defined contribution plan for agency
purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the department to GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the related
superannuation liability.
The department has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer
benefits attributable to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent
contributions made by the department to the GESB.
Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension Scheme or the GSS became non-contributory
members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the
GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012, existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees became able to choose their preferred
superannuation fund. The department makes concurrent contributions to GESB or other funds on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth
Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. Contributions to these accumulation schemes extinguish the department’s liability for
superannuation charges in respect of employees who are not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS.
The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from the Treasurer for the employer’s share.
Provisions - other
Employment on-costs
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the
employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the department’s
‘Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’.
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(u)

Superannuation expense

The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises of employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the
WSS, the GESBS or other superannuation fund.
The employer contribution paid to the GESB in respect of the GSS is paid back into the Consolidated Account by the GESB.
(v)

Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost

Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured are recognised as income at fair value. Where the resource received
represents a service that the department would otherwise pay for, a corresponding expense is recognised. Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement of
Financial Position.
Assets or service received from other state government agencies are separately disclosed under Income from State Government in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.
(w) Jointly controlled operations
The department has interests in joint ventures that are jointly controlled operations.
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint control. A jointly controlled
operation involves the use of assets and other resources of the venturers rather than the establishment of a separate entity.
Joint venture entities
The interest in a joint venture partnership is accounted for in the department’s financial statements using the equity method. Under the equity method, the share
of the profit or losses of the partnership is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, and the share of movements in reserves is recognised in
reserves in the Statement of Financial Position.
Details relating to the partnership are set out in note 24 ‘Investment accounted for using equity method’.
(x)

Comparative figures

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the current financial year.
(y)

Memorandum of Understanding

During the year the department had a memorandum of understanding with the Agricultural Produce Commission and the Rural Business Development
Corporation. The objective of these arrangements is to establish the types and standards of services to be provided, the basis for determining the level and the
costs of services and responsibilities of the parties to the memorandum.
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Note 3.

Other accounting policies not included in this model
Goods and Services Tax
In accordance with the grouping provisions the right to receive GST and the obligation to pay GST rests with the department in regard to all GST transactions
incurred by members of the group. As a result separate GST transactions are not recognised within the individual members’ financial statements as they are
all brought to account in the department’s financial statements. With effect from 2 May 2011, the Office of Shared Services assumed responsibility for the
preparation of the monthly GST returns for all members of the group, resulting in GST being reported by each reporting entity.
Available for sale financial assets
Available for sale financial assets are recognised at fair value and are presented separately from other assets in the Statement of Financial Position. Gains or
losses on available-for-sale investments are recognised as a separate component of equity until the investment is sold, collected or otherwise disposed of,
or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is included in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income. Fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is not active (e.g. unlisted securities),
the Authority establishes fair value using valuation techniques.

Note 4.

Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the application of accounting policies that have a significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The department evaluates these judgements regularly.
Operating lease commitments
The department has entered into a number of leases for buildings for branch office accommodation. Some of these leases relate to buildings of temporary nature
and it has been determined that the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. Accordingly, the leases have been classified as
operating leases.

Note 5.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
Long Service Leave
Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the department’s long service leave provision include expected future salary rates, discount rates,
employee retention rates and expected future payments. Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service
leave provision.
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Note 6.

Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates
Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011 that impacted
on the department:
AASB 1054

Australian Additional Disclosures
This Standard, in conjunction with AASB 2011-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman
Convergence Project, removes disclosure requirements from other Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard to achieve
convergence between Australian and New Zealand Accounting Standards. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2009-12

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 119, 133, 137, 139, 1023 & 1031 and Int 2, 4, 16, 1039 &
1052]
This Standard makes editorial amendments to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2010-4

Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project [AASB 1, 7, 101 & 134 and Int 13]
The amendments to AASB 7 clarify financial instrument disclosures in relation to credit risk. The carrying amount of financial assets that would
otherwise be past due or impaired whose terms have been renegotiated is no longer required to be disclosed. There is no financial impact.
The amendments to AASB 101 clarify the presentation of the Statement of Changes in Equity. The disaggregation of other comprehensive
income reconciling the carrying amount at the beginning and at the end of the period for each component of equity can be presented in either
the Statement of Changes in Equity or the Notes. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2010-5

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 101, 107, 112, 118, 119, 121, 132, 133, 134, 137, 139, 140, 1023 &
1038 and Int 112, 115, 127, 132 & 1042]
This Standard makes editorial amendments to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2010-6

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures on Transfers of Financial Assets [AASB 1 & 7]
This Standard introduces additional disclosure relating to transfers of financial assets in AASB 7. An entity shall disclose all transferred financial
assets that are not derecognised and any continuing involvement in a transferred asset, existing at the reporting date, irrespective of when the
related transfer transaction occurred. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2011-1

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman Convergence Project [AASB 1, 5, 101, 107, 108, 121, 128,
132 & 134 and Int 2, 112 & 113]
This Standard, in conjunction with AASB 1054, removes disclosure requirements from other Standards and incorporates them in a single
Standard to achieve convergence between Australian and New Zealand Accounting Standards. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2011-5

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Relief from Consolidation, the Equity Method and Proportionate Consolidation
[AASB 127, 128 &131]
This Standard extends the relief from consolidation, the equity method and proportionate consolidation by removing the requirement for the
consolidated financial statements prepared by the ultimate or any intermediate parent entity to be IFRS compliant, provided that the parent
entity, investor or venturer and the ultimate or intermediate parent entity are not-for-profit non-reporting entities that comply with Australian
Accounting Standards. There is no financial impact.
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Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards
and Other Pronouncements. Consequently, the department has not applied early any of the following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued
that may impact the department. Where applicable, the department plans to apply these Australian Accounting Standards from their application date.
Operative for reporting periods beginning on/after 1 January 2013:
AASB 9
Financial Instruments
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, introducing a number of changes to accounting
treatments.
The Standard was reissued in December 2010. The department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the
Standard.
AASB 10

Consolidated Financial Statements
This Standard supersedes requirements under AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and Int 112 Consolidation –
Special Purpose Entities, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.
The Standard was issued in August 2011. The department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 11

Joint Arrangements
This Standard supersedes AASB 131 Interest in Joint Ventures, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.
The Standard was issued in August 2011. The department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 12

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
This Standard supersedes disclosure requirements under AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, AASB 128 Investment
in Associates and AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures.
The Standard was issued in August 2011. The department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 13

Fair Value Measurement
This Standard defines fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value and requires disclosures about fair value measurements. There
is no financial impact.

AASB 119

Employee Benefits
This Standard supersedes AASB 119 (October 2010). As the department does not operate a defined benefit plan, the impact of the change
is limited to measuring annual leave as a long-term employee benefit. The resultant discounting of the annual leave benefit has an immaterial
impact.

AASB 127

Separate Financial Statements
This Standard supersedes requirements under AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, introducing a number of changes
to accounting treatments.
The Standard was issued in August 2011. The department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.
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AASB 128

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
This Standard supersedes AASB 128 Investments in Associates, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.
The Standard was issued in August 2011. The department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

Operative for reporting periods beginning on/after 1 July 2013:
AASB 1053
Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards
This Standard establishes a differential financial reporting framework consisting of two tiers of reporting requirements for preparing general
purpose financial statements.
There is no financial impact.
AASB 2009-11

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 128, 131,
132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 10 & 12].
[Modified by AASB 2010-7]

AASB 2010-2

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, 101, 102, 107, 108,
110, 111, 112, 116, 117, 119, 121, 123, 127, 128, 131, 133, 134, 136, 137, 138, 140, 141, 1050 & 1052 and Int 2, 4, 5, 15, 17, 127, 129 &
1052]
This Standard makes amendments to many Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations to introduce reduced disclosure
requirements for certain types of entities. There is no financial impact.

Operative for reporting periods beginning on/after 1 January 2013:
AASB 2010-7
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120,
121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10,12,19 &127]
This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9
in December 2010. The department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.
Operative for reporting periods beginning on/after 1 July 2013:
AASB 2011-2
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman Convergence Project – Reduced Disclosure Requirements
[AASB 101 & 1054]
This Standard removes disclosure requirements from other Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard to achieve convergence
between Australian and New Zealand Accounting Standards for reduced disclosure reporting. There is no financial impact.
AASB 2011-6

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Relief from Consolidation, the Equity Method and Proportionate Consolidation –
Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 127, 128 & 131]
This Standard extends the relief from consolidation, the equity method and proportionate consolidation by removing the requirement for the
consolidated financial statements prepared by the ultimate or any intermediate parent entity to be IFRS compliant, provided that the parent
entity, investor or venturer and the ultimate or intermediate parent entity comply with Australian Accounting Standards or Australian Accounting
Standards- Reduced Disclosure Requirements. There is no financial impact.
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Operative for reporting periods beginning on/after 1 January 2013:
AASB 2011-7
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidated and Joint Arrangements Standards [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 9,
2009-11, 101, 107, 112, 118, 121, 124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 139, 1023 &1038 and Int 5, 9, 16 & 17]
This Standard gives effect to consequential changes arising from the issuance of AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 127 Separate Financial
Statements and AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. The department has not yet determined the application or the
potential impact of the Standard.
AASB 2011-8

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13 [AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 101, 102, 108, 110, 116,
117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 1004, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 19, 131 & 132]
This Standard replaces the existing definition and fair value guidance in other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as the result
of issuing AASB 13 in September 2011. There is no financial impact.

Operative for reporting periods beginning on/after 1 July 2012:
AASB 2011-9
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income [AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112, 120, 121,
132, 133, 134, 1039 & 1049]
This Standard requires to group items presented in other comprehensive income on the basis of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to
profit or loss or loss subsequently (reclassification adjustments). The department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact
of the Standard.
Operative for reporting periods beginning on/after 1 January 2013:
AASB 2011-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119 (September 2011) [AASB 1, 8, 101, 124, 134, 1049 & 2011-8 and
Int 14]
This Standard makes amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 119 in
September 2011. There is limited financial impact.
Operative for reporting periods beginning on/after 1 July 2013:
AASB 2011-11 Amendments to AASB 119 (September 2011) arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements
The Standard gives effect to Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements for AASB 119 (September 2011).
There is no financial impact.
AASB 2012-1

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Fair Value Measurement – Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 3, 7, 13, 140 & 141]
This Standard establishes and amends reduced disclosure requirements for additional and amended disclosures and amended
disclosures arising from AASB 13 and the consequential amendments implemented through AASB 2011-8. There is no financial impact.
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Note 7.

Employee benefits expense

Wages and salaries
Superannuation – defined contribution plans (b)
Long service leave
Annual leave
Other related expenses (c)
(a)

2012

2011

$000
101,361
10,463
3,180
2,990
6,385
124,378

$000
87,398
11,214
3,533
1,761
19,817
123,724

(a)

Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefit tax component, leave entitlements, including superannuation contribution
component.

(b)

Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESB Super Scheme (contributions paid).

(c)

Includes Temporary Voluntary Severance Offers.

Employment on-costs expenses such as workers’ compensation insurance are included at note 8 ‘Supplies and Services’.
The employment on-costs liability is included at note 29 ‘Provisions’.

Note 8.

Supplies and Services

Professional Services (a)
Travel
Communications
Consumables
Lease, Rent and Hire Costs
General Administration Costs (b)
(a) Includes audit fee; see also note 38 ‘Remuneration of auditor’.
(b) Includes workers’ compensation insurance.
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2012

2011

$000
19,723
4,816
1,972
12,615
5,861
15,318
60,306

$000
10,292
4,598
1,707
11,082
6,292
10,393
44,363
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Note 9.

Depreciation and amortisation expense
2012

2011

$000

$000

Depreciation
Buildings
Computer and communications equipment
Furniture, fixtures and fittings
Office equipment
Plant and machinery
Infrastructure
Vehicles
Other equipment
Total depreciation

4,128
703
3
72
1,751
51
670
36
7,413

4,173
678
3
117
2,438
131
730
36
8,305

Amortisation
Intangible assets
Total amortisation
Total depreciation and amortisation

774
774
8,187

8,305

2012

2011

$000
196
1,193
6,801
8,190

$000
190
34
457
(161)
4,050
4,570

Note 10. Other expenses

Doubtful debts expense
Loss on foreign exchange
Minor assets written off
Provision for impairment expense
Return of unused grants
Miscellaneous other
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Note 11. Grants and subsidies

Recurrent
Research grant allocations
Donations and sponsorships

2012

2011

$000

$000

14,990
347
15,337

11,087
608
11,695

2012

2011

$000

$000

63

78

(171)
(1)
(172)
105
(67)
(4)

(353)
(44)
(397)
171
(226)
(148)

Note 12. Trading Profit

Sales
Cost of Sales
Opening inventory
Add purchases
Less closing inventory (a)
Cost of goods sold
Trading Profit

During 2006–07 the Agriculture Protection Board transferred the majority of its assets to the department in preparation for changes under the Biosecurity and
Agriculture Management Bill. On 1 July 2007 the department took effective control of the Agriculture Protection Board’s Bait Production Unit. Closure of the unit is
in progress.
(a) see also note 19 ‘Inventories’
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Note 13. Revenue

Revenue
(a)
User charges and fees
User charges and fees
Memorandum of understanding – services provided
Agriculture Protection Board
Agricultural Produce Commission
Rural Business Development Corporation
(b)

(c)

Commonwealth grants and contributions
Commonwealth Agriculture Activity Grants
Grants and subsidies from non-Government sources
Agriculture Research Grants Account No. 1
Rural industry research funds
Meat and Livestock Australia
Grains Research and Development Corporation
Rural Industry Research and Development Corporation
Australian Wool Innovation Pty Ltd
Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research
CRC Research Grants
Commercial Grants

Agriculture Research Grants Account No. 2
Horticulture Industry
Other grants and subsidies
Total grants and subsidies from non-Government sources

2012

2011

$000

$000

8,416

3,621

37
330
8,783

5,310
59
330
9,320

2,748
2,748

1,630
1,630

511
10,745
36
230
1,376
2,798
8,812

256
9,668
210
325
1,780
2,450
7,269

1,622
26,130

1,073
35
23,066

(d)

Interest revenue

922

1,251

(e)

Share of profit in joint venture using the equity method

687

-

(f)

Other revenue
Levies, rates and licences
Return of grant allocations
Royalties
Other

4,890
1,931
497
17,150
24,468

2,855
3,137
1,445
11,176
18,613
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Note 14. Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets

Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets
Office equipment
Vehicles and transportation equipment
IT equipment
Plant and equipment
Cost of disposal of non-current assets
Land
Buildings
Infrastructure
Office equipment
Vehicles and transportation equipment
IT equipment
Plant and equipment
Net gain/(loss)
Gain on disposal of other assets
Total gain/(loss)

2012

2011

$000

$000

1
21
199
221

176
1
75
252

7
137
6
7
4
259
420
(199)
(199)

15
50
2
146
213
39
23
62

Note 15. Income from State Government

Appropriation received during the period
Service appropriations (a)
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2012

2011

$000

$000

143,322
143,322

152,209
152,209
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Note 15. Income from State Government (continued)
The following assets have been assumed from/(transferred to) other state government
agencies during the period:
Resources received free of charge (b)
Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies:
Landgate
State Solicitors Office
Department of Finance
Department of Water
Department of Health
Royalties for Regions Fund
Regional Community Services Fund
Regional men’s health initiative (c)
State barrier fence & wild dog management (c)
Rangeland reform program (c)
State barrier fence (c)
Regional Infrastructure and Headwork Fund
Carbon farming (c)
Gascoyne foodbowl (c)
Stormwater reuse (c)
Water efficiency (c)
Water opportunities – Cockatoo Sands (c)
Water opportunities – La Grange (c)
Total income from State Government
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

2012

2011

$000

$000

3,923
210
292
2
20
4,447

756
229
283
1
1,269

945
230
293
1,660

517
1,020
-

621
1,161
630
915
451
605
7,511
155,280

1,537
155,015

Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). The receivable
(holding account) comprises the depreciation expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave liability during the year.
Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as revenue at fair value of the assets and/or services that can be reliably
measured and which would have been purchased if they were not donated. Contributions of assets or services in the nature of contributions by owners are
recognised direct to equity.
This is a sub-fund within the over-arching Royalties for Regions Fund. The recurrent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas.
Discretionary transfers of assets between State Government agencies are reported as assets assumed/(transferred) under Income from State Government.
Non-discretionary non-reciprocal transfers of net assets (i.e. restructuring of administrative arrangements) designated as Contributions by Owners (CBOs)
under TI 955 are recognised directly to equity.
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Note 16. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash advances
Cash at bank

2012

2011

$000
63
16,394
16,457

$000
62
7,327
7,389

2012

2011

$000

$000

5,671
5,671

(424)
(424)

7,753
3,180
2,178
393
106
6,070
6,115
4,067
560
30,422
36,093

4,646
2,970
2,341
(1,124)
608
12
5,043
6,175
2,433
311
23,415
22,990

Note 17. Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Current
Restricted cash (a)
Departmental Receipts in Suspense
Royalties for Regions Fund
Special purpose accounts (b)
Agriculture Research Grants Account No. 1
Agriculture Research Grants Account No. 2
Commonwealth Agriculture Activity Grants (non-interest bearing)
Commonwealth Agriculture Activity Grants (interest bearing)
Declared Pest Account
Land Conservation Districts Fund
Plant Research and Development
Cattle Industry Funded Scheme
Grain, Seeds and Hay Industry Funded Scheme
Sheep and Goats Industry Funded Scheme
Total current
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Note 17. Restricted cash and cash equivalents (continued)
(a)

Funds held in the following accounts are for the following purposes:
•

Department Receipts in Suspense—to hold and distribute funds pending identification for allocation

•

Royalties for Regions Fund—to hold and distribute funds for projects and programs in WA regional areas.

(b)		Receipts and disbursements are disclosed in note 45 in accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 1103(15).
2012

2011

$000

$000

2,352
2,352

2,070
2,070

38,445

25,060

2012

2011

$000
1,405
258
1,663

$000
1,929
143
2,072

2012

2011

$000

$000

1,217

1,380

55
1,272

118
1,498

Non-current
Accrued salaries suspense account (c)
Total non-current
(c)
Funds held in the suspense account are to be used only for the purpose of meeting
the 27th pay in a financial year that occurs every 11 years.
Total restricted cash and cash equivalents

Note 18. Biological assets

Livestock
Field crops

Note 19. Inventories
Current
Inventories held for resale
Raw materials and stores
Finished goods
At net realisable value
Total current
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Note 20. Receivables
2012

2011

$000

$000

Current
Receivables
Allowance for impairment of receivables
Accrued revenue
GST receivable
Interest receivable
Total current

9,071
(358)
478
845
188
10,224

12,214
(333)
2,859
1,578
326
16,644

Total receivables

10,224

16,644

333
196
(172)
358

239
190
(96)
333

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables:
Balance at start of period
Doubtful debt expense
Amounts written off during the period
Amounts recovered during the period
Balance at end of period

The department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements as security for receivables.
See also note 2(p) ‘Receivables’ and note 42 ‘Financial Instruments’.
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Note 21. Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)

Current
Non-current

2012

2011

$000
4,300
48,399
52,699

$000
3,900
45,159
49,059

49,059
7,840
(4,200)
52,699

42,527
3,012
7,420
(3,900)
49,059

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can
only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability. See note 2(n) ‘Amounts
receivable for services (holding account)’.
The reconciliation at the beginning and end of the current and previous year is set out below:
Opening balance of Holding Account
Amount transferred from Agriculture Protection Board (a)
Non-cash appropriation
Departmental drawdown
Closing balance of Holding Account
(a)

In 2006–07 the Agriculture Protection Board (APB) transferred its non-industry funded property, plant and equipment to the department. The APB believed
that the ‘amounts receivable for services’ should also have been transferred. However, it acknowledged the Department of Treasury position that these
non-current assets must be retained until the repeal of the Agriculture Protection Board Act 1950.

The appropriate legislation was passed on 18 December 2010, and the ‘amounts receivable for services’ were transferred.

Note 22. Other assets
2012

2011

$000

$000

Current
Prepayments
Lease rentals
Goods & services
Registrations
Total current

534
44
96
674

679
128
807

Non-current
Available for sale financial assets
Listed shares
Unlisted shares
Total non-current

329
261
590

341
297
638
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Note 23. Non-current assets classified as held for distribution to owners

Assets reclassified as held for distribution to owners
Land and buildings
Less write-downs from cost to fair value less selling costs (a)
Closing balance
(a)
Disclosed as Other Expenses

2012

2011

$000

$000

808
808

-

2012

2011

$000
7,851
(3,020)
4,714
9,545

$000
7,402
(3,706)
5,161
8,857

Note 24. Investment accounted for using equity method

Investment in joint venture entity at initial cost of investment
Share of loss using the equity method
Post acquisition reserve

The Western Australian Agriculture Authority (WAAA), a body corporate established under the Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Act 2007, is a joint
investor in InterGrain Pty Ltd which was incorporated on 26 October 2007 and is resident in Australia. The joint venture principal activity is to commercialise the
research from wheat and barley breeding.
As at 30 June 2012 WAAA holds a 52.68% (2011: 52.68%) equity interest in InterGrain Pty Ltd. The department regards the investment in InterGrain Pty Ltd as
a joint venture entity, due to the contractually agreed sharing of control over an economic activity and the financial and operating decisions relating to the activity
requiring the unanimous consent of the shareholders.
The department has no obligations with respect to liabilities incurred by InterGrain Pty Ltd.
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Note 24. Investment accounted for using equity method (continued)
Summary financials from the management accounts for equity accounted investees, not adjusted for the percentage ownership by the department:
2012
2011
$000
19,199
3,889
23,088

$000
16,926
3,700
20,626

4,971
4,971

3,812
3,812

Net assets

18,117

16,814

Revenue
Expenses
Income/(Loss)

16,410
(15,107)
1,303

9,376
(11,452)
(2,076)

2012

2011

$000

$000

121,410
121,410

120,403
120,403

75,641
(4,569)
71,072

81,127
81,127

4,818
(3,576)
1,242

4,373
(3,130)
1,243

91
(84)
7

91
(82)
10

Current assets
Non-current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Total liabilities

Note 25. Property, plant and equipment

Land
At fair value (a)
Buildings
At fair value (a)
Accumulated impairment losses (b)
Computer and communications equipment
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Furniture, fixtures and fittings
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
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Note 25. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Office equipment
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Plant and machinery
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Vehicles and buses
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Infrastructure
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Other equipment
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Capital works in progress
Buildings
Other

Total non-current assets
(a)

2012

2011

$000

$000

1,001
(674)
327

1,117
(768)
349

31,791
(22,480)
9,311

30,016
(21,485)
8,532

11,002
(8,779)
2,223

10,821
(8,276)
2,544

1,032
(233)
799

1,069
(214)
855

382
(149)
233

376
(113)
264

4,825
6,862
11,687

5,095
6,246
11,341

218,311

226,669

Land and buildings (including barrier fence) were revalued as at 1 July 2012 by the WA Land Information Authority (Valuation Services).
The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2012 and recognised at 30 June 2012. In undertaking the valuation, fair value was
determined by reference to market values for land $6,441,750 and buildings $4,665,400. For the remaining balance, fair value of land and buildings was
determined on the basis of depreciated replacement cost.

(b)

The redevelopment of the South Perth Department of Agriculture and Food Headquarters including the Australian Export Grain Innovation Centre by
2018–19 requires the recognition of impairment of buildings on the existing site.
84

Disclosures and legal compliance

Department of Agriculture and Food | ANNUAL REPORT 2012

Notes to the financial statements
Note 25. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out in the table below.

Current

Barrier
Fence

Land

Buildings

$000

$000

$000

Computer &
communications
equipment
$000

Furniture,
fixtures &
fittings
$000

Office
equipment

Plant &
machinery

Vehicles &
buses

Infrastructure

Other
Capital works
equipment
in progress

Total

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

2012
Carrying amount at start of year

-

120,403

81,127

1,243

10

349

8,532

2,544

855

264

11,342

226,669

Additions

-

-

928

702

-

56

2,672

353

-

6

7,214

11,931

Disposals

-

(7)

(33)

-

-

(5)

(223)

(4)

-

-

-

(272)

Transfers (a)

-

(158)

(605)

-

-

-

119

-

-

-

(6,869)

(7,513)

Adjustments

-

-

-

(4)

-

-

-

-

(4)

-

-

-

Revaluations Increments /
(Decrements)

-

1,172

(1,544)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(372)

Depreciation

-

-

(4,128)

(703)

(3)

(72)

(1,751)

(670)

(51)

(36)

-

(7,414)
(4,569)

Impairment losses (b)

-

-

(4,569)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Write-offs of assets

-

-

(104)

-

-

(1)

(34)

-

(6)

-

-

(145)

Carrying amount at end of year

-

121,410

71,072

1,242

7

327

9,311

2,223

798

234

11,687

218,311

5,700

116,378

77,838

1,602

20

-

10,294

2,960

-

-

3,484

218,276

180

5

72

307

-

5

1,592

416

(10)

18

7,916

10,501
(213)

2011
Carrying amount at start of year
Additions
Disposals

-

-

(15)

(2)

-

-

(146)

(50)

-

-

-

(5,599)

-

5,073

17

(7)

461

(1,161)

(52)

986

282

-

-

Adjustments

-

-

(389)

-

-

-

411

-

10

-

(58)

(26)

Revaluations Increments /
(Decrements)

-

4,020

2,874

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

6,894
(8,306)

Transfers (a)

(281)

-

(3,892)

(678)

(3)

(117)

(2,438)

(730)

(131)

(36)

-

Write-offs of assets

-

-

(434)

(3)

-

-

(20)

-

-

-

-

(457)

Carrying amount at end of year

-

120,403

81,127

1,243

10

349

8,532

2,544

855

264

11,342

226,669

Depreciation

(a)

The balance in transfers consists of the following components:
An amount of $3,611,000 was removed from Capital Works in Progress and has been included in additions to other asset categories.
An amount of $3,094,000 has been transferred to intangible assets (note 26).
An amount of $808,000 has been transferred to Non-current assets classified as held for distribution to owners (note 23).

(b)

Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Where an asset measured at cost is written down to recoverable amount, the loss is accounted for as a revaluation decrement
in the Statement of Changes in Equity.
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Note 26. Intangible assets
2012

2011

$000

$000

Computer Software
WIP
At cost (a)
Accumulated amortisation
Total intangible assets

2,485
3,094
(774)
4,805

-

a) An amount of $2,023,000 was included in Capital works in progress (note 25) in 2010–11.
Reconciliation:
Carrying amount at start of period
Additions
Classified as held for resale
Revaluation increments
Impairment losses recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income
Impairment losses reversed in Statement of Comprehensive Income
Amortisation expense
Carrying amount at end of period

5,580
(774)
4,805

-

Note 27. Impairment of assets
The redevelopment of the South Perth Department of Agriculture and Food Headquarters including the Australian Export Grain Innovation Centre by 2018–19
requires the recognition of impairment of buildings on the existing site. The Department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during
the reporting period. All surplus assets at 30 June 2012 have either been classified as assets held for distribution to owners or written off.
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Note 28. Payables

Current
Trade payables
Accrued expenses
Accrued salaries
Other payables
Total current

2012

2011

$000

$000

7,357
7,168
2,274
2,029
18,828

2,199
5,983
2,545
2,336
13,063

2012

2011

$000

$000

11,871
16,211
146
28,228

9,918
13,355
78
23,352

5,704
33,932

4,772
28,124

4,874
55
4,929

5,203
51
5,254

Note 29. Provisions

Current
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave (a)
Long service leave (b)
Deferred salary schemes
Other provisions
Employment on-costs (c)
Total current provisions
Non-current
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave (b)
Deferred salary scheme
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Note 29. Provisions (continued)

Other provisions
Employment on-costs (c)
Total non-current provisions
Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional
right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period
More than 12 months after the reporting period

2012

2011

$000

$000

590
5,519

646
5,900

7,142
4,729
11,871

5,820
4,098
9,918

5,733
15,352
21,085

4,778
13,780
18,558

5,419
876
6,295

5,973
(554)
5,419

(a)

(b)

Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting
period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as
follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period
More than 12 months after the reporting period
(c)

The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of
employment on-costs including workers’ compensation insurance. The provision is
the present value of expected future payments. The associated expense, apart from
the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 8 ‘Supplies and
services’.

Movement in other provisions
Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee
benefits, are set out below.
Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of year
Additional/(reversals of) provisions recognised
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits
Carrying amount at end of year
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Note 30. Equity
The Government holds the equity interest in the department on behalf of the community. Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the
department. The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.
2012
2011
Contributed equity
Balance at the start of period
Contributions by owners
Capital appropriations (a)
Transfer of net assets from other agencies
Agriculture Protection Board (a)

$000

$000

44,104

29,557

8,650

6,154
-

Balance at end of period
(a)
Capital contributions (appropriations) and non-discretionary (non-reciprocal)
transfers of net assets between state government agencies have been designated
as contributions by owners in Treasurer’s Instruction 955 ‘Contributions by Owners
Made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities’.
(b) Treasurer’s Instruction 955 requires non-reciprocal transfers of net assets to
government to be accounted for as distribution to owners in accordance with AASB
Interpretation 1038.
Reserves
Balance at start of period
Non-current assets
Post-acquisition reserve
Net revaluation increments/(decrements):
Non-current assets
Land
Buildings
Barrier fence
Impairment loss for the year
Post-acquisition reserve
Investment accounted for using equity method
Total
89

8,650

8,393
14,547

52,754

44,104

216,511
5,162
221,673

209,617
209,617

1,172
(1,544)
(4,569)
(4,941)

4,020
2,874
6,894

(447)
(5,388)

5,162
12,056

Disclosures and legal compliance

Department of Agriculture and Food | ANNUAL REPORT 2012

Notes to the financial statements
Note 30. Equity (continued)

Balance at end of period
Non-current assets
Post-acquisition reserve
Accumulated surplus / (deficit)
Balance at start of period
Correction of prior period error
Result for the period
Gain and loss recognised directly in equity
Balance at end of period
Total equity at end of period

Note 31

2012

2011

$000

$000

211,570
4,715
216,285

216,511
5,162
221,673

26,022
2,415
(48)
28,389

49,019
(38,184)
15,219

297,428

291,800

(32)
26,022

Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:
2012
2011
$000
16,457
36,093
2,352
54,902

Cash and cash equivalents (note 16)
Restricted cash and cash equivalents: current (note 17)
Restricted cash and cash equivalents: non-current (note 17)
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$000
7,389
22,990
2,070
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Note 31

Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
2012

2011

$000

$000

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities
Net cost of services
(152,576)

(139,797)

Non-cash items:
Net (loss)/profit from sale of assets (note 14)
Depreciation and amortisation expense (note 9)
Doubtful debt expense (note 10)
Resources received free of charge (note 15)
Share of net (profit)/loss in joint venture using equity method
Decrease in asset revaluation surplus
Decrease in post acquisition reserve

(199)
8,187
196
4,447
(687)
(372)
(447)

39
8,305
190
1,269
933
-

(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Biological assets
Agricultural produce
Inventories
Receivables (a)
Available for sale financial assets
Other current assets

409
(19)
226
6,420
48
133

365
73
280
(6,326)
55

5,477
5,427
619
733
(121,979)

1,293
(5,190)
393
(540)
(138,657)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Payables (a)
Provisions
Net GST receipts/(payments) (b)
Change in GST in receivables/payables (c)
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities
(a)

Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not
included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.

(b)

This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions.

(c)

This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.
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Note 32. Resources provided free of charge
During the period the following resources were provided to other agencies free of charge for functions outside the normal operations of the department.
2012
2011
$000
46
157
203

Agriculture Protection Board
Agricultural Produce Commission
Rural Business Development Corporation
(a)

(a)

$000
5,274
8
534
5,816

The Agriculture Protection Board Act 1950 was repealed on 18 December 2010, abolishing the Agriculture Protection Board.

Note 33. Commitments
2012

2011

$000

$000

3,892
3,892

906
906

2,732
2,917
23
5,672

2,878
3,401
153
6,432

The commitments below are inclusive of GST where relevant.
Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the
amounts reported in the financial statements are payable as follows:
Within 1 year
Non-cancellable lease commitments
Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not
recognised in the financial statements are payable as follows:
Within one year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

The property leases are non-cancellable leases with five-year terms, with rents payable monthly in advance. Contingent rental provisions within the lease
agreements require that the minimum lease payments shall be increased by the lower of CPI or 4% per annum. An option exists to renew the leases at the end of
their five year terms for an additional term of five years.
A contractual arrangement exists between State Fleet and Agencies for the lease of vehicles based on both a vehicle kilometre specification and vehicle lease
terms. Lease payments are made on a monthly basis. The department is responsible for registration, insurance and servicing of leased vehicles in line with
manufacturer’s recommendations, as well as the cost of refurbishment on return.
State Fleet carries the residual risk on the sale of the vehicle.
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Note 34. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
Contingent Liabilities
The following contingent liabilities are additional to the liabilities included in the financial statements:
Litigation in progress:
The department has two pending litigation claims that may affect the financial position to the value of $1.5 million pertaining to alleged quarantine destruction
orders and alleged incorrect advice given to eradicate plant pests. These are currently with the State Solicitor’s Office. Recent endeavours to have one of the
cases settled have been unsuccessful. It is uncertain when the cases will be finalised. Riskcover is providing full indemnity in the event that the department is
found to have a liability in negligence for either or both of the claims.
The department assumed the administration of and regulatory responsibility for the Animal Welfare Act 2002 from the Department of Local Government in 2011.
Two cases of animal cruelty under the Animal Welfare Act 2002 are currently before the courts, with a potential liability of more than $100,000.
Court action has commenced, but it is unlikely to be resolved until late 2013.
Contaminated sites
Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the department is required to report known and suspected contaminated sites to the Department of Environment and
Conservation (DEC). In accordance with the Act, DEC classifies these sites on the basis of the risk to human health, the environment and environmental values.
Where the sites are classified as contaminated, investigation and remediation may be required. The department may have a liability in respect of investigation
and/or remediation expenses.
During the year the department reported nil suspected contaminated sites to DEC (2011: nil suspected sites).
DEC is not in a position to provide specific amounts that may be required to investigate or remediate individual sites or suggest a timetable for how long issues at
individual sites will remain outstanding.

Note 35. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period
There were no events that occurred after the end of the reporting period that would materially affect the financial statements or disclosures.
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Note 36. Explanatory statement
Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expenses as presented in the financial statement titled ‘Summary of Consolidated
Fund Appropriations and Income Estimates’ are shown below. Significant variations are considered to be those greater than 10% or $4 million.
2012
2012
Estimate
Actual
Variation
Total appropriations provided to deliver services
$000
$000
$000
Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2012
36.01 Land Management Original Budget
In accordance with AASB 1050 Original Budget separate disclosure is required of administered income,
expenses, assets and liabilities. Resulting from the mid-year budget review, the department budget was
reduced for special purpose accounts as it was identified that the Commonwealth funded Caring for our
Country program should be realigned to the department’s administered items statements to comply with the
reporting standards.

83,750

-

-

(24,713)

-

-

59,037

39,525

(19,512)

36.02 Production System Solutions
The increased expenditure is represented by the Pilot of Drought Reform Measures Phase 2.

76,546

80,787

4,241

36.03 Industry and Regional Support
The increase reflects the ongoing departmental transformation to an outcome focused economic
development department and has resulted in a shift in activities from Production System Solutions to Industry
and Regional Support. In addition there was an increase in support costs to deliver both drought pilot and
WANDRA schemes.

38,426

48,656

10,230

36.04 Community and Environmental Risk Management
The increase reflects additional Invasive Species, European House Borer and Feral Camel program activities
and the finalisation of the 2010–11 Carnarvon flood expenditure into 2011–12.

12,628

17,616

4,988

36.05 Total income
In accordance with AASB 1050 Original Budget separate disclosure is required of administered income,
expenses, assets and liabilities.
Revised Total Income
The increase in income is due to additional revenue received for:
Royalties for Regions
Industry funded schemes and Declared Pest account as the revenue has now transferred to the
department due to the cessation of the Agriculture Protection Board.
36.06 Capital Contribution (Appropriation)
Delay in commencement of the new headquarters.

71,808

63,800

8,008

(24,913)
46,895

63,800

(24,913)
16,905

Revised Land Management
The decreased expenditure reflects the finalisation of State and Commonwealth Natural Resource
Management program transfer to Administered.
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14,000

11,931

(2,069)
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Note 36. Explanatory statement (continued)
2012
Actual
$000
Significant variances between actuals for 2012 and 2011
36.07 Total appropriations provided to deliver services
The increase in 2011 reflects the targeted voluntary severance offers (TVSO) in the
department.

2011
Actual
$000

Variation
$000

143,322

152,209

(8,887)

36.08 Production System Solutions
The increased expenditure relates to the Pilot of Drought Reform Measures Phase 2, a grant
to RSPCA conditional in the transfer of the Animal Welfare Act 2002 to the department in
2011–12, and the recoup to national cost sharing jurisdictions of unspent monies within the
European House Borer program.

80,787

63,890

16,897

36.09 Land Management
The decreased expenditure reflects the finalisation of State and Commonwealth Natural
Resource Management program transfer to Administered.

39,525

48,271

(8,746)

36.10 Industry and Regional Support
The increase reflects the ongoing departmental transformation to an outcome focused
economic development agency and has resulted in a shift in activities from Production
System Solutions to Industry and Regional Support. In addition there was an increase in
support costs to deliver both drought pilot and WANDRA schemes.

48,656

37,684

10,971

36.11 Community and Environmental Risk Management
The increase is due to to additional Invasive Species, European House Borer and Feral
Camel program activities and the finalisation of the 2010–11 Carnarvon flood expenditure
into 2011–12.

17,616

14,681

2,935

36.12 Total Income
The increase in income is due to additional revenue received for:
Royalties for Regions
Industry funded schemes and Declared Pest account as the revenue has now
transferred to the department due to the cessation of the Agriculture Protection Board.

63,800

53,958

9,842

36.13 Capital Contribution (appropriation)
The additional expenditure relates to the commencement of the Information Management
System Upgrade Project.

11,931

6,155

5,776

36.14 Administered grants and transfer payments
The reduction trend in grant payments relate to the contracts held with proponents in State
NRM and Caring for Our Country programs.

47,581

56,036

(8,455)

.
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Note 37. Remuneration of senior officers
The number of senior officers whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year fall within the following
bands are:
$

2012

2011

0 – 70,000

1

2

70,001 – 80,000

-

-

80,001 – 90,000

-

-

90,001 – 100,000

-

-

100,001 – 110,000

-

-

110,001 – 120,000

-

-

120,001 – 130,000

-

-

130,001 – 140,000

-

-

140,001 – 150,000

-

-

150,001 – 160,000

-

-

160,001 – 170,000

-

-

170,001 – 180,000

-

4

180,001 – 190,000

2

1

190,001 – 200,000

1

-

200,001 – 210,000

2

1

280,001 – 290,000

-

1

320,001 – 330,000

1

-

330,001 – 340,000

-

-

340,001 – 350,000

Total remuneration of senior officers

1

-

2012
$000

2011
$000

1,660

1,373

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the department in respect of senior officers.
There are no senior officers who are presently members of the Government Pension Scheme.
Annual leave and long service leave cessation payments totalling $252,159 were made to two senior officers in 2011–12.
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Note 38. Remuneration of auditor
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators

2012

2011

$000

$000

285

267

285

267

The expense is included at note 8 ‘Supplies and services’

Note 39. Related bodies
The following Industry Funding Schemes are deemed to be related bodies by the Treasurer:
The Cattle Industry Funding Scheme
The Grains, Seeds and Hay Industry Funding Scheme
The Sheep and Goat Industry Funding Scheme
The funds of these three schemes are reported as restricted cash and cash equivalents (note 17) and the movements in special purpose accounts
(note 45).
The transactions and results of these related bodies have been included in the financial statements.

Note 40. Affiliated bodies
The department had no affiliated bodies during the financial year.
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Note 41. Jointly controlled operations
a) Major cooperative research agreements – audited 2011

Name of operation
Cooperative Research Centre for Sheep
Cooperative Research Centre for Future Farm Industries
Cooperative Research Cotton Catchment Communities

Output interest (%)
13.30
12.00
1.27

The department had no assets employed in jointly controlled operations during the financial year.
(b) Other joint ventures
The department has collaborative arrangements with other parties to perform research and share in the outputs (i.e. intellectual property) in proportion to each participant’s research
input, initial intellectual property or cash contributions. These collaborative arrangements also share the characteristics of joint venture operations. The principal activities of these joint
venture operations are scientific research and development, extension and technology transfer with the ultimate aim of sharing in the output. The numbers of this type of arrangement
make it impractical to list separately. The department’s contributions to these joint ventures are included in the department’s operating statements.

Note 42. Financial instruments
(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies
Financial Instruments held by the department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, Treasurer’s Advances, receivables and
payables. The department has limited exposure to financial risks. The department’s overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks identified
below.
Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the department’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the
department.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of
those assets inclusive of any provisions for impairment as shown in the table at note 42(c) ‘Financial instruments disclosures’ and note 20 ‘Receivables’.
Credit risk associated with the department’s financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amounts receivable for services (holding accounts). For
receivables other than government, the department trades only with recognised, credit-worthy third parties. The department has policies in place to ensure that
sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with
the result that the department’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the end of the reporting period there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.
Allowance for impairment of financial assets is calculated based on objective evidence, such as observable data in client credit ratings. For financial assets that
are either past due or impaired, refer to note 42(c) ‘Financial instruments disclosures’.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the department is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
The department is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.
The department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that
sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.
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Notes to the financial statements
Note 42. Financial instruments (continued)
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the department’s income or the
value of its holdings of financial instruments. The department does trade in foreign currency but values are not considered material. The department
is not materially exposed to other price risks (for example, equity securities or commodity prices changes). Other than as detailed in the interest rate
sensitivity analysis table at note 42(c), the department is not exposed to interest rate risk because apart from minor amounts of restricted cash, all
other cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest bearing and there are no borrowings.
(b) Categories of financial instruments
In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:
2012

2011

$000

$000

16,457
38,445
61,412
590

7,389
25,060
60,940
638

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
18,828
(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

13,063

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Loans and receivables (a)
Available for sale financial assets

(c) Financial instrument disclosures
Credit risk
The following table details the department’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The department’s
maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses
the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based on information provided to senior
management of the department.
The department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the financial assets it holds.
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Notes to the financial statements
Note 42. Financial instruments (continued)
Aged analysis of financial assets
Past due but not impaired
Carrying
Amount

Not past
due and not
impaired

Up to
1 month

$000

$000

$000

2012
Cash and cash equivalents

16,457

16,457

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

38,445

38,445

8,713

6,281

52,699

52,699

590

-

116,903

113,881

7,389

7,389

Receivables (a)
Amounts receivable for services
Available for sale financial assets

1-5 years

More than
5 years

Impaired
financial
assets

$000

$000

$000

151

-

358

251

151

-

358

2,575

371

273

333

2,575

371

273

333

1-3 months

3 months to
1 year

$000

$000

755

917

251

755

917

3,760

3,760

2011
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

25,060

25,060

Receivables (a)

11,881

4,569

Amounts receivable for services

49,059

49,059

Available for sale financial assets

638
94,027

86,077

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivables).
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Notes to the financial statements
Note 42. Financial instruments (continued)
Liquidity Risk and interest rate exposure
The following table details the department’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. The maturity
analysis section includes interest and principal cash flows. The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amount of each item.
Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial liabilities
Interest rate exposure
Weighted
average
effective
interest rate

Carrying
amount

%

$000

Maturity dates

Fixed
Variable Non-interest
interest rate interest rate bearing
$000

$000

Nominal
Amount

Up to
1 month

1-3
months

$000

$000

$000

$000

16,457

16,457

16,457

12,283

38,445

38,445

2012
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash
equivalents
Available for sale financial assets
Receivables (a)
Amounts receivable for services

16,457
4.74

38,445

26,162

590

590

590

590

8,713

8,713

8,713

8,713

52,699
90,741

52,699
116,903

52,699
116,903

18,828

18,828

18,828

18,828

18,828

18,828

18,828

18,828

52,699
116,903

26,162

Financial Liabilities
Payables

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivables).
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Notes to the financial statements
Note 42. Financial instruments (continued)
Interest rate exposure
Weighted
average
effective
interest rate

Carrying
amount

%

$000

Maturity dates

Fixed
Variable Non-interest
interest rate interest rate bearing
$000

$000

Nominal
Amount

Up to
1 month

1-3
months

$000

$000

$000

$000

7,389

7,389

7,389

9,057

25,060

25,060

3 months
More than
to 1 year 1-5 years 5 years
$000

$000

$000

2011
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash
equivalents
Available for sale financial assets

7,389
5.03

25,060

16,003

638

638

638

638

Receivables (a)

11,881

11,881

11,881

11,881

Amounts receivable for services

49,059
94,027

49,059
78,024

49,059
94,027

49,059
94,027

13,063

13,063

13,063

13,063

13,063

13,063

13,063

13,063

16,003

Financial Liabilities
Payables

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivables).

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the department’s financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the surplus for
the period and equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.

2012
Financial Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
2011
Financial Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Carrying amount
$000

-100 basis points
Surplus
Equity
$000
$000

+100 basis points
Surplus
Equity
$000
$000

26,162

(262)

(262)

262

262

16,003

(160)

(160)

160

160

Fair Values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a
reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.
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Notes to the financial statements
Note 43. Supplementary financial information

(a) Write-offs: Non-current assets
During the financial year $144,884 (2011: $456,657) was written off the department’s
asset register under the authority of:
The accountable authority
The Minister

Write-offs: Irrecoverable amounts and inventory
During the financial year $172,069 (2011: $95,532) was written off in bad debts under the
authority of:
The accountable authority
The Minister
(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes
Losses of public moneys and public and other property through theft or default
Amounts recovered - insurance

2012

2011

$000

$000

145
145

47
410
457

172

96
-

14
3

40
35

2012

2011

$000
(3)
295
(155)
137

$000
155
40
(197)
(3)

Note 44. Indian Ocean Territories Service Level Agreement
The provision of services to the Indian Ocean Territories is recouped from the Commonwealth Government.

Opening balance
Receipts
Payments
Closing balance
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Notes to the financial statements
Note 45. Special Purpose Accounts
2012

2011

$000

$000

4,651
78,820
(75,718)
7,753

8,478
30,248
(34,075)
4,651

2,969
4,496
(4,285)
3,180

2,731
2,969
(2,731)
2,969

2,340
2,733
(2,895)
2,178

2,510
1,791
(1,961)
2,340

Agriculture Research Grants Account No. 1 (Non-interest bearing)
The purpose of the fund is to receive and disperse funds from industry and other
organisations in support of agricultural research projects.
Balance at the start of the year
Receipts
Payments
Balance at the end of the year
Agriculture Research Grants Account No. 2 (Interest bearing)
The purpose of the fund is to receive and disperse funds from industry and other
organisations in support of agricultural research projects.
Balance at the start of the year
Receipts
Payments
Balance at the end of the year
Commonwealth Agriculture Activity Grants (Non-interest bearing)
The purpose of the fund is to receive and disperse to conduct Commonwealth funded
activities.
Balance at the start of the year
Receipts
Payments
Balance at the end of the year
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Notes to the financial statements
Note 45. Special Purpose Accounts (continued)
2012

2011

$000

$000

(1,124)
1,124
-

(710)
1,591
(2,005)
(1,124)

5,043
2,632
(1,605)
6,070

5,661
1,188
(1,806)
5,043

6,175
923
(983)
6,115

6,358
7,248
(7,431)
6,175

Commonwealth Agriculture Activity Grants (Interest bearing)
The purpose of the fund is to receive and disperse to conduct Commonwealth funded
activities.
Balance at the start of the year
Receipts
Payments
Balance at the end of the year
Plant research and development
The purpose of the fund is to receive and disperse funds to conduct plant research and
development in Western Australia.
Balance at the start of the year
Receipts
Payments
Balance at the end of the year
Cattle Industry Funded Scheme
The purpose of the fund is to receive and disperse funds from the cattle industry to enable
the industry to self-determine and self-fund appropriate responses to serious pest and
disease incursions which predominantly impact on the industry sector and which are not
otherwise covered under existing arrangements at the national level.
Balance at the start of the year (a)
Receipts
Payments
Balance at the end of the year
(a) Balance transferred from Agriculture Protection Board
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Notes to the financial statements
Note 45. Special Purpose Accounts (continued)
2012

2011

$000

$000

608
4,932
(5,147)
393

1,575
(967)
608

12
124
(30)
106

12
12

2,433
4,812
(3,178)
4,067

5,151
(2,717)
2,433

Declared Pest Account
The purpose of the fund is to receive and disperse funds collected to carry out measures
to control declared pests on and in relation to areas for which the rates were collected.
Balance at the start of the year
Receipts
Payments
Balance at the end of the year
Land Conservation Districts Fund
The purpose of the fund is to promote soil conservation through research and
implementation of soil and conservation measures and practices.
Balance at the start of the year
Receipts
Payments
Balance at the end of the year
Grain, Seeds and Hay Industry Funded Scheme
The purpose of the fund is to receive and disperse funds from the grain, seeds and hay
industry to enable the industry to self-determine and self-fund appropriate responses to
serious pest and disease incursions which predominantly impact on the industry sector
and which are not otherwise covered under existing arrangements at the national level.
Balance at the start of the year
Receipts
Payments
Balance at the end of the year
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Notes to the financial statements
Note 45. Special Purpose Accounts (continued)
2012

2011

$000

$000

313
916
(669)
560

336
(23)
313

Sheep and Goats Industry Funded Scheme
The purpose of the fund is to receive and disperse funds from the sheep and goats
industry to enable the industry to self-determine and self-fund appropriate responses to
serious pest and disease incursions which predominantly impact on the industry sector
and which are not otherwise covered under existing arrangements at the national level.
Balance at the start of the year
Receipts
Payments
Balance at the end of the year

Note 46. Disclosure of administered income and expenses by service
WAMIA
2012
2011
$000
$000
COST OF SERVICE
Expenses
Grants, subsidies and transfer payments
Interest payments
Other expenses
Total administered expenses
Income
Service appropriation
Grants and contributions
User charges and fees
Interest revenue
Other revenue
Total administered Income

Cooperative Loans
2012
2011
$000
$000

Commonwealth Grants State NRM Program
2012
2011
2012
2011
$000
$000
$000
$000

Total
2012
$000

2011
$000

10,500
10,500

4,300
4,300

482
(24)
458

601
72
673

24,157
4,623
28,780

37,456
37,456

7,433
410
7,843

13,224
783
14,007

42,090
482
5,009
47,581

54,980
601
855
56,436

-

21,500
21,500

10
765
775

10
527
537

24,941
774
25,715

26,812
307
27,119

5,000
5,000

5,000
5,000

5,000
24,941
10
1,539
31,491

5,000
48,312
10
834
54,156
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Note 47. Disclosure of administered assets and liabilities by service
WAMIA

Cooperative Loans

Commonwealth
Grants

State NRM Program

Total

2012

2011

2012

2011

2012

2011

2012

2011

2012

2011

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

13,630

17,200

485

(2,159)

7,060

10,916

3,555

10,242

24,731

36,199

-

-

-

-

143

507

290

-

433

507

13,630

17,200

485

(2,159)

7,203

11,423

3,845

10,242

25,164

36,706

-

-

6,170

11,120

-

-

-

-

6,170

11,120

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Total Administered Current Assets
Non-current assets
Loan
Interest Receivable

-

-

-

-

189

40

-

-

189

40

Total Administered Non-Current Assets

-

-

6,170

11,120

189

40

-

-

6,359

11,159

13,630

17,200

6,655

8,961

7,392

11,463

3,845

10,242

31,522

47,865

TOTAL ADMINISTERED ASSETS
Current liabilities
Payables

6,750

-

-

-

169

-

160

-

7,079

-

-

-

182

660

-

-

-

-

182

660

6,750

-

182

660

169

-

160

-

7,261

660

Borrowings

-

-

5,988

8,156

-

-

-

-

5,988

8,156

Total Administered Non-Current Liabilities

-

-

5,988

8,156

-

-

-

-

5,988

8,156

6,750

-

6,170

8,816

169

-

160

-

13,249

8,816

Borrowings
Total Administered Current Liabilities
Non-current liabilities

TOTAL ADMINISTERED LIABILITIES
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Note 48. Disclosure of prior period adjustments
A review was undertaken by the department of the State Natural Resource Management (NRM) Program, the Commonwealth Natural Heritage Trust (NHT) and
the National Action Plan (NAP) grants funding in 2011–12. The review established that the grants should be treated as Administered Funds and not Controlled
Funds in accordance with the requirements of AASB 1050 ‘Administered Items’ (refer to prior period adjustment 1).
The State NRM program is reported as a separate service whereas the NHT and NAP are being reported as Commonwealth Grants to be utilised for the Caring
for Our Country Program (refer to prior period adjustment 2).
These transactions have been removed from the financial statements and reported separately under notes 46 and 47 as Administered Income and Expenses by
Service. The necessary adjustments have resulted in amendments to the financial statements for 2009–10 and 2010–11 and are shown here.
30/06/2011
30/06/2010
Previously Prior period Prior period Restated
Previously Prior period Prior period Restated
reported adjustment 1 adjustment 2 amount
reported adjustment 1 adjustment 2 amount
Note
$000
$000
$000
$000
$000
$000
$000
$000
Impact – Statement of Financial Position
Current Assets:
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents
16
16,624
(9,235)
7,389
12,341
12,341
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
17
33,232
(10,242)
22,990
44,522
(19,249)
(18,935)
6,338
Net Assets
311,279
(10,242)
(9,235)
291,800
288,195
(19,249)
(18,935)
250,009
Equity:
Accumulated surplus

(10,242)

(9,235)

26,024

Impact for the year ended 30/06/2011– Statement of Comprehensive Income
Expenses:
Employee benefits expense
7
124,386
(662)
Supplies and services
8
44,491
(128)
Other expenses
10
4,563
7
Grants and subsidies
11
34,919
(13,224)

(10,000)

123,724
44,363
4,570
11,695

(140)
(161)

1,630
1,251

(9,699)

139,796

Income:
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Interest revenue

30

13(b)
13(d)

Net Cost of Service
Income from State Government
Service appropriation

15

45,501

1,770
1,412

-

163,502

(14,007)

157,209

(5,000)

-

Prior period adjustment 1 – State funds transferred from control to administered.
Prior period adjustment 2 – Caring for Our Country funds transferred from control to administered.
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Additional key performance indicator information
Certification of key performance indicators
I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are
relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Department of Agriculture
and Food’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Department of
Agriculture and Food for the financial year ended 30 June 2012.

Rob Delane
Accountable Authority
21 September 2012
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Detailed information in support of key performance
indicators

Results were largely consistent between the three respondent groups, with
the highest score being among processors and the lowest being among
consultants (Table 4).

DAFWA has implemented a new suite of outcomes, services and key
performance indicators (KPIs), with the new KPIs being used in the report
as the basis for assessing our performance in 2011–12. While the new
efficiency KPIs align with our existing services, the new effectiveness KPIs
do not align directly with our existing outcomes. As such, effectiveness
is reported collectively across all five outcomes. It was not possible to
establish budget targets for three of the four new effectiveness KPIs for the
2011–12 year.

Table 4 Percentage of respondents that consider DAFWA made a positive
impact on the profitability of their industry over the previous 12
months, by respondent group

Assessing our effectiveness
1.

Proportion of businesses that consider DAFWA has
influenced profitability

Respondent group

Score (%)
(6 and above)

Producers

30

Processors, marketers and exporters

32

Consultants

29

Average (all respondents)

30

Source: Profitability and sustainability KPI, Painted Dog Research, 2012

There were marked differences between average scores arising from the
different producer types, with 39 per cent of grain producers rating our
impact at six or above. These findings suggest that our strategic grains
initiatives implemented over the past two years are starting to have an
impact. They include:

This KPI, which is based on respondents’ views of our impact on the
profitability of their industry over the previous 12 months, helps us assess
and understand our effectiveness in fostering the profitability of the sector
as a whole.
The result is derived from a survey question that asked respondents to
score our impact from zero to 10, with zero representing no impact. Scores
of six and above are considered to represent a significant positive impact.
Respondents were made up of 399 producers, 75 processors, marketers
and exporters and 41 agricultural consultants, with producers being further
categorised by their principal product type.
This year’s survey indicated that, across all respondents, 30 per cent
considered that we had made a noticeable impact on the profitability of
their industry over the past year. This is seen as an encouraging start to
what is essentially the most telling question we could ask of industry: did
we make you more profitable?

•

commissioning of the New Genes for New Environments and
Managed Environment facilities

•

progress in the multi-year Bridging the Yield Gap and Pathways to
Resilience initiatives

•

introducing web-based decision-making tools such as MyCrop

•

initiating research programs under the new Australian Export Grains
Innovation Centre (AEGIC)

•

ongoing impacts of the commercial production of genetically modified
canola in 2010.

This gives considerable confidence that, over time, we will see similar
improvements across other industry types as they too move into larger and
more readily-observable initiatives.
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2.

However, it should not be expected that we would achieve consistently
high scores in questions such as this: it is unlikely that any organisation
could bring about significant and readily observable changes in every year
for every industry. It is too early to predict what the ‘ceiling’ for such scores
might be (there are no directly comparable benchmarks upon which to
base such a ceiling) but is it unlikely that this will be more than about 50 per
cent—that is, effectively any one in two respondents being able to see a
significant improvement in any one year.

This KPI, which is based on respondents’ views of our impact on the
sustainability of their industry over the previous 12 months, helps us to
assess and understand our effectiveness in fostering the sustainability of
the sector as a whole.
The result is derived from the same survey referred to in effectiveness
indicator 1, with a similar question asking respondents to score our impact
from zero to 10, with scores of six and above being considered to represent
a significant positive impact.

The survey used for this and the two following indicators was independently
designed, executed and analysed. This year’s survey was undertaken
between 7 March and 20 March 2012 and captured the views of 515
respondents. Its design offered an overall margin of error of 3.9 per cent.
To the extent possible, the survey focused on larger producers, as per
the following threshold criteria. No such criteria were applied in regard to
horticultural producers because of their relatively low numbers. Similarly, no
such criteria were applied to processors, exporters or consultants.

This year’s survey involved 515 respondents consisting of 399 producers,
75 processors, marketers and exporters and 41 agricultural consultants.
Future surveys will extend this range of respondents to include other
stakeholders who may be affected by the sector’s use of or impact on our
natural environment.

Threshold stocking and production levels for producers considered in 2012
survey
Principal product type

Threshold

Sheep

> 2000 head

Grain

> 500 tonnes harvested

Dairy

> 350 head

Beef – agricultural

> 1000 head

Beef – pastoral

> 5000 head

Proportion of businesses that consider DAFWA has
influenced sustainability

Results are higher than those attained with the ‘profitability’ question, with
34 per cent of respondents scoring our impact at six or above. Unlike
profitability, there were distinct differences between the respondent groups,
with agricultural consultants rating our impact markedly lower (26%) than
producers or processors (Table 5).
Table 5 Percentage of respondents that consider DAFWA made a positive
impact on the sustainability of their industry over the previous 12
months, by respondent group

Source: Profitability and sustainability KPI, Painted Dog Research, 2012

Future surveys will seek to include the views of intermediate and end-users,
and co-investors identified against our major areas of activity.

Respondent group

Score (%)
(6 and above)

Producers

34

Processors, marketers and exporters

36

Consultants

26

Average (all respondents)

34

Source: Profitability and sustainability KPI, Painted Dog Research, 2012

The generally higher results achieved for this question most likely reflects
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our longer term involvement in the sustainability area, meaning that industry
more readily equates changes with our involvement.

Table 6 Percentage of respondents that consider DAFWA improved their
industry’s capacity over the previous 12 months to make changes
that add value, by respondent type

As with the profitability question, higher ratings were achieved from the
grains industry than the other producer types, with 48 per cent of grain
growers rating our impact at six or above.
While this is thought to reflect the more noticeable progress we have made
in this area over recent years, we consider this result exceptional and would
not expect to improve on—or even repeat—this result on an ongoing basis.
Nevertheless, we expect to see marked improvements across each of the
other respondent types over time.

Score (%)
(6 and above)

Producers

31

Processors, marketers and exporters

23

Consultants

37

Average (all respondents)

30

Source: Profitability and sustainability KPI, Painted Dog Research, 2012

Feedback gained through the survey process also highlighted a lack of
awareness among some industry groups of both the products and services
we do deliver and of their impacts. The survey concluded that effectively
promoting our services needs to be a focal point of our strategies in the
future.

3.

Respondent group

The reason for the higher result recorded for the consultant group is
again consistent with their primary focus on improving their clients’
performance, meaning they are more likely to be attuned to any initiatives
we implemented in that respect than to those we implemented relating
to sustainability. Conversely, the reason for the markedly lower rating by
processors is not apparent.

Proportion of businesses that consider DAFWA has fostered
innovation

Higher ratings were achieved from the grains industry than from the other
producer types, with 44 per cent of grain growers rating our impact at six
or above. Again, this is seen as promising and, over time, we expect to see
marked improvements across the other sectors.

We consider innovation to be about ‘making changes that add value’. This
KPI is based on respondents’ views of our impact over the past 12 months
on their capacity to make changes that add value. It helps us assess and
understand our effectiveness in ensuring they have the skills, tools and
information needed to be innovative.

4.

Proportion of co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives

This KPI helps us assess and understand our effectiveness in encouraging
industry and others to invest (along with us) in developing and promoting
the agrifood sector in a truly collaborative manner.

The result is derived from the same survey referred to above, with
respondents asked to score our impact from zero to 10, with scores of six
and above representing a significant positive impact.

Most of the co-investment identified in this report originates from the
commonwealth rural research and development corporations (RDCs), with
these being funded from a mix of governmental and levy-based industry
sources. However, it also includes investment through not-for-profit entities
and vehicles created by the department (such as AEGIC and the Industry
Funding Schemes) but excludes profit-based entities such as InterGrain
Pty Ltd. It also excludes third-party investments in which we play a purely
administrative role such as the commonwealth Caring for our Country
funding. It does include both cash and in-kind commitments.

Results are comparable with those attained through the ‘profitability’
question, with 30 per cent of respondents scoring our impact at six or
above. However, Table 6 shows that, as with the sustainability question,
there were distinct differences between the respondent groups, with
agricultural consultants rating our impact markedly higher (37%) than
producers (31%); and processors markedly lower (23%).
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The DAFWA-led initiatives considered by this KPI include all work undertaken
or commissioned by us and funded in part by the state government, except
those in which we play a purely administrative or non-leadership role. They
also include elements of joint programs, such as those within Cooperative
Research Centres (CRCs), in which we are the recognised leader. These
represent endeavours which we established or led in order to fulfil our own
objectives, and this co-investment is an indicator of our effectiveness in
leveraging the state’s investment by bringing along other parties who share
our belief in the value and achievability of these objectives.
Data used in this KPI is drawn primarily from our financial management
systems, with some additional information from our intellectual property
system and relevant CRCs. The latter data sources were not designed for
this purpose and a degree of estimation is required to assess the extent of
co-investment that meets the criteria.
Table 7

Proportion of co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives
2011–12
Budget

2011–12
Actual

Co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives
($000)

57 687

58 930

1 243

Proportion of co-investment in DAFWAled initiatives as a percentage of
DAFWA’s net cost of Service (1)

34.0%

38.6%

4.6%

Services
SERVICE 1 Land management
Sustainable resource systems are essential to long-term economic
development. We play a key leadership role in ensuring the industry has
access to and applies best-practice production, resource management
and biosecurity systems. This service ensures agrifood industries can build
profitable and resilient businesses while preserving the natural resource
base they both rely upon and impact upon. The strategies we employed in
delivering this service focused on:
•

ensuring land and water resources meet future industry needs
by cross-agency leadership and coordinated planning; resource
assessment; and appropriate land-use reform

•

ensuring sustainable management of land and water resources in a
changing climate by developing long-term management solutions to
salinity, soil degradation and water quality; and extending practical
risk-management strategies and tools that address seasonal variability

•

managing biosecurity risks of importance to industry by assessing and
prioritising risks; promoting the application of management strategies
and tools; and ensuring appropriate industry engagement and
investment

•

enhancing natural resource management (NRM) partnerships by
developing relationships with businesses, landholders, catchment
groups, communities and state and commonwealth agencies; and by
targeting investment in the stewardship of land and water resources.

Variation

Source: DAFWA

Table 7 shows that our partners invested $58.9 million during 2011–12 in
initiatives which we established or led, marginally above our target of $57.7
million.

This service provided the means of addressing our outcome 1: land
managers and producers using best practice management practices (see
page 27).

This increase is reflected in this KPI, in which all eligible co-investment is
considered as a proportion of the combined net cost of our five services,
with the result of 39 per cent being higher than the budget estimate of 34
per cent. This result means that, across the board, DAFWA has been able
to convince industry and others to contribute more in working with us to
achieve our development objectives than we had expected. That is, they
contributed 39 rather than 35 cents for every dollar contributed by the state.
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Efficiency indicators

Table 8 Land management efficiency indicators

Net service cost as a factor of GVAP

Key indicators of
efficiency

This indicator compares our investment in ensuring that farmers and
graziers use good land-management practices with the economic returns
that flow from their businesses—as estimated by gross value of agricultural
production (GVAP). The indicator uses a rolling five-year average of GVAP in
order to minimise the annual variability that results from seasonal and other
influences.

Net service cost as a
factor of GVAP
Public and private sector co-investment in
DAFWA-led initiatives
related to this service as
a factor of the net cost of
this service

Table 8 shows that the net cost of this service as a factor of GVAP fell in
2010–11 relative to 2009–10 (0.69% and 0.89% respectively), primarily
due to the back-dated transfer of various state and commonwealth NRM
funding schemes to the department’s administered accounts. As this
accounting arrangement was decided after we developed our 2011–12
budget, our target expenditure for this service for 2011–12 was overstated.

2009–10 2010–11 2011–12 2011–12 Variation
Actual
Actual
Target
Actual
(%)

(%)

(%)

(%)

0.89

0.69

1.00

0.55

11.0

20.1

(0.45)
9.1

Source: DAFWA, ABS

SERVICE 2 Production system solutions

The result of these changes is that this KPI—which compares the net
service cost with GVAP—was markedly lower than was budgeted (0.55%
and 1% respectively). After accounting for these changes in accounting
practice, we consider this KPI to be in line with expectations. The KPI
means that, over the past year, DAFWA spent 55 cents on helping
to ensure that industry had access to, and used, best-practice land
management systems for every $100 it produced.

Profitable production systems are essential to the sector’s long-term
viability and economic contribution to the state. As with any modern
industry, success relies upon adaptability and innovation. The activities
we undertook in delivering this service cover a wide spectrum but are
all aimed at enhancing the sector’s ability to make the most of changing
circumstances and opportunities. We invested in:

Public and private sector co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives related
to this service as a factor of the net cost of this service
The accounting changes outlined above resulted in a significant reduction in
our expenditure and hence an increased ratio of co-investment, compared
to that anticipated in the target figures (20% and 11% respectively). As
above, after adjusting for the accounting change, we consider this KPI to
be in line with expectations.
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•

identifying and analysing supply chain productivity drivers, constraints
and risks; evaluating opportunities for product and processing
development; facilitating focused industry development projects; and
promoting R&D technologies that provide a competitive edge and
increase industry profitability

•

improving grain yields and seasonal performance; and providing
access to high-quality crop genetics, technology and riskmanagement tools

•

improving industry analysis and planning; facilitating infrastructure and
resource development; and minimising regulation and compliance
costs

•

assessing and prioritising risks; extending management strategies and
tools; and ensuring appropriate industry engagement and investment.
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This service provided the means of addressing our outcome 2: an
innovative and adaptive production sector that effectively manages risks
(see page 30).

Table 9 Production system solutions efficiency indicators
Key indicators of
efficiency

Efficiency indicators

Net service cost as a
factor of GVAP

Net service cost as a factor of GVAP
As above, this indicator compares our investment in improving production
systems with the economic returns that flows from those systems. Table 9
shows that net cost of this service fell in comparison to GVAP in 2010–11
before recovering again in 2011–12. The reduction in 2010–11 was due
to reduced expenditure in this area, reflecting our growing focus on the
economic drivers of profitability. This trend was partly reversed in 2011–12
because of increased investment on a pilot drought program and animal
welfare, and recoups related to the European house borer program. This
KPI means that, over the past year, DAFWA spent around 90 cents on
helping to ensure an innovative and adaptive production sector for every
$100 generated directly by that sector, a reduction of about 10 per cent
from the $1.04 spent in this area in 2009–10.

Public and private
sector co-investment in
DAFWA-led initiatives
related to this service as
a factor of the net cost
of this service

2009–10 2010–11 2011–12 2011–12 Variation
Actual
Actual
Target Actual
(%)

(%)

(%)

(%)

1.04

0.72

1.02

0.89

43.7

51.4

(0.13)
7.7

Source: DAFWA, ABS

SERVICE 3 Industry and regional support
Efficient and effective supply chains are critical to future economic
development and we play a lead role in helping industry to innovate and
maximise opportunities to strengthen supply chains. This service focuses
on delivering against the following strategies:

Public and private sector co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives related
to this service as a factor of the net cost of this service
Co-investment related to this service rose to $27 million in 2011–12, higher
than that estimated for the two previous years ($16 million and $24 million
respectively). Actual co-investment in 2011–12 was higher than expected
($27million and $26 million respectively), and the actual net cost of this
service was lower than expected ($53 million and $60 million respectively).
Both of these variances combined to yield a result for this KPI of 51 per
cent, which was higher than the target of 44 per cent (Table 9). This result
means that, over the past 12 months, we have been able to increase the
efficiency of the government’s investment by leveraging around one dollar
for every two dollars we spent in this area.

•

establishing effective regional, industry and government partnerships
and planning arrangements

•

providing targeted information, analysis and business skills
development throughout the supply chain

•

engaging industry and regional groups and improving their business
systems and skills

•

developing skills targeted at each industry and promoting career
opportunities in the agrifood sector

•

assessing value-adding opportunities and supporting associated
economic and job development.

This service provided the means of addressing our outcome 3: competitive
food and agricultural industries (see page 33). Consistent with our
increasing focus on building the capability and performance of the entire
supply chain, we have significantly increased our investment in this area
over the past few years.
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Efficiency indicators

Table 10 Industry and regional support efficiency indicators

Net service cost as a factor of GVAP

Key indicators of
efficiency

Our investment in this service more than doubled in 2010–11 (from $12
million to $25 million), reflecting the focus of our 2011–15 strategy of
building industry capability and working more closely with industry and
community groups. Our investment in this area continued to increase in
2011–12, with actual net expenditure being significantly higher than the
budget ($31 million and $24 million respectively). This was in large part due
to additional expenditure on the pilot drought program and the Western
Australian Natural Disaster Relief & Recovery Arrangements (WANDRRA)
scheme. Consequently, the net cost of this service as a factor of GVAP rose
from 0.21 per cent in 2009–10 to 0.53 per cent in 2011–12 (Table 10). This
KPI shows that, over the past year, we spent a bit over 50 cents helping
build more efficient and effective supply chains for every $100 of agricultural
product generated, more than double the 21 cents spent in 2009–10.
This is consistent with expectations and our strategy of building industry
capability.

Net service cost as a
factor of GVAP

2009–10 2010–11 2011–12 2011–12 Variation
Actual
Actual
Target
Actual
(%)

(%)

(%)

(%)

0.21

0.42

0.41

0.53

Public and private
sector co-investment in
DAFWA-led initiatives
related to this service as
a factor of the net cost of
this service

40.7

36.9

0.12
(3.8)

Source: DAFWA, ABS

SERVICE 4 Market development
The ability to expand markets and create new diversified opportunities
at domestic and international level is fundamental to economic growth.
Identifying areas of growing market demand, establishing new markets
and expanding existing ones, and facilitating trade arrangements are
important roles for all governments. They are of particular importance for
WA agriculture given that more than 70 per cent of our agricultural products
are exported.

Public and private sector co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives related
to this service as a factor of the net cost of this service
Our commitment to better enabling WA’s agrifood industries to be globally
competitive is illustrated by the increasing level of co-investment we have
attracted in this area over the past two years, rising from an estimated
$1.3 million in 2009–10 to $11.5 million in 2011–12. We consider this coinvestment trend to be encouraging. The result for this KPI for 2011–12 of
37 per cent is in line with the target figure of 41 per cent (Table 10). This
result means that we were able to leverage an additional 37 cents from
other sources for every dollar the government invested in this service.

This service involved us working in partnership with industry and other
innovation providers to promote investment, improve market access and
build the sector’s capacity to grasp opportunities as they arise. We also
worked closely with other agencies, such as WA’s International Trade and
Investment Offices (WATO), the Small Business Development Corporation
and the Australian Trade Commission (Austrade). Our work focused on:
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•

providing industry with improved product and market knowledge; and
improving information exchange throughout the supply chain

•

encouraging productive relationships between supply chain
customers, government and industry organisations; addressing
biosecurity, tariffs and other trade-related impediments; streamlining
regulation; and attracting investment in priority market opportunities

Disclosures and legal compliance

•

raising local, national and international awareness and recognition of
the sector’s opportunities, achievements and excellence

•

demonstrating freedom from pests and diseases that have the
potential to limit our access to markets.
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Table 11 Market development efficiency indicators
Key indicators of
efficiency
Net service cost as a
factor of GVAP

The service provided the means of addressing our outcome 4: increased
value of domestic and international trade (see page 35).

Public and private
sector co-investment in
DAFWA-led initiatives
related to this Service as
a factor of the net cost
of this service

Efficiency indicators
Net service cost as a factor of GVAP
Our investment in market development activities rose faster than expected
during 2011–12, with actual net expenditure being $24 million against a
target of $16 million. This is in large part due to the growing importance we
place on this area.

2009–10 2010–11 2011–12 2011–12 Variation
Actual
Actual
Target
Actual
(%)

(%)

(%)

(%)

0.39

0.29

0.27

0.40

60.0

37.1

0.13
(22.9)

Source: DAFWA, ABS

SERVICE 5 Community and environmental risk management

Consistent with our strategy, our activities have been more sharply focused
on the most important markets. We are working more with our partners
and we are focusing more on ensuring industry has the information it needs
to play a greater role itself in identifying and seizing opportunities. We
believe the balance we struck in 2012, where the net cost of this service
represents between a quarter and a half of one per cent of GVAP, is about
right (Table 11).

A number of pests and diseases have the potential to reduce public amenity
without necessarily impacting on the agricultural or food industry. Diseases
such as Hendra virus can also represent a significant threat to public health
and our environment. Our ability to deliver on social and environmental
benefits not directly related to agriculture and food remains strong.
This service focuses on delivering the following:

Public and private sector co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives related
to this service as a factor of the net cost of this service

•

The target figure for this KPI of 60 per cent was based on both our own
expenditure and co-investment received in the previous year. However,
the sharp rise in the net cost of this service in 2011–12, in conjunction with
$4.7 million of co-investment funds being carried forward from 2010–11,
meant that this target was not reached, the actual KPI value for 2011–12
being 37 per cent (Table 11). Nevertheless, we are looking to increase the
extent of co-investment in this area, particularly from private industry, as our
expertise and successes in market development increase.

•
•
•
•
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managing biosecurity risks of importance to the community or
environment
cross-agency leadership and coordinated planning, resource
assessment and land-use reform
assessing and prioritising risks and extending management strategies
to community and government
developing links with catchment groups, communities and state and
commonwealth agencies
ensuring appropriate community and regional engagement and
investment.
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This service provided the means of addressing our outcome 5: reduced
incidence and impact of environmental and community-based risks (see
page 38).

Table 12 Community and environmental risk management efficiency
indicators
Key indicators of
efficiency

Efficiency indicators
Net service cost as a factor of GVAP

Net service cost as a
factor of GVAP

The level of state government funding for this service rose sharply in
2010–11 compared to 2009–10 ($12.8 million and $7.5 million respectively)
because of funding for additional invasive species, European house borer
and feral camel programs. Similarly, one-off funding for Carnarvon flood
mitigation work meant that expenditure in 2011–12 ($12.7 million) was
significantly above the target of $9.8 million. As a result, the net cost of
this service as a factor of GVAP (0.22%) was higher in 2011–12 than the
target of 0.17% (Table 12). Barring events such as the Carnarvon floods,
we expect our future expenditure in this area to be more in line with the
2011–12 target.

Public and private
sector co-investment in
DAFWA-led initiatives
related to this Service as
a factor of the net cost
of this service
Source: DAFWA, ABS

Public and private sector co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives related
to this service as a factor of the net cost of this service
Co-investment varied markedly over this period, ranging from an estimated
$5 million in 2009–10 to $1.7 million in 2010–11 before rising again to $5
million in 2011–12. This resulted in a marked variation between the 201112 target for this KPI of 54 per cent and the actual value of 39 per cent
(Table 12). As the smallest of our five services, the relationship between
our own expenditure and that co-invested by others is more sensitive to
the starting and stopping of individual projects and, as such, the variations
seen in Table 12 are not unexpected. However, this is an area where we
would hope to build the level of co-investment over coming years.
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2009–10 2010–11 2011–12 2011–12 Variation
Actual
Actual
Target
Actual
(%)
0.13

(%)
0.21

(%)
0.17
54.1

(%)
0.22
39.2

0.05
(14.9)
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Ministerial directives

Property Rationalisation Program

No Ministerial directives were received during the financial year.

The department’s 2011–12 Strategic Asset Plan identified surplus DAFWA
properties in the metropolitan and regional areas of the state. The surplus
properties continue to be sold through the government’s disposal process.

Other financial disclosures

New Genes for New Environments
The New Genes for New Environments (NGNE) research facilities are a part
of a $9 million commitment announced by the state government in 2010.
They are the first multi-user genetically modified (GM) crop trial facilities
in Australia. Two facilities have been established at the Merredin and
Katanning research stations. They will provide the opportunity for national
and international partners to undertake proof-of-concept research on target
GM traits under climatic and soil conditions specific to Australia.

Pricing policies of services provided
The department charges on a full or partial cost recovery basis for some
goods and services, with fees and charges determined in accordance with
Costing and pricing government services published by the Department of
Treasury. The 2011–12 list of fees and charges were implemented on 1 July
2011, as published in the Gazette.
Services may be exempted from charges—in particular, services that are
deemed essential for a competent analysis of a problem by an officer;
where the service relates to an outbreak of a suspected exotic disease;
where the service involves approved research or surveillance; or where
the service meets other conditions that may be declared by the Director
General from time to time.

New Metropolitan Headquarters Project
Work progressed toward the redevelopment of our South Perth
headquarters. A project definition plan was completed, confirming timelines
for funding and delivery. We are working on key transition activities in
readiness for the construction phase. The new building is scheduled for
completion in 2018.

Capital works
Year of
completion

Approved
budget

Total cost
(estimated)

$000

$000

Cost
variation
$000

Explanation of variation

Capital works projects incomplete
DAFWA headquarters redevelopment, including Australian Export
Grain Innovation Centre

2018

233,989

233,989

In the planning phase, anticipated
completion 2018

Capital Equipment Replacement Program

2012

4,200

4,200

Project completed to budget

New Genes for New Environments facilities in Merredin and Katanning

2012

3,000

3,000

Project completed to budget

Capital projects completed
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Capital Equipment Replacement Program

FTE levels at 30 June 2007–2012

We purchased core research and business capital equipment to meet our
changing business drivers and to replace ageing equipment within our
capital fund budget limitations for 2011–12.

2000

1500
No. of FTEs

Employment and industrial relations
Staff profile and work classification profile (FTE)
Staff profile (FTE)

2012

2011

Full-time permanent

896

929

Full-time contract

118

125

Part-time permanent

122

115

Part-time contract

45

40

On secondment in from other agencies

10

6

On secondment out to other agencies

7

6

1191

1221

Total

1000

500

0
2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

‘Moo’ business model for dairy research
DAFWA leased out the Vasse dairy research centre this year.
Under the agreement, farmers Scott and Michelle Weldon will run the dairy while DAFWA
continues to conduct research in the background.
Escalating costs had threatened the viability of the centre, which is nationally recognised for
projects such as Greener Pastures and Vasse Milk Farmlets.
Director of Livestock Industries Innovation Bruce Mullan led the team that arrived at the
innovative lease model.
The Weldons will more than double the output of the dairy by increasing the size of the herd
to 400 cows, focusing on new technology and taking an innovative approach to how the farm
is managed. While the farm is being run on commercially viable terms, DAFWA will continue
to conduct research relevant to the state and national industry.
Bruce Mullan (left) with new lessees Scott and Michelle
Weldon at the Vasse Research Centre

The arrangement has strong support from the WA dairy industry.
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•

Staff development
We are committed to staff development, with a focus on building a highly
professional and agile workforce able to adapt to changing technology,
knowledge and environments. Key activities for 2011–12 included:

People Leadership Program (PLP)—part of a broader change initiative
designed to build high-performing, customer-focused teams across
the organisation. We aim to promote and accommodate a strong
leadership culture and capability. We are investing in developing our
people and providing opportunities for them to maximise their potential
and contribution. In addition, we aim to be recognised and valued as
a responsive, economic development department and as an attractive
employer by potential employees. Strong people leadership will allow
us to deliver high-impact outcomes and increase our responsiveness
to industry and government.

•

Primary Industry Science Program—a partnership to develop talent
and interest in primary industry science at secondary school level

•

Indigenous cadetships and traineeships in NRM, economics, policy,
administration, information technology and rural operations

•

My Job and Development Plan (MyPlan)—coaching for performance
management

Corporate support reform

•

Leadership Impact 360-degree Assessment—tool to help determine
future training and development needs of the Senior Leadership
Team (SLT). Following the first assessment, members had personal
coaching sessions to fully understand the results. In addition,
tools to enable the team to continuously improve their leadership
capacity were provided. These include access to the online Deloitte’s
Leadership Academy and workshops on how to use the coaching
style of leadership to empower staff.

On 20 July 2011, the government announced that the Office of Shared
Services (OSS) was to be decommissioned, returning corporate service
functions to agencies. Finance and procurement functions were returned to
us. Following the announcement, we surveyed a large group of stakeholders
about their financial, procurement and reporting business requirements.
Survey findings were used to develop the department’s functional
requirements for a financial system to meet our needs in the short and long
term. The department is scheduled to exit the OSS in June 2013.

•

Employee engagement survey—staff were surveyed in October
2011 to measure emotional engagement (e.g. job satisfaction,
job commitment and organisational commitment); behavioural
engagement (e.g. organisational citizenship, initiative, role expansion
and adaptability to change); work attributes (e.g. resource availability,
strategic direction, role autonomy, variety and challenge); and
leadership (e.g. individualised consideration, intellectual stimulation,
inspiration and trust). A total of 794 staff (56%) submitted completed
responses. Their feedback will form the benchmark for future
engagement activities and guide leadership and management actions.

Workplace reform
Consistent with government policy on labour relations, DAFWA has an
Agency Specific Agreement (ASA) that covers industrial matters. This
agreement includes entitlements that provide the department and staff
with mutually beneficial conditions of employment and cost-effective work
practices. A process of continuous review of conditions of employment and
work practices occurs in consultation with staff, managers and relevant
unions. Negotiations with unions to register a replacement ASA for the
department are scheduled to start early in 2012–13.
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Training

•

We strive to develop and maintain a highly skilled, professional and
equitable workforce through continuous learning, including compulsory
training for staff in Indigenous cultures, equal employment opportunities,
occupational safety and health, driver safety, driver development and basic
first aid. Key activities during 2011–12 were:

Optimising Workplace Relations—part of the core training program for
management. This program was implemented across the state, with
189 participants in 15 courses.

•

Writing Ministerials—more than 184 staff attended workshops
on writing briefing notes and ministerial correspondence. These
workshops will continue next year.

•

•

Performance Management—workshops and online training to support
both under-performing staff and high achievers.

•

Project Management—(see case study below).

Professional Effectiveness Program—team development and
leadership training provided for 195 employees in the nationally
accredited Certificate 3 in Business (frontline management) course

Projects take the lead
DAFWA needs people capable of managing major projects to deliver
change.
This year, almost 200 staff—including senior leaders, project managers
and team members—built their skills and knowledge in clear and
effective project management.
Central TAFE delivered the Diploma of Project Management course over
11 four-day training sessions in Perth, Albany, Bunbury, Geraldton and
Northam.
About 160 project managers and 30 project officers took part. To build
on the agency’s already impressive expertise, key assignments focused
on the life cycle of specific DAFWA projects.

Staff receive their Diploma of Project Management at a graduation
ceremony.

By the end of the year, all formal project managers had attended or
enrolled in a future course. Seventy-six staff had received their diplomas
while others were in preparation or awaiting assessment.

‘My project work and clients will all benefit as I apply my learning of the
management process to future Pilbara Indigenous Landholder Service
activities,’ he said.

Broome project manager Kim Carter said the training had developed his
capacity as a DAFWA staff member.
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Mandatory training course

Target (%)

Recordkeeping awareness training
Accountable and ethical decision making

Actual
89

90

EEO awareness training
Indigenous Australian cultural awareness
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There has been an improvement in the rate of completion of the course over the latter part of 2011–12;
however, this is still an area that has a low completion rate. As our target of 90% has not been achieved,
managers have been asked to ensure non-compliant staff complete training as soon as possible.

85
90

77

Occupational safety and health

92

Driver training

95

As our target of 90% has not been achieved managers have been asked to ensure non-compliant staff
complete training as soon as possible.

Staff sustainability project

Another important part of the sustainability project is our Quality of Life
(QoL) initiative. QoL promotes a working environment that is supportive of
our employees’ quality of life. This holistic program relates to employees
in nine areas—family, health, economic, work, personal growth, social,
recreation, security and community. Key achievements for 2011–12 were:

This project is a key part of our organisational transformation program,
which is designed to attract, engage and retain a talented and committed
workforce. After consultation with staff, we progressively reformed our
processes. We implemented a new performance management system that
better suits the needs of our organisation and we reviewed our graduate
and undergraduate programs. Undergraduate positions have been
confirmed through the government’s internship program and our graduate
program will re-commence in 2014.
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•

continued delivery of the one-day Personal Financial Management
program to improve employees’ personal management of cash flow
and financial planning strategies, including retirement planning to
assist a positive transition from work to retirement

•

continued support of the Bank Your Blood program under which staff
donate blood to the Australian Red Cross Blood Service

•

promotion of the importance of volunteering in the community,
particularly in relation to fighting bushfires.
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Governance disclosures

Enterprise risk management

Contracts with senior officers

The department is committed to effective risk management to support our
operational objectives. Our risk management framework, which is subject
to continuous review, includes the following:

At 30 June 2012, other than normal contracts of employment of service, no
senior officers, or firms of which senior officers are members, or entities in
which senior officers have substantial interests, had any interests in existing
or proposed contracts with the department and senior officers.

Shares held by the department
The department does not hold shares in any subsidiary body as defined by
Section 60 of the Financial Management Act 2006.

Audit committee
The department’s Audit Committee advises the Director General and
the Executive on the application and promotion of good governance
throughout the organisation. The committee’s role is to review and
provide advice on governance processes with a focus on control, risk
management, follow-up of audit recommendations and oversight of internal
audit functions. The department is currently seeking the services of an
additional external member for the Audit Committee with a mix of audit,
financial and governance skills and experience. The committee meets
quarterly with regular attendees, including a senior officer from the Office
of the Auditor General, the department’s Executive Director of Corporate
Strategy and Operations and the Director of Finance.
Member

4

Jeremy Hawke, an independent member and General Manager,
Finance with the Department of Mines and Petroleum. Extensive
experience as a chief internal audit executive

4

Rob Delane, Director General of the Department of Agriculture and
Food, Western Australia

4

risk management policy and procedure manual to ensure compliance
with international risk management standard ISO31000, Treasurer’s
Instruction 825 and the Public Sector Commissioner’s Good
Governance Guide and Circulars

•

integration of risk management with strategic planning

•

development and implementation of a risk module within the project
management system

•

strategic risk management register.

The department’s Audit Committee regularly monitors the completeness
and effectiveness of the risk management framework.

Finance committee
The Finance Committee was established in December 2009 and meets
on a monthly basis. The committee members are the Director General, the
Chief Finance Officer and all Executive Directors. The role of the committee
is to:

Meetings
attended
2011–12

Margaret Nowak (Chair), an independent member with audit,
governance, risk and financial management skills and experience

•
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•

determine options to address funding pressures within the department

•

provide advice with respect to making significant financial decisions

•

understand the status of program, tactic and priority resource
investments highlighting resourcing issues

•

determine the disbursement of the financial and FTE (people)
resources.
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Other legal requirements

•

Compliance with public sector standards and ethical codes

•

Compliance issues that arose during the financial year 2011–12 regarding
public sector standards:
2010–11

2011–12

Applications carried over

0

0

New applications received

6

5

Total applications

6

5

Recruitment, selection and appointment

2

4

Transfer

0

0

Grievance resolution

4

1

Withdrawn in agency

1

2

Resolved in agency

3

0

Still pending in agency

1

0

Referred to PSC

1

3*

Total applications completed

5

3

c)

Breach claims lodged

Outcome of claims handled

*

The department promotes ethical behaviour and integrity. For all new
employees, an online induction course contains modules on ethics, integrity
and the requirements of the Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003 (PID). It is
compulsory for all new employees to satisfactorily complete these modules.

Compliance issues that arose during the financial year 2011–12:
One matter dealt with a possible breach of the grievance resolution
process pursuant to the public sector standards by our department,
which was not substantiated by the Public Sector Commission.

b)

Four matters dealt with in accordance with the breach of discipline
process pursuant to the Public Sector Management Act 1994:
•
One matter of non-compliance with our policy on dealing with
the Minister
•
Two matters of improper conduct—engaging in inappropriate
email communications

Significant action taken to monitor and ensure compliance included:
•
internal policies were reviewed and updated to ensure
consistency with changes to the legislative instruments that
regulate public sector employment and two new Commissioner’s
Instructions (Employment Standard and Filling a Public Sector
Vacancy). Relevant staff attended briefings on the changes to
the legislative requirements
•
Contact Officer and Grievance Officer network updated and
officers trained bi-annually
•
Accountable and Ethical Decision Making training program
continued
•
Staff not compliant with the department’s mandatory training
requirements have been advised in writing that training is to be
completed within a specified timeframe.

Ethics and integrity

The Public Sector Commission rejected two claims and identified a potential conflict in the
other.

a)

One matter of improper conduct—inappropriate conduct
towards a colleague
Two matters have been reported to the Corruption and Crime
Commission relating to the possible misconduct of DAFWA
officers.

In addition, our mandatory online training course in Accountable and
Ethical Decision Making has had excellent uptake since its commencement
in 2010, with more than 82 per cent of employees having completed or
partially completed the course.
We also require all employees to complete the Equal Employment
Opportunity (EEO) awareness course, which covers aspects of ethics and
integrity.
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Freedom of information

Types of complaints received

A description of the types of information and documents the department
holds and how to access information under the Freedom of Information
Act 1992 is contained in our FOI information statement. The statement is
reviewed annually and is made available to the public on the department’s
website. The number of FOI applications received in 2011–12 was similar
to the previous year. Most applications related to regulatory matters under a
range of statutes administered by the department.

Regulatory

0

Information accuracy and timeliness

2

Negligence/misconduct

6

Financial

1

Total

9

Recordkeeping plans

2011–12
Applications carried over
New applications received
Total applications
Application outcome
Applications transferred in full
Applications withdrawn
Applications processed
Total applications completed
Applications outstanding at 30 June
Application types
Personal information requests
Non-personal information requests
Request to amend personal information

2011–12

As prescribed by the State Records Act 2000 and State Records
Commission’s standards, we started a mandatory online recordkeeping
awareness and induction course in 2004.

4
21
25

The State Records Commission approved the department’s Functional
Retention and Disposal Schedule RD2011014. This now completes the
revision of the principle documents required for a complaints recordkeeping
program, which started with a detailed review of the Recordkeeping Plan in
2009 followed by a revision of the Business Classification Scheme in 2011.

3
1
20
24
1

Towards the end of 2011, the implementation of a department-wide
document management system was approved. This finalises the
configuration of the recordkeeping system, provides the ability to
review existing corporate records and enables staff to apply the newly
approved schedules and language. The project will include applying the
revised General Disposal Authorities. A second stage will focus on digital
recordkeeping for all staff. Detailed planning for this began in the latter part
of 2011–12.

1
20
0

Complaints handling
The department recognises that appropriate attention to the concerns
of clients is an essential component of successful client-focused service
delivery. Our Customer Compliments and Complaints policy helps to
ensure complaints are handled fairly and efficiently. Clients are encouraged
to complete the customer feedback form on our website. The number of
complaints received in 2011–12 was similar to the previous year. The nine
complaints received related to a range of issues. The total is an acceptable
level for the department given the large number of regulatory statutes we
administer on behalf of the government.
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Expenditure on advertising
In accordance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the department incurred the following
expenditure on advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and media advertising. Total
expenditure for 2011–12 was $1 010 512. Expenditure was incurred in the following areas:

Agricultural Publish

$5 953

Spirit Visual Communications

$5 490

OIE

$5 058

Wine Show of Western Australia

$5 000

Total Digital Solution

$4 847

Advertising agencies

$288 319

Kondinin Information Service

$25 750

Daniel James Maloney

$4 303

ADCORP Australia

$123 807

Mayflower

$24 014

Click Colours International

$4 050

Mitchell and Partners Australia Pty Ltd

$73 049

BKAY Design

$23 641

Shire of Mundaring

$3 750

Vivid Group Pty Ltd

$28 847

4L Design Group

$23 356

Imatec Digital

$3 484

Optimum Media Decision

$25 497

Optima Press

$22 267

Megan Hele

$3 436

White Pages Telstra

$18 530

Scott Print

$20 956

Exibit Exhibitions

$3 375

Eyers Rocket

$10 037

Quality Press WA

$20 647

Drew London Ltd

$2 800

Dingo Promotions

$7 124

Lustre Publishing Pty Ltd

$20 000

Jack in the Box

$2 696

Magicorp Pty Limited

$956

Design Graphics

$18 374

Proadvice Pty Ltd

$2 656

Rural Press Regional Media

$472

Ferart Design

$17 863

Macquarie Southern Cross

$2 564

Market research organisations

$16 028

Salmat Print on Demand Pty Limited

$17 821

Grain Industry Association

$2 552

Media Monitors Pty Ltd

$12 054

Pegasus Print Group

$14 516

Lush TV

$2 500

UWA Financial Service

$2 250

Cravings Media Services

$13 800

Small Business Centre Warren Blackwood

$2 500

AAGE

$1 700

Jag Printing

$11 415

Silver Springs Holdings

$2 356

Survey Monkey

$24

Stephen Walker Graphic Design

$11 225

Clockwork Print

$2 200

Direct mail organisations

$3 957

Proton Promotional

$10 840

Kerry Coyle

$2 160

Lasermail Pty Ltd

$1 662

Par Excellence

$10 087

Green Skills Inc

$2 000

Optimum Media Decision

$1 301

Tessuti & Tessuti Srl

$10 069

Biomed Central Ltd

$1 891

Country Copiers

$688

GRDC

$9 914

Cardsprint

$1 860

ACTIV Industries

$300

Q Print Online

$9 294

Albany Advertiser

$1 801

Campaign Monitor Co

$6

Croker Lacey Graphic Design

$8 794

Linkletters

$1 710

Media advertising organisations

$702 208

Poster Passion

$8 493

Appealing Signs

$1 650

West Print Management

$53 307

Picton Press

$7 297

Churchill Film Service

$1 644

Colourbox Digital

$40 800

Coretext Pty Ltd

$7 042

Cineads Australia P/L

$1 500

Perth Expohire & Furniture Group

$37 356

WA Farmers Federation

$7 000

Perth Advertising Service

$1 495

State Law Publisher

$30 972

Fineline Print & Copy Service

$6 925

Springer Verlag

$1 426

Diversified Exhibits

$26 867

Cambridge English Online

$6 730

City of Mandurah

$1 373
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Tweak Editing

$1 350

Patricks Marketing Australia P/L

$354

Shire of Westonia

$101

Production Function

$1 345

Bunnings

$341

Circling Shark Productions

$100

Wise Designs

$1 255

The Label Factory WA P/L

$331

UWA Copy Shop

$100

Disk Bank Pty Ltd

$1 252

Paper Australia P/L

$320

Expo Document

$95

Teksoft Print

$1 211

Carlisle Events Hire

$318

Economic Society Aust NSW

$95

Screen Print West

$1 159

Balloons On The Net

$316

Scholastic Australia

$91

Snap Printing

$1 072

Imagesource Digital

$306

Canning Bridge IGA

$90

Paddi Brown & Associates

$939

Redtail Trading Pty Ltd

$300

Velware Pty Ltd

$87

Market Creations P/L

$927

Canprint Comm

$299

Herbiguide

$80

Jason Signmakers

$903

CMYK Colour Online

$287

Storm Office National

$77

Quickmail

$871

The Perth Mint

$284

Shire of Yilgarn

$77

Dynamic Print Pty Ltd

$784

stk*shutterstock.com

$275

South City News

$75

Esther Price Promotion

$732

Hallmark Editions P/L

$250

Coles

$74

Wembley Supa IGA

$699

Screenlink Pty Ltd

$241

The Mingenew Lions Midwest Expo

$68

Probiz Printing

$692

Hyden Resource Centre

$238

Colleagues Information

$68

Rod Waller

$680

American Phytopathologic

$237

Seafood Secrets

$60

Ross MacLennan

$680

Officeworks East Vic Park

$235

Red Dot Stores

$55

Lasertronics

$569

Direct Image Digital

$230

Shire of Beverley

$55

Slicker Stickers

$545

Central Midlands Agricultural Society (Inc)

$221

Country Copiers

$51

Austrade

$518

Webvault

$205

Westonia Community Resource Centre

$50

Balingup Progress Association Inc

$500

Hallmark Signs

$179

Shire of Kulin

$46

Chamber of Commerce

$500

DX Print Group

$176

Oxford News

$45

Simple Technologies

$490

Shire Of Narembeen

$168

OZ 3D Optics

$44

Dowerin Events Management

$489

Collie Mail

$158

Boyup Brook Telecentre

$35

ASB Marketing Pty Ltd

$470

Tudor House

$146

Toyworld Fremantle

$27

Travellers Information Radio 88FM

$455

Codewest Holdings

$145

Signs Etc

$26

iStock *International

$447

Copy Cat Digital Print

$136

Boss Office National

$24

WA Newspapers Advertising

$431

Bayleaf Rural Getaway

$119

dreamstime.com

$23

CSIRO Publishing

$427

Southwest Printing

$118

Hamiltons Landscape Supplies

$20

Add a Balloon

$420

Australian T/Shirt

$114

Horticulture Aust

$20

Spice Digital Image P/L

$390

Shire Of Wongan

$112

Cocos Keeling Island

$9

C Y O’Connor Institute

$364

Riot Art & Craft

$107

Polling organisations

NIL
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Equal employment opportunity and Disability Access and Inclusion Plan
In 2011–12 we provided opportunities to promote and encourage diversity within our workforce. We progressed a Workforce and Diversity Plan, which will
replace the EEO Management Plan 2010–13 and identify future initiatives for diverse groups.
Our Reconciliation Action Plan 2012–14 was completed and will be made available to staff early in 2012–13. We conducted a pilot course in multicultural
awareness intended to supersede our current Indigenous Australian Cultural Awareness Course. Feedback will be evaluated early in 2012–13.
Our Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2011–14 complements the EEO Management Plan 2010–13 and provides strategies for the inclusion of clients and
staff with disabilities through improved access to information, services and facilities.
Outcome
1.

Key achievements 2011–12

People with disabilities have the same •
opportunities as other people to
access the services of, and any events •
organised by, a public authority
•
•
•

The Equity and Diversity Committee meets regularly, plans and monitors outcomes, and champions
EEO strategies, including those for people with disabilities.
Fire Warden training was reviewed to ensure compliance with national standards on how to identify and
evacuate employees or visitors who may require assistance. The review also ensured that evacuation
procedures include the needs of people with disabilities or medical conditions.
Emergency Response and Evacuation Procedures for the South Perth site have been updated to
assist area wardens in identifying and evacuating employees and visitors with disability or injury.
A new wheelchair was purchased to assist in facilitating evacuations.
Events and Display Guidelines were reviewed to ensure that DAFWA events are accessible to people
with disabilities.

2.

People with disabilities have the same •
opportunities as other people to
access the buildings and other facilities •
of a public authority

An audit was finalised of departmental offices relating to the adequate provision of building accessibility
(including ACROD parking bays) and signage.
The Carnarvon office was upgraded to enhance accessibility for people with disabilities.

3.

People with disabilities receive
information from a public authority in a
format that enables them to access it
as readily as other people

•

We conducted continued awareness raising with staff to ensure that all new publications state that they
are available in alternative formats upon request and are made available.
We progressed a consistent approach to the use of captions when producing DVDs and videos to
meet the needs of people with disabilities.

4.

People with disabilities receive the
same level and quality of service from
the employees of a public authority as
others

•

We conducted continued awareness raising with staff of equity and diversity issues—including
disability and access issues—via a range of methods, including the EEO learning and development
program, online induction, Diversity Speaks program, corporate celebrations and regular internal
communications.

5.

People with disabilities have the same
opportunities as others to make
complaints to a public authority

•

Our EEO awareness course is reviewed annually to include guidance for staff in supporting people with
disabilities to access complaint and grievance processes.

•
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Reconciliation Action Plan
Our Reconciliation Action Plan 2008–10 (RAP) was reviewed and a new plan developed. The Reconciliation Action Plan 2012–14 provides key strategies
for our vision of reconciliation and for recognising and respecting the role of traditional landowners in agricultural and pastoral industries. Key activities and
achievements in 2011–12 included the following:
Outcome

Key achievements 2011–12

1. Relationships—DAFWA recognises
the importance of having strong
relationships with traditional owners,
and the role these relationships play in
our shared objectives of managing and
using the state’s natural resources for
the benefit of all Western Australians

•

DAFWA formed a working group comprising Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and other
Australians. The group meets regularly to plan, monitor outcomes and champion strategies in line with
the RAP.

•

Corporate celebrations marking NAIDOC Week included a flag-raising ceremony at South Perth and
other celebrations in a number of regional locations.

•

We continued the ‘Diversity Speaks’ forum, with Aboriginal Elder Vivienne Hansen providing a talk on
bush tucker and bush medicine. Vivienne provided a tactile display for staff to see and touch diverse
bush foods.

•

We participated in the National Reconciliation Week street banner program with three street banners on
display in St Georges Terrace and the Hay Street and Murray Street malls.

2. Respect—DAFWA respects the
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
people and their cultures and
knowledge. Demonstrating respect
empowers our relationships and
assists in facilitating our shared
objective of managing and maintaining
agricultural resources for the long-term
sustainability of the industry

•

We continued to practise and raise awareness of DAFWA’s ‘Welcome to Country’, ‘Acknowledgment to
Country’ and Cultural Protocols policy and procedures, which recognise the traditional landowners at
significant departmental events.

•

We continued to support and partner with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander organisations and formed
formal partnerships with many community groups, NRM groups and individuals.

3. Opportunities—DAFWA will continue to
provide opportunities to Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander people to retain
the tradition for caring for agricultural
and pastoral land

•

We continued support for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander traineeships, with employment of seven
trainees during the financial year.

•

We enhanced our commitment to cadetships for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. DAFWA
previously recruited cadets in the veterinary, agriculture science and natural resource disciplines, but this
has now been extended to include business management, communications and economics to increase
the potential application pool.
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Department’s annual estimates
All special purpose accounts held by the Department of Agriculture and Food, Western Australia are detailed in the department’s budget statements and
financial statements. The level of grants and contributions from both federal government and non-government sources for the next financial year (2012–13)
is estimated at $44 million. For details of sources of special purpose funding, see Note 45, page 104 of the financial statements.

Government policy requirements
Occupational safety, health and injury management
Performance
2008–09
Number of fatalities

0

2009–10

2010–11

0

0

Government
target

Target
achieved
(Yes/No)

2011–12
Result

0

Yes

0

Lost time injury/disease (LTI/D) incidence rate

1.98

1.51

0.82

0 or 10% improvement on the
previous 3 years

Yes

1.26

Lost time injury severity rate

6.9

14.3

10

0 or 10% improvement on the
previous 3 years

No

6.6

Percentage of injured workers returned to work within 26 weeks

91

83

94

Greater than or equal to 80%
return to work within 26 weeks

Yes

88

Percentage of injured workers returned to work within 13 weeks

91

76

94

Actual percentage

Yes

82

Percentage of managers trained in OSH and injury management

94*

96*

95*

80% or greater

Yes

94

Note:

* Figures relate to all permanent staff

Key achievements and initiatives in 2011–12
•

Started program to upgrade silos to current safety standards for
height access.

Commenced noise and hearing awareness program.

•

Reviewed techniques and equipment for soil sampling.

•

Used theme of noise and hearing for Safe Work Australia Week.

•

Introduced communication earmuffs for seeding operations.

•

Completed review of all pressure vessels.

•

Upgraded machinery guards on crop breeding seeding machinery.

•

Introduced traction ramp recovery methods.

•

Reviewed requirements for first aid kits in department vehicles.

•

Completed a second skin cancer screening program.

•

Completed a 10-week ‘Choose to Move’ program.

•

Introduced an aerial work policy.

•

Completed review of wool presses.

•

Commenced noise assessments of machinery, equipment and processes.

•
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Our commitment to OSH and injury management

Executive commitment is demonstrated by the following:

The department has a general Occupational Safety and Health (OSH)
Policy, 29 other policies covering OSH systems and hazards, and one
policy on injury management and workers’ compensation. Most of these
policies have been in place for more than a decade and are reviewed at
least every three years. Any initiatives required for new or reviewed policies
are determined by the OSH Policy Committee and are included in our
annual OSH initiative strategy. OSH and injury management targets are
also included the strategy. Changes to policy are communicated to all OSH
committee chairpersons, OSH representatives and relevant managers
immediately after each policy committee meeting. All policies are available
on the department’s intranet site and all new staff members are made
aware of the location of policies and other OSH information through the
induction process.

•

Executive Director OSH roles and responsibilities defined

•

Leadership and chairing of OSH Policy Committee

•

Monitoring of quarterly and annual OSH performance reports

•

Prioritisation and commitment to funding of facilities, machinery and
equipment

•

Support of and participation in mandatory OSH training

•

Support of annual OSH initiatives.

Honour Board award for our workplace safety
The department won the Workplace Safety (Commercial Services) Honour Board award at
the CRS Australia WA Employer Awards ceremony held in April. The award was presented
by federal Minister for Human Services, the Hon. Kim Carr.
The awards recognise those employers who have shown a strong commitment to workplace
safety. DAFWA Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) Manager Phil Taylor said the award
was great recognition for everybody involved in safety throughout the department, including
our OSH representatives and committees and everyone who has helped prevent and
manage workplace injuries across the state.
‘The partnership with CRS has helped us to achieve a 75 per cent reduction in our incident
rate and to attain a Gold Certificate standard for OSH systems,’ Phil said.
‘They developed knowledge and an understanding of our workplace culture which,
combined with their skills in managing and preventing injuries, leads to a level of service
which we otherwise could not provide. Some of the initiatives they have helped us to
implement include workstation assessments and an early intervention management program
for injured workers as well as assessments for home-based workers.’
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Davies and 2011 Partnership Honour Board Award
recipient Roger Bowler (on behalf of the Department
of Veterans’ Affairs) present Phil Taylor with the award.
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Consultation on OSH and injury management

Substantive equality

The department has a two-tier system of consultation. Our OSH Policy
Committee is responsible for policy, strategy and monitoring performance.
This committee comprises managers and regional OSH representatives.
Local committees in larger district offices and staff meetings in smaller
offices form the second tier of consultation. Quarterly committee and
staff meetings consider incident, hazard and inspection reports and
actions raised by the OSH Policy Committee. There are elected OSH
representatives in every district office. Staff members are made aware of
their local and regional OSH representatives through local OSH induction
and our OSH training courses.

Substantive equality means providing services in ways that consider people
with differing needs and that create equitable outcomes for all Western
Australians as far as possible. The department is committed to substantive
equality, requiring that all programs comply with the provisions of the Equal
Opportunity Act 1984. We seek to ensure that our services are designed
and delivered in ways that meet the needs of all our clients, including
Indigenous Australians and ethnic minorities, by applying the following
principles:

Compliance with injury management requirements of Workers’
Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981
The department’s injury management system and return-to-work program
are documented in our injury management policy and supporting
guidelines. The department has an early intervention injury management
program, which exceeds the requirements of the Act.
OSH and injury management systems
An accredited consultant carried out a Worksafe Plan assessment of
the department’s OSH systems in 2008. The department achieved Gold
certification standard. The only outstanding recommendation relates to
updating information on noise levels to which staff are exposed. This is
being completed over a two-year period.

•

serving members of the agriculture community regardless of age,
race, culture, religion, disability or gender

•

seeking to meet the diverse needs of our clients by continuous review
and development of service design and delivery

•

requiring directors and managers to ensure substantive equality
principles are incorporated into plans, procedures and practices

•

requiring line managers to ensure staff have the knowledge, skills and
abilities to support the policy

•

requiring staff responsible for client services to ensure those services
are developed and delivered appropriately and equitably.

Achievements for 2011–12
Substantive equality principles are reflected in our Strategic Plan 2011–15,
and within the priority of ‘building industry capacity investment’ in particular.
The department established a new substantive equality policy in early
2012. The Executive Director of the Regional Operations and Development
directorate was nominated as the department’s representative on the
Senior Officers’ group and champion of the policy framework; and a
Substantive Equality Coordinator was appointed to lead implementation of
the policy.

Training
OSH awareness training is mandatory for staff. Ninety-five per cent of staff
had completed the training at 30 June 2012. Another education focus for
this year was raising awareness of noise and hearing via informal training
with individual workgroups.
We continue to provide two levels of driver training and a range of skillsbased training related to the use of machinery, chemicals and other
processes.

We have been negotiating implementation of the Policy Framework for
Substantive Equality with the Commissioner for Equal Opportunity. The
Commission has identified Indigenous pastoralists in the rangelands as
people of high relevance for implementing the framework. Through a review
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of the Indigenous Landholder Service (ILS) program, we are considering
how this service can extend the equitable outcomes being achieved
and have a wider impact. Associated needs and impact assessment will
continue. The ILS is making considerable progress in implementing the
priority to support the capacity of Indigenous agricultural businesses, with
about 70 organisations participating in the statewide program.

A highlight of this year was the successful participation of Vietnamese
producers in farm planning workshops at Carnarvon through the assistance
of an accredited translator (see case study below).

DAFWA breaks the language barrier
As language barriers come down, productivity goes up. At least, that
was the experience for three groups of horticultural producers in
Carnarvon this year.
Through an accredited translator, the department delivered workshops
on farm planning to producers originally from Vietnam—and hit the mark.
Following the workshops, 25 growers successfully applied for $30 000
Building Farm Businesses grants.
Vietnamese-Australians play a major role in Carnarvon’s horticultural
industry. Aware of their important contribution to the industry, DAFWA
followed the ‘substantive equality’ principle—providing services that
meet the differing needs of clients—to tailor workshops to their needs.
In the workshops, growers develop business plans and study economic
aspects of farming such as financial planning, personal and business
goals, and managing the impact of climate change on production.
Members of the department’s Rural Business Development Unit—
Graham McAlpine, Nancye Gannaway and Vern Ferdinands—
established relationships in the community and worked with facilitators
at Murdoch University to adapt and deliver the farm-planning curriculum
under the Pilot Drought Reform program.

Vietnamese-Australian producers in Carnarvon attend one of the tailored
Plan, Prepare and Prosper workshops.

The RBDU also worked with vegetablesWA to investigate the
appointment of a development officer at Carnarvon to work especially
with the Vietnamese-Australian community. The appointment is
expected to be made early in 2012–13.

Staff found growers who attended the workshops are now at ease
working with DAFWA biosecurity officers to prevent the outbreak and
spread of plant diseases.
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Appendix 1: Statement from the Commissioner of Soil and Land Conservation

Woodchip permits

A report on the Commissioner’s operations for 2011–12 is submitted in
accordance with Section 25 F of the Soil and Land Conservation Act 1945.

No woodchip permits were issued.

Delegations

Agreements to reserve and conservation covenants

The delegation of powers by the Commissioner under Part II of the Act
remain in effect. A Regional Manager in the Department of Environment and
Conservation (DEC) and another at the Department of Water (DoW) have
been delegated to negotiate and administer covenants under Part IV A. The
Commissioner continues to have delegated authority from the Minister for
the Environment to issue woodchip permits.

The Commissioner registered one irrevocable Conservation Covenant
protecting 10.7 hectares in perpetuity and one Agreement to Reserve over
8.8 hectares during the year. Two covenants that protected a total of 952
hectares of high quality remnant vegetation were withdrawn as the land has
been acquired by the DEC and added to the State’s conservation estate. In
total 1797 instruments under the Soil and Land Conservation Act 1945 are
registered on certificates of title, protecting 152 584 hectares of native and
planted vegetation.

Land clearing assessments 2011–12
A total of 48 agricultural clearing area and purpose permit applications
were assessed for land degradation with advice provided to DEC for
determination.

Soil conservation notices
No Soil Conservation Notices were issued during the year.

Table A1 Assessment advice provided to other government agencies in
2011–12
Agency

Land drainage

Number:

Department of Mines and Petroleum

1

Main Roads

11

Water Corporation

1

Western Power

1

Other

4

Compliance
The Commissioner investigated four clearing, three drainage and 16
land degradation complaints. Twelve complaints are pending further
investigation or monitoring of compliance with directions given.
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•

During the year 14 landholders submitted Notices of Intention to Drain
(NOIs). Letters advising of no objection were issued to 11 landowners
and three landowners are awaiting the Commissioner’s decision.

•

The draft policy framework for inland drainage prepared by the
Wheatbelt Drainage Council (WDC) in 2009–10 was endorsed
by the Natural Resource Management Ministerial Council in June
2012. Ministerial approval to draft amendments to the Soil and
Land Conservation Regulations 1992 to implement the WDC’s
recommendations are pending.
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Land Conservation District Committees (LCDC)

Agricultural region

At the beginning of the year, 105 Land Conservation Districts (LCDs) were
proclaimed under the Soil and Land Conservation Act 1945. However,
68 do not have a committee appointed and are effectively in recess. One
inactive committee was abolished and 17 are pending gazettal of abolition
notices. During the year, 14 district committees and 11 individual members
were appointed. This is a decline of 23% over the previous year.

Agricultural activities are largely confined to the South West Land Division in
WA and productivity is dependent upon the condition of the soil resource.
These soils are susceptible to salinisation, acidification, soil erosion and loss
of fertility. Inland waterways and wetlands in much of the wheatbelt are also
susceptible to acid groundwater discharge. Agriculture impacts wetlands,
waterways and estuaries by contributing to salinity, nutrient export and
sedimentation. The combination of climate variability and increasing
production costs is having a significant impact in the northern agricultural
region. The North Eastern Agricultural Region (NEAR) strategy has identified
there is around 8% of cleared and developed farm land that is no longer
profitable to crop—and this could reach 36% if the dryer climate trend
continues.

Table A2 Number of gazetted members of district committees (excluding
Commissioner’s nominees) in 2011–12
Number
Land users

352

Government (including local government) representatives

76

Industry organisation representatives

67

Salinity

TOTAL

495

The department maintains an extensive monitoring bore network to
measure quality and observe ground water trends. The salinity risk in the
NEAR was reviewed during the year, with results indicating that it remains
high to extreme in the south-east and central west parts of the region while
the Northampton block was assessed as low.

Carnarvon flood response
Serious flooding of the plantation area occurred following heavy rains over
the town and catchment during the third week in December 2010. The
Carnarvon Growers’ Flood Recovery Fund (CGFRF) was announced on
12 January 2011 with funding of up to $3 million mainly for soil
replacement. While most of the on farm works were completed in 2010–11,
repairs to the river bank, completion of the soil replacement program and
rehabilitation of the borrow pits was carried out during 2011–12.

Soil erosion
Pre-harvest and pre-seeding roadside surveys assess factors that
contribute to erosion risk (soil type, ground cover and disturbance/
management).
Table A3 Number of sites surveyed in the agricultural regions during
2011–12

An aerial survey of the Gascoyne delta was carried out in October 2011
and a digital elevation model of the area generated to provide a new base
for assessing future flood damage.

Region

Condition of the resource base
Favourable conditions were experienced throughout most of the state
in 2011–12. However, the declining resource condition in the southern
rangelands highlighted in previous years’ reports will not be resolved by one
or two good seasons.

Central agricultural

1447

Northern agricultural

870

Southern agricultural

1772

South west agricultural
Total
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Number

6
4095
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At time of harvest (spring/summer 2011) less than 0.25% of wheatbelt
sites were at risk of erosion. However, by autumn 2012, 14% of sites had
less than 50% cover and were at risk of erosion largely due to increased
complete stubble burning. Complete stubble burns were most common
in the Central Agricultural Region. The prevalence of partial burning has
remained unchanged. Twenty-five per cent of sites were grazed in autumn.
However, only 3% were actively eroding at the time of the survey.

Table A4 Percentage of soils sampled that were more acidic than the pH4.8
and 5.5 targets
Sample depth

Northern

South Coast

South West

0–10 cm

60%

86%

96%

20–30 cm

60%

22%

64%

Rivers and Wetlands

Atmospheric dust

Diffuse nutrient pollution from agriculture is a serious land degradation
problem on the Swan Coastal Plain. A 2011 soil testing program on farms
in the Peel Harvey and Geographe catchments highlighted the need for
improved fertiliser management as phosphorus deficiencies have been
largely overcome but potassium and sulphur deficiencies and soil acidity
may be affecting phosphorus utilisation. In the Peel Harvey catchment,
74% of samples tested contained phosphorus in excess of agronomic
requirements and 92% were classed as acidic. Similar results were
obtained from the sampling in the Geographe catchment where 71% of
samples contained high levels of phosphorus and 91% were acidic.

The department’s two DustTrak ® instruments (Mullewa and Merredin)
record dust concentration at 15-minute intervals and are linked to the
national Dust Watch project. Two wind erosion events were recorded
at Mullewa in 2011–12 (16 March and 23 May) and one minor event in
Merredin. The peak levels recorded for the severe events were 240–375
micrograms per cubic metre (25 micrograms per cubic metre are classified
as a moderate dust haze). Satellite imagery indicated a dust plume from
stubble burn sites east of Walkaway extended out to the Abrolhos Islands,
illustrating how farm management can have off-site impact a significant
distance away.
Soil Acidity

Pastoral region

Soil acidity (pH<4.8) is recognised as a serious large scale and longterm land degradation threat to the state’s crop and pasture production.
Extensive testing was carried out during the year, with 15 101 soil samples
taken from 4995 sites in the Northern, South Coast and South Western
Agricultural regions. The target soil acidity levels for the surface and
subsurface soils are pH 5.5 and 4.8 respectively. The current level of lime
sales for treating agricultural soil is presently around 1 million tonnes per
annum, which is estimated to be about 1.5 million tonnes per annum less
than that required to raise soil pH to desirable levels. The results shown in
Table 4A indicate the extent of the problem in the Northern and South West
regions.

Western Australia’s rangelands cover 87% of the state with pastoral leases
covering 35% (874 000 km2) and Unallocated Crown Lands (UCL) vested
for conservation and Indigenous purposes making up the balance. There
are currently 453 registered pastoral stations on 508 pastoral leases. The
northern rangelands support 152 stations with 93 in the Kimberley and 59
in the Pilbara, while 292 stations are located in the southern rangelands.
Nine stations are located in the South West Land Division.
Gascoyne catchment
Following the flood at Carnarvon in December 2010 the department
undertook a study of the conditions in the catchment. It was noted that
much of the catchment was assessed to be in poor condition and large
areas of the catchment are inherently water shedding due to shallow soil
and limited water storage capacity. The study did not demonstrate that
flood severity was related to catchment condition. Measurements indicated
that water infiltration rates on bare soil were four times lower than adjacent
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patches supporting vegetation. Substantial soil erosion was noted and the
poor catchment condition was attributed to the maintenance of relatively
high stocking rates during the drought conditions prior to the flood.

WARMS site and reported stock data
In East and West Kimberley LCDs, the frequency of all perennial grasses
(desirable and undesirable) increased since measurement commenced in
1993–94. The trend is more variable in the Broome and North Kimberley
LCDs. Since 2006–08 the frequency of species desirable for pastoralism
(the productive, palatable, perennial grasses) have declined in all Kimberley
and Pilbara LCDs with the exception of North Kimberley (6% increase) and
Lyndon (8.2% increase) sites despite generally very favourable seasonal
conditions. This indicates that it is the undesirable grasses that have
increased on most sites since 2006–08.

Rangeland Resource Condition
The rangeland condition assessment in the Kimberley and much of the
Pilbara is based on the frequency of perennial grasses while density of
perennial shrubs is used to determine condition in the southern rangelands.
The Western Australian Rangeland Monitoring System (WARMS) was
established between 1993 and 1999 to monitor rangeland condition trend
at a regional scale. Seasonal quality is estimated for each reassessment
period at each site. It describes the relative value of recent climate
(principally rainfall) with respect to vegetation growth as a basic resource for
both livestock (forage) and fauna (food and shelter) and for soil protection.
There are 1622 sites, with 633 grassland sites and 989 shrubland sites.
Grassland sites are reassessed on a 3-year cycle while shrubland sites
are reassessed on a 5-year cycle. The sixth assessment of the Kimberley
(grassland) sites was completed in 2011. The third full assessment of the
shrubland sites was completed in 2010.

Reported stock numbers have generally risen in the Kimberley over the past
16 years. Since 2002 lessees in the Derby West Kimberley LCD have been
running stock numbers significantly in excess of the estimated Present
Carrying Capacity (CC). These numbers are currently being sustained by
the long run of favourable seasons. Reported 2011 stock numbers were
above the present CC in 33% of Broome leases, 60% of Derby West
Kimberley leases, 42% of Halls Creek East Kimberley leases and 31% of
North Kimberley leases.
Three of the five Pilbara LCDs have shown a continual decline in perennial
grass frequencies since 2003. The Lyndon LCD sites show a contrasting
trend with a steady increase in perennial grass frequencies over the same
period while the Roebourne sites have declined in the past three-year
assessment period after previously recording increases. Pilbara stock
numbers remain above desirable levels in all LCDs and on the majority of
leases following increases in reported cattle numbers between 1993 and
2009. Numbers more than doubled in the East Pilbara and De Grey. There
has been a 45% decline in reported stock numbers in the Ashburton LCD
between 2009 and 2011.

Seasonal quality has been above average in the Kimberley over the
past 18 years with the majority of WARMS sites classified as above
average. Seasonal conditions in the Pilbara grasslands saw a significant
improvement in 2011 with all Pilbara LCDs assessed as average or above
average. De Grey and East Pilbara LCDs received more than 100% above
the long term average summer rainfall. In the shrublands, 93% of WARMS
sites received average or above average rainfall. The notable exceptions
were the Yilgarn and Wiluna LCDs.
Table A5 Seasonal quality by region for WARMS sites in 2010–11
Region

% Above Average

% Average

% Below Average

Kimberley

86

14

0

Pilbara

78

22

0

Shrublands

68

25

7

The stock density is above present CC in 92% of leases in the De Grey,
36% of leases in Ashburton, 58% of leases in the East Pilbara and 37% of
leases in Roebourne. Some Pilbara leases are carrying two to three times
the estimated present CC. The reported decline in the perennial grass
frequency indicates that these stocking densities cannot be sustained.
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In the southern rangelands 80.7% of WARMS sites assessed in 2010,
2011 and 2012 show a decline, with the rest showing an increase in
shrub numbers compared with the previous assessment. In parts of the
Wiluna LCD more than 40% of desirable shrubs died indicating inadequate
management response to seasonal conditions. While Cue has had a
continued increase in shrub numbers, the Upper Gascoyne and Lyndon
LCDs have recorded a loss of around one-third of their desirable perennial
shrubs at WARMS sites during the last decade. In the North Eastern
Goldfields, perennial shrubs declined by about 20% following the 2009
season, indicating the grazing pressure was not sufficiently reduced
in response to the unfavourable seasonal conditions. Reported stock
numbers have declined in 13 of the 17 LCDs in the southern rangelands
between 2001 and 2011. Stock numbers are generally below the present
CC although 50% of Wiluna leases and 66% of Upper Gascoyne leases
reported numbers above their present CC.
Conclusions

•

Long-term nutrient export from agricultural land on the Swan Coastal
Plain is significant and regularly causes eutrophication of wetlands
and rivers. Extensive on farm soil testing in 2011–12 confirmed that
more than 70% of samples contained phosphorus levels in excess
of agronomic requirements and potassium and sulphur deficiencies
along with acidity were limiting productivity.

•

Rainfall in the rangelands was generally favourable in all districts.
Land degradation in the form of loss of productive palatable perennial
species is ultimately reflected in reduced carrying capacities. The
frequency of these species declined in most of the Kimberley and
Pilbara.

•

In the De Grey, reported stock numbers are 150% of present carrying
capacity and the frequency of desirable perennial grass species
declined by 10%. A smaller decline was observed in the East Pilbara
where stock numbers also remain relatively high.

•

Shrub numbers declined at a high proportion of WARMS sites in the
southern rangelands even where above average seasonal conditions
were experienced. This is suggestive of excessive grazing pressure.

•

The reported declining trend in desirable perennial species is
consistent with conclusions drawn in the 2011 report and suggests
long-term overestimation of the carrying capacity of the rangelands in
the Pilbara and Southern rangelands regions.

The monitoring data point to a number of critical areas where land
degradation is undermining the sustainability of our agricultural industries.
•

Growers have estimated that 8% of arable land in the NEAR is no
longer able to be profitably farmed. This could increase to 36% if the
present drying climatic trend continues.

•

Saline groundwater tables are continuing to show rising trends
in many parts of the Northern Agricultural Region. The spread of
secondary salinity due to altered hydrological processes is likely to
continue as in other parts of the wheatbelt.

•

The risk of accelerated soil erosion was greatest in the Central
Agricultural Region. By autumn 2012 all agricultural regions were at a
high risk of soil erosion.

•

Andrew Watson
Commissioner of Soil and Land Conservation

Subsoil acidity that reduces agricultural productivity occurred on
60% of Northern Agricultural Region and 64% of South West
Agricultural Region sites sampled in 2011–12. Current lime application
is estimated to be about 1.5 million tonnes per annum lower than
required to maintain or restore productivity.
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